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Approximate
date of commencement of proposed sale to the public: As soon as practicable after this Registration Statement becomes effective.
 
If
any of the securities being registered on this Form are to be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 under the
Securities Act of
1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) check the following box: ☒
 
If
this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, check the following
box and list the
Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.
☐
 
If
 this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(c) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the
Securities Act
registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering. ☐
 
If
 this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(d) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the
Securities Act
registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering. ☐
 
Indicate
 by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting
 company, or
emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller
 reporting company,” and “emerging growth
company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(the “Exchange Act”).
 
Large accelerated filer ☐ Accelerated filer ☐

Non-accelerated filer ☒ Smaller reporting company ☒

    Emerging growth company ☒

 
If
an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying
with any new
or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act. ☐
 
The
registrant hereby amends this registration statement on such date or dates as may be necessary to delay its effective date until the
registrant
shall file a further amendment which specifically states that this registration statement shall thereafter become effective
 in accordance with
Section 8(a) of the Securities Act or until the registration statement shall become effective on such date as the
 Securities and Exchange
Commission, acting pursuant to said Section 8(a), may determine.



 
 

 

 



 

 
The
 information in this prospectus is not complete and may be changed. The securities may not be sold until the registration statement filed
 with the
Securities and Exchange Commission is effective. This preliminary prospectus is not an offer to sell the securities and is not
soliciting an offer to buy these
securities in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted.
 

SUBJECT
TO COMPLETION DATED DECEMBER 30, 2024
PRELIMINARY PROSPECTUS

 

 
Nxu,
Inc.

 
Up
to 114,503,816 Shares of Class A Common Stock

 
 

 
This
prospectus relates to the resale, from time to time, by the selling stockholders identified in this prospectus under the caption
“Selling Stockholders” of
up to an aggregate of (i) 6,800,000 shares (the “Purchased Shares”) of the
Company’s Class A common stock, $0.0001 par value per share (“Class A
common stock”), of Nxu, Inc.
(“we,” “us,” “our,” the “Company,” or “Nxu”), (ii) pre-funded warrants
to purchase 5,200,000 shares of Class A common
stock (the “Pre-Funded Warrants”), (iii) Series A warrants to purchase up
to 57,251,908 shares of Class A common stock (the “Series A Warrants”), and
(iv) Series B warrants to purchase up to
45,251,908 shares of Class A common stock (the “Series B Warrants” and together with the Pre-Funded Warrants
and the
Series A Warrants, the “Warrants”), in each case to be issued to the selling stockholders in a private placement (the
“Private Placement”) pursuant
to that certain Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 26, 2024 (the
“Securities Purchase Agreement”). The Purchased Shares and the
shares
of Class A common stock issuable upon exercise of the Warrants are referred to herein as the “Registrable
Securities.”
 
The
aggregate offering price for the Purchased Shares and the Warrants sold in the Private Placement was approximately $3,000,000. We will not receive
any proceeds from the resale, if any, of the Registrable
Securities by the selling stockholders.
 
The
Pre-Funded Warrants are exercisable immediately following the date of issuance, may be exercised at any time until all of the Pre-Funded
Warrants are
exercised in full, and have an initial exercise price of $0.0001 per share, subject to adjustment. The Series A Warrants
 and the Series B Warrants will
become exercisable upon receipt of approval of the Company’s stockholders relating to the issuance
of the shares of Class A common stock underlying the
Series A Warrants and the Series B Warrants as required by the rules and regulations
of The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC (“Nasdaq”) (the “Stockholder
Consent). The Series A Warrants have an exercise price
of $0.50 per share, subject to adjustment. In addition, with respect to the Series A Warrants, the
Investors may also effect an “alternative
cashless exercise” after the Stockholder Consent has been obtained but prior to the time of the closing of the
merger contemplated
 by the Merger Agreement (as defined below). The Series B Warrants have an exercise price of $0.0001 per share, subject to
adjustment.
 For further information regarding the Private Placement, see the section titled “The Private Placement” beginning on page
 35 of this
prospectus.
 
The
selling stockholders may sell these shares through public or private transactions at market prices prevailing at the time of sale or
at negotiated prices.
The timing and amount of any sale are within the sole discretion of the selling stockholders. The selling stockholders
are underwriters within the meaning
of Section 2(a)(11) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”),
and any broker-dealers or agents that participate in distribution of the
securities will also be underwriters within the meaning of Section
2(a)(11) of the Securities Act, and any profit on sale of the securities by them and any
discounts, commissions or concessions received
 by them will be underwriting discounts and commissions under the Securities Act. There can be no
assurances that the selling stockholders
will sell any or all of the securities offered under this prospectus.
 
For
further information regarding the possible methods by which the shares may be distributed, see the section titled “Plan of Distribution”
beginning on
page 56 of this prospectus. We will pay the expenses incurred in registering the securities covered by this prospectus,
including legal and accounting fees.
To the extent the selling stockholders decide to sell their shares of Class A common stock, we will
not control or determine the price at which the shares are
sold.
 
The
Registrable Securities were offered and sold by us pursuant to the exemption provided by Section 4(a)(2)  of the Securities
Act and Regulation D
promulgated thereunder. We are registering the offer and resale of the Registrable Securities to satisfy the
 provisions of that certain registration rights
agreement, dated December 26, 2024 (the “Registration Rights Agreement”),
 pursuant to which we agreed to register the resale of the Registrable
Securities.
 
Our
Class A common stock is listed on Nasdaq under the symbol “NXU.” On December 26, 2024, the last reported sales price of our
Class A common
stock as reported on Nasdaq was $0.262 per share. We urge prospective purchasers of our Class A common stock to obtain
current information about the
market prices of our Class A common stock.
 
We
are an “emerging growth company” as that term is defined under the federal securities laws and, as such, we have elected
 to comply with certain
reduced reporting requirements for this prospectus and may elect to do so in future filings.
 
The
Company has a dual class structure. Our Class A common stock, which is the stock we are registering by means of this prospectus, has
one vote per
share and our Class B common stock, $0.0001 par value per share (the “Class B common stock” and together with
the Class A common stock, “common
stock”), has no economic rights and has 10 votes per share. For more information on the
common stock, see the section titled “Description of Securities.”
 
Our
Class B common stock is owned solely by our Chief Executive Officer, Mark Hanchett, and our President, Annie Pratt, who, as of December
2, 2024,
own 200,692 and 78,812 shares of our Class B common stock, respectively. As of December 2, 2024, Mr. Hanchett and Ms. Pratt
hold approximately
10.8% and 4.2% of the total voting power of our outstanding common stock, respectively, for an aggregate of approximately
15.0% of the voting power of
our outstanding common stock. Mr. Hanchett is also the holder of the sole share of Nxu Series B preferred
stock issued and outstanding, which is entitled to
a number of votes equal to the total number of votes that could be cast by holders
of Class A common stock and Class B common stock.
 



Our
principal executive offices are located at 1828 N Higley Rd., Suite 116, Mesa, Arizona 85205, and our telephone number at that address
is (602) 309-
5425.

 
 

 
Investing
in our securities involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully read this prospectus and any prospectus supplement or
amendment
before you invest. See the section in this prospectus entitled “Risk Factors” beginning on page 7 and under
 similar headings in the other
documents that are incorporated by reference into this prospectus for a discussion of information that
should be considered in connection with an
investment in our securities.
 
Neither
the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these
securities
or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.
 

Prospectus
dated                         ,
2024.
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The
registration statement containing this prospectus, including the exhibits to the registration statement, provides additional information
about
us and the Class A common stock offered under this prospectus. The registration statement, including the exhibits, can be read
on our website and
the website of the Securities and Exchange Commission. See “Where You Can Find More Information.”
 
Information
 contained in, and that can be accessed through our website,  www.nxuenergy.com,  shall not be deemed to be part of this
 prospectus or
incorporated herein by reference and should not be relied upon by any prospective investors for the purposes of determining
whether to purchase the Class
A common stock offered hereunder.
 
Please
read this prospectus carefully. We have prepared this prospectus so that you will have the information necessary to make an informed
investment
decision. You should rely only on the information contained in this prospectus or to which we have referred you. We have not
authorized any person to
provide you with additional information or different information. We take no responsibility for, and can provide
no assurance as to the reliability of, any
information that others may give you. This prospectus may only be used where it is legal to
offer and sell the securities described herein and only during
the effectiveness of the registration statement of which this prospectus
 forms a part. You should assume the information contained in this prospectus is
accurate only as of the date on the front cover of this
prospectus, regardless of the time of delivery of this prospectus or of any sale of our Class A common
stock. Neither the delivery of
this prospectus nor any distribution of securities in accordance with this prospectus shall, under any circumstances, imply that
there
has been no change in our affairs since the date of this prospectus.
 
This
prospectus contains forward-looking statements that are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our
control. See
“Risk Factors” beginning on page 7 of this prospectus and “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking
 Statements” beginning on page 6 of this
prospectus.
 
Unless the
context otherwise requires, the terms “we,” “us,” “our,” “the Company,” “Nxu,”
the “Registrant”, and “our business” refer Nxu, Inc., and “this
offering” refers to the offering
contemplated in this prospectus of the Registrable Securities. 
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ABOUT
THIS PROSPECTUS

 
This
prospectus forms a part of a registration statement on Form S-1 that we filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”)
using the
“shelf” registration process. Under this process, the selling securityholders may from time to time, in one or
more offerings, sell the securities described in
this prospectus. We will not receive any proceeds from the resale of Class A common
stock by the selling stockholders.
 
You
should rely only on the information contained in this prospectus. We have not authorized any other person to provide you with different
information. If
anyone provides you with different or inconsistent information, you should not rely on it. This prospectus is an offer
 to sell only the securities offered
hereby, but only under circumstances and in jurisdictions where it is lawful to do so. You should
assume that the information appearing in this prospectus is
accurate only as of the date on the front cover of this prospectus. Our business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects may have changed
since that date.
 
We
 may also provide a prospectus supplement or post-effective amendment to the registration statement to add information to, or update or
 change
information contained in, this prospectus. You should read both this prospectus and any applicable prospectus supplement or post-effective
amendment to
the registration statement together with the additional information to which we refer you in the sections of this prospectus
 titled “Where You Can Find
More Information.”
 
This
 prospectus contains summaries of certain provisions contained in some of the documents described herein, but reference is made to the
 actual
documents for complete information. All of the summaries are qualified in their entirety by the full text of the actual documents.
Copies of some of the
documents referred to herein have been filed, will be filed or will be incorporated by reference as exhibits to
 the registration statement of which this
prospectus is a part, as described in “Incorporation of Certain Documents by Reference”
in this prospectus, and you may obtain copies of those documents
as described below under the section entitled “Where You Can Find
More Information.” We further note that the representations, warranties and covenants
made by us in any agreement that is filed
as an exhibit to any document that is incorporated by reference into this prospectus were made solely for the
benefit of the parties
to such agreement, including, in some cases, for the purpose of allocating risk among the parties to such agreements, and should not
be deemed to be a representation, warranty or covenant to you. Moreover, such representations, warranties or covenants were accurate
only as of the date
when made. Accordingly, such representations, warranties and covenants should not be relied on as accurately representing
the current state of our affairs.
 
For
investors outside the United States: We have not taken any action to permit the possession or distribution of this prospectus in any
jurisdiction other
than the United States where action for that purpose is required. Persons outside the United States who come into
possession of this prospectus must inform
themselves about and observe any restrictions relating to the Class A common stock and the
distribution of this prospectus outside the United States.
 
Unless
otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, all references in this prospectus to the terms “Nxu,” the “Company,”
“we,” “our” or “us” refer
to Nxu, Inc., a Delaware corporation, either individually or together with
its consolidated subsidiaries, as the context requires.
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MARKET
AND INDUSTRY DATA

 
Market
 and industry data and forecasts used in this prospectus have been obtained from independent industry sources as well as from research
 reports
prepared for other purposes. We are responsible for all of the disclosure in this prospectus, and although we believe these third-party
sources to be reliable,
we have not independently verified the data obtained from these sources, and we cannot assure you of the accuracy
or completeness of the data. Forecasts
and other forward-looking information obtained from these sources are subject to the same qualifications
and uncertainties as the other forward-looking
statements in this prospectus.
 

TRADEMARKS,
TRADE NAMES AND SERVICE MARKS
 
This
document contains references to trademarks, trade names and service marks belonging to other entities. Solely for convenience, trademarks,
 trade
names and service marks referred to in this prospectus may appear without the ® or ™ symbols, but such references are
not intended to indicate, in any
way, that the applicable licensor will not assert, to the fullest extent under applicable law, its rights
to these trademarks and trade names. We do not intend
our use or display of other companies’ trade names, trademarks or service
marks to imply a relationship with, or endorsement or sponsorship of us by, any
other companies.
 

SMALLER
REPORTING COMPANY
 
We
are a “smaller reporting company” under applicable SEC rules and, as such, have elected to comply with certain reduced public
company disclosure
requirements for this prospectus and future filings. See “Summary of the Prospectus — Smaller Reporting
Company” for additional information.
 

iii



 

 
SUMMARY
OF THE PROSPECTUS

 
This
summary highlights selected information from this prospectus and does not contain all of the information that is important to you in
making an
investment decision. You should read the entire prospectus carefully, including the information under the headings “Risk
Factors” beginning on page 7
of this prospectus, “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” beginning
on page 6 of this prospectus and the financial statements
beginning on page F-1 of this prospectus.
 
Overview
 
We
are a US-based technology company leveraging its intellectual property and innovations to support energy storage and charging solutions
for the
infrastructure needed to power an electrified future. We historically focused on building megawatt (“MW”) charging
stations and developing innovative
battery cells and battery packs for use in advanced energy storage systems and mobility products.
 
Following
a shift in focus in the latter half of 2023, we continued developing and producing its NxuOne™ megawatt charging station in our
Mesa,
Arizona facility. As of March  31, 2024, we successfully launched our first charging station and produced multiple production
 units ready for
deployment. Production costs, including costs of materials and labor, reduced with each unit produced, as we focused
on scale and efficiency. We started
the second quarter of 2024 centered on developing plans for charging station deployment, continued
 scaled production of its NxuOne™ megawatt
charging station, and initial design of future charging products.
 
On
May 10, 2024, we announced our intention to evaluate strategic alternatives, with the Strategic Planning Committee of our board
of directors (the
“Strategic Planning Committee”) leading such evaluation with outside assistance from advisors. As we conducted
 our strategic alternative review
process, we focused on reducing costs to maximize the strength of our balance sheet and reduce our use
of cash. On May 10, 2024, we significantly
reduced its headcount across Product, Engineering, Manufacturing, and General &
Administrative functions as a cost saving measure, as we successfully
pursued avenues for a business combination with limited access
to continued capital funding.
 
On
October 23, 2024, the Company, NXU Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (“Merger
Sub I”),
NXU Merger Sub, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Merger Sub II”) and Verde Bioresins, Inc., a Delaware
corporation (“Verde”), entered
into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”), pursuant to which,
among other matters, and subject to the satisfaction or waiver of
the conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement, Merger Sub I will
merge with and into Verde, with Verde continuing as a wholly owned subsidiary of
Nxu and the surviving corporation of the first merger
(the “First Merger”) and promptly following the First Merger, Verde shall merge with and into
Merger Sub II (the “Second
Merger” and together with the First Merger, the “Merger”), with Merger Sub II continuing as the surviving entity of
the
Second Merger.
 
Subject
to the terms and conditions of the Merger Agreement, (i) immediately prior to the effective time of the First Merger (the “Effective
Time”), all
outstanding convertible notes of Verde will be converted into shares of Verde common stock and all outstanding and
unexercised Verde warrants will be
exercised for shares of Verde common stock, and (ii) at the Effective Time, (a) each then-outstanding
share of Verde common stock, other than any
cancelled shares and dissenting shares, will be converted into the right to receive a number
 of shares of Nxu common stock, and (b) each then-
outstanding and unexercised Verde option to purchase shares of Verde common stock, whether
 vested or unvested, will be assumed by Nxu and
converted into an option to purchase a number of shares of Nxu common stock. The shares
 of Nxu common stock that will be issued to Verde
stockholders and the number of shares of Nxu common stock underlying options that will
be issuable to Verde optionholders will be calculated using a
formula in the Merger Agreement based on the enterprise value of each of
Verde and Nxu. Verde has been ascribed an aggregate enterprise value of
approximately $306.9 million, and Nxu’s aggregate enterprise
value will be an amount equal to approximately $16.2 million less an amount equal to the
excess of certain lease payments remaining unpaid
at the closing of the Merger over Nxu’s cash balance at closing. Upon the closing of the Merger,
assuming Nxu’s aggregate
 enterprise value is approximately $16.2 million, pre-Merger Verde stockholders will own approximately 95% of the
combined company and
pre-Merger Nxu stockholders will own approximately 5% of the combined company, in each case, on a fully-diluted and as-
converted basis.
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There
can be no assurance that we will be successful in effecting the Merger or any other transactions or realizing any of the intended benefits,
including
obtaining a sufficient level of capital through this or other channels in the time frames needed to sustain or grow the business
or on terms agreeable to
us. As we focus on a Merger with Verde, we remain focused on reducing costs to maximize the strength of our
balance sheet, reducing our use of cash,
and continuing to evaluate all feasible paths to raising capital to fund operations through
the date of a merger closing.
 
Nxu
is an early-stage company and as such, has incurred losses from operations and has had negative cash flows from operating activities
since our
inception.
 
In
light of our liquidity position and anticipated future funding requirements, we continue to pursue all available options for funding
including seeking
funding in the form of potential equity and/or debt financing arrangements or similar transactions, further reducing
expenses, and selling assets. Even if
we are successful in implementing the Merger or other strategic alternative, we will continue to
 require additional funding. The Company cannot
provide any assurance that access to capital will be readily available when needed or
 that it will be successful in implementing the Merger or other
strategic alternative, which is subject to the satisfaction of conditions
beyond the Company’s control. If we are unable to complete the Merger or other
strategic transaction in a timely manner, we could
be required to dissolve and liquidate our assets under the bankruptcy laws or otherwise.
 
Corporate
Information
 
We
 were originally incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware on November 9, 2016 under the name “Atlis Motor Vehicles Inc.”
 (the
“Predecessor”). In connection with the Reorganization Merger (as defined below), Nxu was incorporated under the laws
of the State of Delaware on
March 10, 2023. On May 12, 2023, the Predecessor completed the Reorganization Merger pursuant to an agreement
and plan of merger, dated as of
April 16, 2023 (the “Reorganization Agreement”), by and among the Predecessor, Nxu and Atlis
Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation and, as of
immediately prior to the consummation of such merger, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Nxu (“Merger Sub”). The Reorganization Agreement provided
for the merger of the Predecessor and Merger Sub, with the Predecessor
surviving the merger as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Nxu (the “Reorganization
Merger”). Following the closing of the Reorganization
Merger, Nxu’s Class A common stock commenced trading on Nasdaq under the ticker “NXU”.  
 
Our
principal executive offices are located at 1828 North Higley Road, Mesa, AZ 85205. Our website address is www.nxuenergy.com. The
information
provided on or accessible through our website (or any other website referred to in the registration statement, of which this
prospectus forms a part, or the
documents incorporated by reference herein) is not part of the registration statement, of which this
prospectus forms a part, and is not incorporated by
reference as part of the registration statement, of which this prospectus forms a
part.
 
Implications
of Being an Emerging Growth Company and Smaller Reporting Company
 
We
qualify as an “emerging growth company” under the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, as amended (the “JOBS
Act”). As a result, we
are permitted to, and intend to, rely on exemptions from certain disclosure requirements. For so long as
we are an emerging growth company, we will
not be required to:
 

● have
an auditor report on our internal controls over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404(b)
 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2022, as
amended;

 
● comply
 with any requirement that may be adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
 regarding mandatory audit firm

rotation or a supplement to the auditor’s report providing
additional information about the audit and the financial statements (i.e., an auditor
discussion
and analysis);
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● submit
certain executive compensation matters to stockholder advisory votes, such as “say-on-pay,”
“say-on-frequency” and pay ratio; and

 
● disclose
 certain executive compensation related items such as the correlation between executive compensation
 and performance and

comparisons of the chief executive officer’s compensation to median
employee compensation.
 
In
addition, Section 107 of the JOBS Act also provides that an emerging growth company can take advantage of the extended transition period
provided
in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act for complying with new or revised accounting standards. In other words, an emerging
growth company can
delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies.
We have elected to take advantage
of the benefits of this extended transition period. Our financial statements may therefore not be comparable
to those of companies that comply with such
new or revised accounting standards.
 
We
will remain an “emerging growth company” for up to five years, or until the earlier of (i) December 31, 2027, the last day
of the fiscal year (a)
following the fifth anniversary of the closing of our initial public offering, (b) in which our total annual gross
revenues are at least $1.235 billion, or (c)
in which we are deemed a “large accelerated filer” as defined in Rule 12b-2
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange
Act”), which would occur if the market value of our
Class A common stock that are held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the last business
day of our most recently completed
second fiscal quarter, and (ii) the date on which we have issued more than $1 billion in non-convertible debt during
the prior three
year period.
 
We
are also a “smaller reporting company” as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. We may continue to be a smaller reporting
company even
after we are no longer an emerging growth company. We may take advantage of certain of the scaled disclosures available
 to smaller reporting
companies and will be able to take advantage of these scaled disclosures for so long as the market value of our
voting and non-voting Class A common
stock held by non-affiliates is less than $250.0 million measured on the last business day of our
second fiscal quarter, or our annual revenue is less than
$100.0 million during the most recently completed fiscal year and the market
value of our voting and non-voting Class A common stock held by non-
affiliates is less than $700.0 million measured on the last business
day of our second fiscal quarter. 
 
Summary
Risk Factors
 
Investing
 in our securities involves risks. You should carefully consider the risks described in “Risk Factors” beginning on page 7 before making a
decision to invest in our Class A common stock. If any of these risks actually occurs, our business, financial condition
and results of operations would
likely be materially adversely affected. In such case, the trading price of our securities would likely
 decline, and you may lose all or part of your
investment. Set forth below is a summary of some of the principal risks we face:
 
Risks
Related to this Offering
 

● Investors
who buy shares at different times will likely pay different prices.
 

● The
issuance of Class A common stock to the selling stockholders may cause substantial dilution
to our existing stockholders and the sale of
such shares acquired by the selling stockholders
could cause the price of our Class A common stock to decline.
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Risks
Related to the Merger
 

● Failure
to complete the Merger could harm our Class A common stock price and future business and
operations of the Company.
 

● The
completion of the Merger is subject to conditions, some or all of which may not be satisfied
or completed on a timely basis, if at all.
Failure to complete the Merger could have material
adverse effects on the Company.

 
● If
the Merger is not completed, the Company’s stock price may decline significantly.

 
● During
the pendency of the Merger, the Company may be limited in its ability to enter into a business
combination with another party on more

favorable terms because of restrictions in the Merger
Agreement, which could adversely affect its respective business prospects.
 

● The
Merger will involve substantial costs and will require substantial management resources.
 

● Another
attractive strategic transaction may not be available if the Merger is not completed.
 

● If
the Company does not successfully consummate the Merger or another strategic transaction,
the Company’s board of directors may decide to
pursue a dissolution and liquidation
of the Company.

 
● The
Company is substantially dependent on its remaining employees to facilitate the consummation
of the Merger.

 
Risks
Related to the Company
 

● The
Company is an early-stage company with a limited operating history that has never turned
a profit and there are no assurances that the
Company will ever be profitable.

 
● The
 Company has incurred significant losses since its inception, and it expects to continue to
 incur losses for the foreseeable future.

Accordingly, its financial condition raises substantial
doubt regarding its ability to continue as a going concern.
 

● Our
limited operating history makes it difficult for us to evaluate its future business prospects.
 

● The
Company generated revenue for the first time in 2023, but there is no assurance that it will
be able to continue to generate revenue from
the operations of the NxuOne™ Charging
Network.

 
● The
Company has losses which it expects to continue into the future. There is no assurance its
future operations will result in a profit. If we

cannot generate sufficient revenues to operate
profitably or we are unable to raise enough additional funds for operations, our stockholders
will
experience a decrease in value, and we may have to cease operations.

 
● The
Company needs to raise additional capital to meet its future business requirements and such
capital raising may be costly or difficult to

obtain and could dilute current stockholders’
ownership interest.
 

● The
Class A common stock may be delisted from Nasdaq if the Company does not maintain compliance
 with Nasdaq’s continued listing
requirements. If the Class A common stock is delisted,
it could negatively impact the Company.

 
● If
the market price of the Class A common stock continues to remain under $1.00 per share, the
only cure may be to enact a reverse split of the

stock. Failure to maintain compliance with
Nasdaq’s Continued Listing Rules could be costly and have material adverse effects.
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The
Offering

 
Issuer   Nxu, Inc.,
a Delaware corporation.
     
Securities Offered by Selling Stockholders   114,503,816 shares of Class
 A common stock, comprised of (i) 6,800,000 Purchased Shares, (ii)

5,200,000 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon exercise
of the Pre-Funded Warrants; (iii) up
to 57,251,908 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon exercise of the Series A Warrants;
and
(iv) up to 45,251,908 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon exercise of the Series B Warrants.

     
Class A Common Stock To Be Outstanding
after this Offering,
Assuming Exercise of the
Pre-Funded Warrants, the Series A Warrants
and the Series B Warrants

  131,123,873 shares of Class
A common stock (assuming full exercise of the Pre-Funded Warrants, the
Series A Warrants the Series B Warrants)

     
Terms of the Offering   The selling stockholders
and any of its pledgees, assignees and successors-in-interest will determine

when and how they sell the shares offered in this prospectus
and may, from time to time, sell any or all
of their shares covered hereby on Nasdaq or any other stock exchange, market or trading
 facility on
which the shares are traded or in private transactions. These sales may be at fixed or negotiated prices.
See “Plan
of Distribution” in this prospectus.

     
Use of Proceeds   We will not receive any proceeds from the
 resale, if any, of the Registrable Securities by the selling

stockholders. See “Use of Proceeds.”
     
Risk Factors   Investment in our
 securities involves a high degree of risk and could result in a loss of your entire

investment. See “Risk Factors”
 beginning on page 7 of this prospectus and the similarly entitled
sections in the documents incorporated by reference into this
prospectus.

     
Nasdaq Capital Market Symbol   Our shares of Class A common
stock are listed on Nasdaq under the symbol “NXU.”
 
Except as otherwise indicated herein, the number
of shares of our Class A common stock to be outstanding after this offering is based on 16,620,057
shares of Common Stock outstanding
as of December 23, 2024, plus the Purchased Shares, assumes we issue the additional 107,703,816 shares of Class
A common stock that
are issuable under the Pre-Funded Warrants, the Series A Warrants, and the Series B Warrants, and excludes:
 

● 997,698 shares
of Class A common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding options at a weighted average
exercise price of $317.36 per
share;

 
● 109,513 shares
of Class A common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding warrants at a weighted-average
exercise price of $97.93 per

share;
 

● A
maximum of 66,667 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon the conversion of outstanding
convertible notes (assuming a minimum
conversion price of $0.15 per share);

 
● 3,495,518 shares
of Class A common stock issuable upon vesting of outstanding restricted stock units under
our equity incentive plan;

 
● 48,463,249 shares
of Class A common stock reserved for issuance under our equity incentive plan; and

 
● shares
of Nxu common stock to be issued to Verde stockholders and shares of Nxu common stock underlying
options that will be issuable to

Verde optionholders in connection with the Merger.
 

Unless
 otherwise indicated, all information in this prospectus assumes no exercise of the outstanding options and warrants, no conversion of
 the
outstanding convertible notes, no vesting of the outstanding restricted stock units and no issuance of shares of Nxu common stock
in connection with the
Merger described in the bullets above. To the extent that options or warrants are exercised, convertible notes
are converted, restricted stock units vest,
the Merger closes, new awards are granted under our equity incentive plan, or we issue additional
shares of Class A common stock or warrants in the
future, there will be further dilution to investors participating in this offering.
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CAUTIONARY
NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

 
The
information in this prospectus includes “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities
Act, and Section 21E of
the Exchange Act. When used in this prospectus, including any oral statements made in connection therewith, the
words “could,” “should,” “will,”
“may,” “believe,” “anticipate,”
 “intend,” “estimate,” “expect,” “project,” the negative of such terms and other similar
 expressions are intended to
identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain such identifying
words. In particular, statements regarding our
ability to continue as a going concern; our ability to complete the Merger in a timely
manner or at all and challenges to achieving strategic objectives,
synergies and other anticipated benefits from the Merger; our belief
that additional funding will be required in order to continue operations; our ability
to obtain additional funding in the form of potential
 equity and/or debt financing arrangements or similar transactions; any plans to seek strategic
alternatives for our business; expectations
and opportunities, industry trends, new product expectations and capabilities; and our outlook regarding our
performance and growth are forward-looking statements. This
prospectus also contains statements regarding plans, goals and objectives. There is no
assurance that we will be able to carry out our
plans or achieve our goals and objectives or that we will be able to do so successfully on a profitable
basis.  These forward-looking
 statements are based on management’s current expectations and assumptions about future events and are based on
currently available
 information as to the outcome and timing of future events. These forward-looking statements are just predictions and involve
significant
risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our control, and actual results may differ materially from these statements. The principal
risks and uncertainties include those listed under “Summary of the Prospectus—Summary Risk Factors” in this prospectus.
Additionally, the section in
this prospectus  entitled “Risk Factors” beginning on page 7 of this prospectus and the
 sections in our periodic reports, including our most recent
Form 10-K entitled “Business,” and in the Form 10-K
and the subsequent Forms 10-Q entitled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations,”
 as well as other sections in this prospectus and the documents or reports incorporated by reference into this
prospectus, further discuss
 some of the important factors that we believe could cause actual results or events to differ materially from the forward-
looking statements
that we make. 
 
Moreover,
 we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risks emerge from time to time. It is not possible for our
management
to predict all risks, nor can we assess the impact of all factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of
factors,
may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements we may make. Given these
risks and uncertainties,
readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements. All forward-looking statements
are qualified in their entirety by
this cautionary statement. You should read this prospectus and the documents that we have filed as
 exhibits to this prospectus and incorporated by
reference herein completely and with the understanding that our actual future results
 may be materially different from the plans, intentions and
expectations disclosed in the forward-looking statements we make. The forward-looking
statements contained in this prospectus are made as of the date
of this prospectus and we do not assume any obligation to update any
forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events
or otherwise, except as required by applicable law.
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RISK
FACTORS

 
Investing
in our securities involves a high degree of risk. You should consider carefully the risks described below, together with all of the other
information
included or incorporated by reference in this prospectus, including those discussed under “Cautionary Note Regarding
 Forward-Looking Statements”
beginning on page 6 of this prospectus and the risks and uncertainties discussed under “Risk
Factors” in our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q, and current reports on Form 8-K, which have been filed
with the SEC and are incorporated by reference in this prospectus, as well
as any updates thereto contained in subsequent filings with
the SEC or any free writing prospectus, before deciding whether to purchase our securities in
this offering. All of these risk factors
are incorporated herein in their entirety. The risks described below and incorporated by reference are material risks
currently known,
expected or reasonably foreseeable by us. However, the risks described below and incorporated by reference are not the only ones that
we
face. Additional risks not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also affect our business, operating results,
prospects or financial
condition. If any of these risks actually materialize, our business, prospects, financial condition, and results
of operations could be seriously harmed. This
could cause the trading price of our Class A common stock to decline, resulting in a loss
of all or part of your investment. 
 
Risks
Related to this Offering
 
Investors
who buy shares at different times will likely pay different prices.
 
Investors
who purchase shares in this offering at different times will likely pay different prices, and so may experience different levels of dilution
and
different outcomes in their investment results. Similarly, the selling stockholders may sell such shares at different times and at
different prices. Investors
may experience a decline in the value of the shares they purchase from the selling stockholders in this offering
as a result of sales made by us in future
transactions to the selling stockholders at prices lower than the prices they paid. The selling
stockholders will have discretion to vary the timing, prices, and
number of shares sold in this offering. Investors may experience a
decline in the value of their shares of our Class A common stock. The trading price of
our Class A common stock has been volatile and
subject to wide fluctuations.
 
The
 issuance of Class A common stock to the selling stockholders may cause substantial dilution to our existing stockholders and the sale
of such
shares acquired by the selling stockholders could cause the price of our Class A common stock to decline.
 
We
are registering for resale by the selling stockholders up to 114,503,816 shares of Class A common stock, consisting of (1) 6,800,000
Purchased Shares,
(2) 5,200,000 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon exercise of the Pre-Funded Warrants, (3) up to
57,251,908 shares of Class A common stock
issuable upon exercise of the Series A Warrants, and (4) up to 45,251,908 shares of Class
A common stock issuable upon exercise of the Series B Warrants.
The number of shares of our Class A common stock ultimately offered for
resale by the selling stockholders under this prospectus is dependent the number
of Registrable Securities issued. Depending on a variety
of factors, including market liquidity of our Class A common stock, the issuance of shares to the
selling stockholders may cause the
trading price of our Class A common stock to decline.
 
Future
sales of our Class A common stock could cause the market price for our Class A common stock to decline.
 
We
cannot predict the effect, if any, that market sales of shares of our Class A common stock or the availability of shares of our Class
A common stock for
sale will have on the market price of our Class A common stock prevailing from time to time. Sales of substantial
 amounts of shares of our Class A
common stock in the public market, or the perception that those sales will occur, could cause the market
price of our Class A common stock to decline or
be depressed.
 
The
shares of Class A common stock issued in connection with this offering will be freely tradeable without restriction or further registration
under the
Securities Act.
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Risks
Related to the Merger
 
Failure
to complete the Merger could harm the Class A common stock price and future business and operations of the Company.
 
If
the Merger is not completed, the price of Class A common stock may decline and could fluctuate significantly, and Nxu will still
incur costs related to the
Merger, such as financial advisor, legal and accounting fees, a majority of which must be paid even if the
 Merger is not completed. If the Merger
Agreement is terminated and the Nxu board of directors determines to seek another business combination,
there can be no assurance that Nxu will be able
to find another third party to transact a business combination with, yielding comparable
or greater benefits.
 
The
price of Nxu’s Class A common stock may also fluctuate significantly based on announcements by Verde, other third parties, or Nxu
regarding the
Merger or based on market perceptions of the likelihood of the satisfaction of the conditions to the consummation of the
Merger. Such announcements may
lead to perceptions in the market that the Merger may not be completed, which could cause Nxu’s
share price to fluctuate or decline.
 
If
the parties do not consummate the Merger, the price of Nxu’s Class A common stock may decline significantly from the current market
price, which may
reflect a market assumption that the Merger will be consummated. Any of these events could have a material adverse effect
on Nxu’s business, operating
results and financial condition and could cause a decline in the price of Nxu’s Class A common
stock.
 
If
the parties do not successfully consummate the Merger or another strategic transaction, the Nxu board of directors may decide to pursue
a dissolution and
liquidation of Nxu. In such an event, the amount of cash available for distribution to the Nxu stockholders will depend
heavily on the costs and timing of
such liquidation as well as the amount of cash that will need to be reserved for commitments and contingent
 liabilities, as to which Nxu can give no
assurance.
 
The
completion of the Merger is subject to conditions, some or all of which may not be satisfied or completed on a timely basis, if at all.
Failure to
complete the Merger could have material adverse effects on Nxu.
 
Even
if the required proposals in connection with the Merger are approved by the stockholders of Nxu, specified conditions must be satisfied
or, to the
extent permitted by applicable law, waived to complete the Merger. We cannot assure you that all of the conditions to the
consummation of the Merger will
be satisfied or waived. If the conditions are not satisfied or waived, the Merger may not occur or the
Merger closing may be delayed.
 
The
 parties cannot predict whether and when the conditions to the Merger will be satisfied, including but not limited to the requirement
 that Nxu
stockholders approve the issuance of adequate shares to complete the Merger and effect a change of control pursuant to certain
approval requirements of
the Nasdaq Capital Market as well as approval of certain other proposals to be submitted to Nxu stockholders.
If one or more of these conditions are not
satisfied, and as a result, the parties do not complete the Merger, the parties would remain
liable for significant transaction costs, and the focus of each
party’s management would have been diverted from seeking other
 potential strategic opportunities, in each case without realizing any benefits of the
Merger. Certain costs associated with the Merger
 have already been incurred or may be payable even if the Merger is not consummated. Finally, any
disruptions to each party’s business
 resulting from the announcement and pendency of the Merger, including any adverse changes in each party’s
relationships with customers,
clients, suppliers and employees, could continue or accelerate in the event that the parties fail to consummate the Merger.
 
In
 addition, the Merger Agreement generally requires Nxu to operate in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, pending
consummation of the Merger, and restricts Nxu from taking certain actions with respect to Nxu business and financial affairs without
Verde’s consent. Such
restrictions will be in place until either the Merger is consummated or the Merger Agreement is terminated.
These restrictions could restrict Nxu’s ability
to, or prevent Nxu from, pursuing attractive business opportunities (if any) that
arise prior to the consummation of the Merger. For these and other reasons,
the pendency of the Merger could adversely affect Nxu’s
business, operating results and financial condition.
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If
the Merger is not completed, Nxu’s stock price may decline significantly.
 
The
market price of Nxu common stock is subject to significant fluctuations. Market prices for securities of technology companies have historically
been
particularly volatile. In addition, the market price of Nxu common stock will likely be volatile based on whether stockholders and
other investors believe
that Nxu can complete the Merger or otherwise raise additional capital to support Nxu’s operations if the
Merger is not consummated and another strategic
transaction cannot be identified, negotiated and consummated in a timely manner, or at
all. The volatility of the market price of Nxu common stock has
been and may be exacerbated by low trading volume. Additional factors
that may cause the market price of Nxu common stock to fluctuate include:
 

● the
loss of key employees;
 

● future
sales of its common stock;
 

● general
and industry-specific economic conditions that may affect its research and development expenditures;
 

● the
failure to meet industry analyst expectations; and
 

● period-to-period
fluctuations in financial results.
 

Moreover,
 the stock markets in general have experienced substantial volatility that has often been unrelated to the operating performance of individual
companies. These broad market fluctuations may also adversely affect the trading price of Nxu common stock. In the past, following periods
of volatility in
the market price of a company’s securities, stockholders have often instituted class action securities litigation
against such companies.
 
Nxu
 stockholders will generally have a reduced ownership and voting interest in, and will exercise less influence over the management of,
 the
combined company following the completion of the Merger as compared to their current ownership and voting interests in Nxu.
 
After
 the completion of the Merger, the current stockholders of Nxu will generally own a smaller percentage of the combined company than their
ownership of Nxu prior to the Merger. Immediately after the Merger, Nxu stockholders as of immediately prior to the Merger are expected
 to own
approximately 5% of the outstanding shares of capital stock of the combined company and former Verde stockholders are expected
to own approximately
95% of the outstanding shares of capital stock of the combined company, in each case, on a fully-diluted and as-converted
basis. Nxu’s assumed aggregate
enterprise value will be reduced by the excess of certain lease payments remaining unpaid at the
Merger closing over Nxu’s cash balance at the Merger
closing, and any such reduction will decrease the ownership percentage interest
of pre-Merger Nxu stockholders in the combined company. As a result,
some stockholders will hold a smaller pro rata share and, therefore,
a lower percentage of the voting stock of the combined company than such stockholder
currently holds in Nxu as a stand-alone company.
 
During
the pendency of the Merger, Nxu may be limited in its ability to enter into a business combination with another party on more favorable
terms
because of restrictions in the Merger Agreement, which could adversely affect its respective business prospects.
 
Covenants
 in the Merger Agreement impede the ability of Nxu to solicit proposals or offers relating to acquisitions or similar transactions during
 the
pendency of the Merger, subject to specified exceptions. As a result, if the Merger is not completed, Nxu may be at a disadvantage
to its competitors during
that period. In addition, while the Merger Agreement is in effect, Nxu is generally prohibited from soliciting,
seeking, initiating or knowingly encouraging,
inducing or facilitating the communication, making, submission or announcement of any acquisition
or competing proposal or taking any action that could
reasonably be expected to lead to certain transactions involving a third party,
including a merger, sale of assets or other business combination, subject to
specified exceptions. Any such transactions could be favorable
to Nxu stockholders, but Nxu may be unable to pursue them.
 
Certain
 provisions of the Merger Agreement may discourage third parties from submitting competing proposals, including proposals that may be
superior to the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement.
 
The
terms of the Merger Agreement prohibit Nxu from soliciting competing proposals or cooperating with persons making unsolicited takeover
proposals,
except in limited circumstances as set forth in the Merger Agreement. Any such proposals could be favorable to Nxu stockholders.
In addition, if Nxu or
Verde terminates the Merger Agreement under specified circumstances, Verde could be required to pay Nxu a termination
 fee of $1.0  million. This
termination fee may discourage third parties from submitting competing proposals to Nxu or its stockholders,
and may cause the Nxu board of directors to
be less inclined to recommend a competing proposal.
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Stockholder
 litigation could prevent or delay the consummation of the Merger or otherwise negatively impact Nxu’s or the combined company’s
business, operating results and conditions.
 
Putative
stockholder complaints, including stockholder class action complaints, and other complaints may be filed against Nxu and/or the Nxu board
of
directors in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement. The outcome of litigation is uncertain, and Nxu
 may not be
successful in defending against any such future claims. Nxu could incur significant costs in connection with any such litigation,
including costs associated
with the indemnification of Nxu’s directors and officers. Additionally, such litigation could delay
 or prevent the Merger, divert the attention of the
management teams and employees of Nxu from day-to-day business and otherwise
adversely affect the business and financial condition of Nxu or the
combined company.
 
Furthermore,
one of the conditions to the consummation of the Merger is the absence of any governmental order or law preventing the consummation of
the Merger or making the consummation of the Merger illegal. Consequently, if a plaintiff were to secure injunctive or other relief prohibiting,
delaying or
otherwise adversely affecting Nxu’s or Verde’s ability to complete the consummation of the Merger, then such
injunctive or other relief may prevent the
Merger from becoming effective within the expected time frame or at all.
 
The
issuance of Nxu common stock to Verde stockholders pursuant to the Merger Agreement and the resulting change in control from the Merger
must
be approved by Nxu stockholders, and the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby must be approved by the Verde
stockholders.
Failure to obtain these approvals would prevent the closing of the Merger.
 
Before
the Merger can be completed, the Nxu stockholders must approve, among other things, the issuance of Nxu common stock to Verde stockholders
pursuant to the Merger Agreement and the resulting change in control from the Merger, and Verde stockholders must adopt the Merger Agreement
and
approve the Merger and the related transactions. Concurrently with the execution of the Merger Agreement, Nxu entered into the Support
Agreement (as
defined in the Merger Agreement) with the Support Stockholders (as defined in the Merger Agreement) pursuant to which the
Support Stockholders agreed
to, among other things, (a) from the date of the Nxu Support Agreement to the Support Expiration Time
(as defined in the Merger Agreement), vote at any
meeting or pursuant to any action of written resolution of the stockholders of Nxu
all of their Nxu common stock, held of record or thereafter acquired:
(i)  in favor of the Merger and the other proposals and (ii) against
any competing acquisition proposal; and (b) be bound by certain other covenants and
agreements related to the Merger, in each case,
on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Nxu Support Agreement. However, failure to
obtain the required stockholder
approvals may result in a material delay in, or the abandonment of, the Merger. Any delay in completing the Merger may
materially adversely
affect the timing and benefits that are expected to be achieved from the Merger.
 
The
Merger will involve substantial costs and will require substantial management resources.
 
In
 connection with the consummation of the Merger, management and financial resources of Nxu have been diverted and will continue to be
diverted
towards the completion of the Merger. Nxu expects to incur substantial costs and expenses relating to, as well as the direction
of management resources
towards, the Merger. Such costs, fees and expenses include fees and expenses payable to financial advisors, other
professional fees and expenses, fees and
costs relating to regulatory filings and filings with the SEC and notices and other transaction-related
 costs, fees and expenses. If the Merger is not
completed, Nxu will have incurred substantial expenses and expended substantial management
 resources for which Nxu will have received little to no
benefit if the Merger closing does not occur.
 
Another
attractive strategic transaction may not be available if the Merger is not completed.
 
If
the Merger is not completed and is terminated, there can be no assurance that Nxu will be able to find a party willing to pay equivalent
or more attractive
consideration than the consideration to be provided under the Merger Agreement or be willing to proceed at all with
a similar transaction or any alternative
transaction.
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We
have additional securities available for issuance, which, if issued, including in connection with the Merger, could adversely affect
the rights of the
holders of our Class A common stock.
 
Our
Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, authorizes the issuance of 4,000,000,000 shares of our Class A common stock, 1,000,000,000
shares of our
Class B common stock, and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock. In certain circumstances, our common stock, as well as
the awards available for issuance
under our equity incentive plan, can be issued by our board of directors, without stockholder approval.
Any future issuances of such stock, including
pursuant to outstanding equity awards, would further dilute the percentage ownership of
us held by holders of Class A common stock. In addition, the
issuance of certain securities, may be used as an “anti-takeover”
device without further action on the part of our stockholders, and may adversely affect the
holders of Class A common stock.
 
Furthermore,
 if the Merger is consummated, assuming Nxu’s aggregate enterprise value is approximately $16.2 million, it is expected that pre-Merger
Verde stockholders will own approximately 95% of the combined company and pre-Merger Nxu stockholders will own approximately 5% of the
combined
company, in each case, on a fully-diluted and as-converted basis. As a result, pre-Merger Nxu stockholders will experience substantial
dilution of their
ownership interests in the event that the Merger is consummated.
 
Risks
Related to Nxu’s Strategic Alternative Process and Potential Strategic Transaction
 
Nxu
cannot be sure if or when the Merger will be completed.
 
The
 consummation of the Merger is subject to the satisfaction or waiver of various conditions, including the authorization of the Merger
 by Nxu’s
stockholders and Verde’s stockholders. Nxu cannot guarantee that the closing conditions set forth in the Merger
Agreement will be satisfied. If Nxu is
unable to satisfy certain closing conditions or if other mutual closing conditions are not satisfied,
Verde will not be obligated to complete the Merger. Under
certain circumstances, Verde would be required to pay Nxu a termination fee
of $1.0 million.
 
If
the Merger is not completed, the Nxu board of directors, in discharging its fiduciary obligations to Nxu’s stockholders, would
evaluate other strategic
alternatives or financing options that may be available, which alternatives may not be as favorable to Nxu’s
 stockholders as the Merger, including a
liquidation and dissolution. Any future sale or merger, financing or other transaction, including
 a liquidation or dissolution, may be subject to further
stockholder approval. Nxu may also be unable to find, evaluate or complete other
strategic alternatives, which may have a materially adverse effect on
Nxu’s business.
 
Until
the Merger is completed, the Merger Agreement restricts Nxu from taking specified actions without the consent of Verde and requires Nxu
to operate
in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice. These restrictions may prevent Nxu from making appropriate
changes to its business or
pursuing attractive business opportunities that may arise prior to the completion of the Merger. Further,
if certain of Nxu’s lease payments remaining unpaid
at the Merger closing exceed Nxu’s cash balance at the Merger closing,
then the pre-Merger stockholders of Nxu will own less of the combined company
pursuant to the exchange ratio adjustment set forth in
the Merger Agreement.
 
Any
delay in completing the Merger may materially and adversely affect the timing and benefits that are expected to be achieved from the
Merger.
 
If
Nxu does not successfully consummate the Merger or another strategic transaction, Nxu’s board of directors may decide to pursue
a dissolution and
liquidation of Nxu. In such an event, the amount of cash available for distribution to Nxu’s stockholders will
depend heavily on the costs and timing of
such liquidation as well as the amount of cash that will need to be reserved for commitments
and contingent liabilities, as to which Nxu can give you no
assurance.
 
There
can be no assurance that the Merger will be completed. If the Merger is not completed, Nxu’s board of directors may decide to pursue
a dissolution
and liquidation of Nxu. In such an event, the amount of cash available for distribution to Nxu’s stockholders will
depend heavily on the costs related to and
timing of such decision and, ultimately, such liquidation, since the amount of cash available
 for distribution continues to decrease as Nxu funds its
operations while pursuing the Merger. In addition, if Nxu’s board of directors
were to approve and recommend, and Nxu’s stockholders were to approve, a
dissolution and liquidation of Nxu, Nxu would be required
 under Delaware corporate law to pay Nxu’s outstanding obligations, as well as to make
reasonable provision for contingent and unknown
obligations, prior to making any distributions in liquidation to stockholders. Nxu’s commitments and
contingent liabilities may
include obligations under Nxu’s employment and related agreements with certain employees that provide for certain payments
following
 a termination of employment occurring for various reasons, including a change in control of Nxu, which may include a dissolution of Nxu,
litigation against Nxu, and other various claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business, and other unexpected and/or
 contingent
liabilities. As a result of this requirement, a portion of Nxu’s assets would need to be reserved pending the resolution
of such obligations.
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In
addition, Nxu may be subject to litigation or other claims related to a dissolution and liquidation of Nxu. If a dissolution and liquidation
were to be
pursued, Nxu’s board of directors, in consultation with Nxu’s advisors, would need to evaluate these matters and
make a determination about a reasonable
amount to reserve. Accordingly, holders of Nxu’s common stock could lose all or a significant
 portion of their investment in the event of liquidation,
dissolution or winding up of Nxu. A liquidation would be a lengthy and uncertain
process with no assurance of any value ever being returned to Nxu’s
stockholders.
 
Nxu
is substantially dependent on Nxu’s remaining employees to facilitate the consummation of the Merger.
 
Nxu’s
ability to consummate a strategic transaction depends upon its ability to retain its employees required to consummate such a transaction,
the loss of
whose services may adversely impact the ability to consummate such transaction. In May  2024, Nxu undertook an organizational
 restructuring that
significantly reduced its workforce in order to conserve its capital resources. As of December 2, 2024, Nxu had only
 four full-time employees. Nxu’s
ability to successfully complete the Merger depends in large part on Nxu’s ability to retain
certain remaining personnel. Despite Nxu’s efforts to retain
these employees, one or more may terminate their employment with Nxu
on short notice. Nxu’s cash conservation activities may yield other unintended
consequences, such as attrition beyond its planned
reduction in workforce and reduced employee morale, which may cause remaining employees to seek
alternative employment. The loss of the
services of certain employees could potentially harm Nxu’s ability to consummate the Merger, to run Nxu’s day-to-
day
business operations, as well as to fulfill Nxu’s reporting obligations as a public company.
 
There
 can be no assurance that Nxu’s evaluation of strategic alternatives will enhance stockholder value or result in any transaction
 being
consummated, and speculation and uncertainty regarding the outcome of its evaluation of strategic alternatives may adversely impact
 its business,
financial condition and results of operations.
 
On
 May 10, 2024, Nxu announced its intention to evaluate strategic alternatives. There can be no assurance of the terms, timing or structure
 of any
transaction, or whether any such transaction, including the contemplated Merger, will take place at all, and any such transaction
 is subject to risks and
uncertainties. The process of reviewing strategic alternatives may involve significant resources and costs. In
addition, the announced evaluation of strategic
alternatives may cause or result in:
 

● disruption
of its business;
 

● diversion
of the attention of management;
 

● increased
stock price volatility;
 

● increased
costs and advisory fees; and
 

● challenges
in retaining key employees
 

If
Nxu is unable to mitigate these or other potential risks related to the uncertainty caused by its exploration of strategic alternatives,
it may disrupt Nxu’s
business or could have a material adverse effect on its financial condition and results of operations in future
periods.
 
Nxu’s
ability to complete a transaction, will depend on numerous factors, some of which are outside of its control. A merger of independent
businesses is
complex, costly and time-consuming. To consummate a merger, Nxu may incur asset write-offs and restructuring costs and
other related expenses that
could have a material adverse impact on its operating results. Mergers also involve numerous other risks,
including potential exposure to assumed litigation
and unknown environmental and other liabilities, as well as undetected internal control,
regulatory or other issues, or additional costs not anticipated at the
time of a transaction.
 
Even
if a merger transaction is completed, there can be no assurance that it will be successful or have a positive effect on stockholder value.
Further, it is
not certain what impact any potential transaction may have on Nxu’s stock price, its current stockholders’
 percentage ownership, business, financial
condition, and results of operations.
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Risks
Related to Nxu’s Business
 
Nxu
 is an early-stage company with a limited operating history that has never turned a profit and there are no assurances that Nxu will ever
 be
profitable.
 
Nxu
is a relatively new company that was incorporated on November 9, 2016. If you are investing in Nxu, it is because you think Nxu’s
business model is a
good idea, and Nxu will be able to successfully grow its business and become profitable.
 
Currently,
Nxu’s efforts are focused on operating its megawatt charging stations. Nxu has never turned a profit and there is no assurance
that it will ever be
profitable.
 
Nxu
 also has limited brand awareness and operating history in the charging industry. Although Nxu has taken significant steps in developing
 brand
awareness, Nxu is a new company and currently has no experience developing or selling electric vehicle charging to customers. As
such, it is possible that
Nxu’s lack of history in the industry may impact its brand, business, financial goals, operation performance,
and products.
 
Nxu
 should be considered a “Development Stage Company,” and its operations will be subject to all the risks inherent in the establishment
 of a new
business enterprise, including, but not limited to, hurdles or barriers to the implementation of its business plans. Further,
because there is no history of
operations there is also no operating history from which to evaluate Nxu’s executive management’s
 ability to manage its business and operations and
achieve Nxu’s goals or the likely performance of Nxu. Prospective investors should
also consider the fact that Nxu’s management team has not previously
developed or managed similar companies. No assurances can
be given that Nxu will be able to achieve or sustain profitability.
 
Nxu
has incurred significant losses since its inception, and Nxu expects to continue to incur losses for the foreseeable future. Accordingly,
its financial
condition raises substantial doubt regarding its ability to continue as a going concern.
 
During
the nine-month period ended September 30, 2024, Nxu incurred a net loss of $18.1 million and had net cash used in operating activities
of $10.2
million. As of September 30, 2024, Nxu had $2.2 million in cash and an accumulated deficit of $277.7 million. Nxu cannot provide
any assurance that
unforeseen circumstances that could occur at any time within the next twelve months or thereafter will not increase
the need for Nxu to raise additional
capital on an immediate basis. Additionally, Nxu cannot provide any assurance that access to capital
will be readily available when needed. These matters,
among others, raise substantial doubt about Nxu’s ability to continue as
a going concern for a period of one year after the date hereof. The report of Nxu’s
independent registered public accountant on
its financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 also includes explanatory
language describing the existence
 of substantial doubt about Nxu’s ability to continue as a going concern. See Note 1 — Organization and Basis of
Presentation
of its accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included in Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the for the fiscal
quarter ended September 30, 2024 for further information.
 
If
Nxu is unable to satisfy its capital requirements, Nxu could be required to adopt one or more of the following alternatives: delaying
the implementation
of or revising certain aspects of its business strategy; reducing or delaying the development of its products; reducing
or delaying capital spending, product
development spending and marketing and promotional spending; entering into financing agreements
 on unattractive terms; significantly curtailing or
discontinuing operations, or dissolving and liquidating its assets under the bankruptcy
laws or otherwise.
 
There
 can be no assurance that Nxu would be able to take any of the actions referred to above because of a variety of commercial or market
 factors,
including, without limitation, market conditions being unfavorable for an equity or debt issuance or similar transactions. In
addition, such actions, if taken,
may not enable Nxu to satisfy its capital requirements if the actions that Nxu is able to consummate
do not generate a sufficient amount of additional
capital. If Nxu is ultimately unable to satisfy its capital requirements, Nxu would
likely need to dissolve and liquidate its assets under the bankruptcy laws
or otherwise.
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Nxu
may not achieve its projected goals in the time frames it announces and expects due to unforeseen factors, including rising interest
 rates and
inflation increasing the cost to do business.
 
Any
prospective valuation of Nxu at this stage is pure speculation. Nxu’s business success, timeline, and milestones are estimated.
Nxu’s sales volume and
cost models are only estimates. Nxu produced these valuations based on existing business models of successful
and unsuccessful efforts of other companies
within the technology and automotive industries. All such projections and timeline estimations
may change as Nxu continues in the development of electric
vehicle technology.
 
Nxu
has only started limited manufacture and sales. Cost overruns, scheduling delays, and failure to meet product performance goals may be
caused by, but
not limited to, unidentified technical hurdles and regulatory hurdles, which could materially damage Nxu’s brand,
business, financial goals, operation and
results.
 
Nxu’s
limited operating history makes it difficult for Nxu to evaluate its future business prospects.
 
Nxu
is a company with an extremely limited operating history and has not generated material revenue from sales of its products and services
to date. It is
difficult, if not impossible, for Nxu to forecast its future results, and Nxu has limited insight into trends that may
emerge and affect its business. In addition,
Nxu has engaged in limited marketing activities to date, so there can be no assurance that
customers will embrace its services in significant numbers at the
prices Nxu establishes. Market and geopolitical conditions, many of
which are outside of its control and subject to change, including general economic
conditions, the availability and terms of financing,
the conflict in Ukraine, Middle East, and Taiwan fuel and energy prices, regulatory requirements and
incentives, competition, and the
pace and extent of vehicle electrification generally, will impact demand for Nxu’s services, and ultimately its success.
 
Nxu
may not be able to successfully manage growth.
 
Nxu
could experience growth over a short period of time, which could put a significant strain on its managerial, operational and financial
resources. Nxu
must implement and constantly improve its certification processes and hire, train and manage qualified personnel to manage
such growth. Nxu has limited
resources and may be unable to manage its growth. Its business strategy is based on the assumption that
its customer base, geographic coverage and service
offerings will increase. If this occurs, it will place a significant strain on Nxu’s
managerial, operational, and financial resources. If Nxu is unable to manage
its growth effectively, its business will be adversely affected.
As part of this growth, Nxu may have to implement new operational, manufacturing, and
financial systems and procedures and controls to
expand, train and manage its employees, especially in the areas of manufacturing and sales. If Nxu fails to
develop and maintain its
people and processes, demand for its products and services and its revenues could decrease.
 
Nxu’s
business is currently entirely dependent on the success of the NxuOne™ Charging Network. Nxu’s lack of business diversification
could cause
its stockholders to lose all or some of their investment if Nxu is unable to generate revenues from the NxuOne™ Charging
Network.
 
Nxu’s
business is currently entirely dependent on the success of the NxuOne™ Charging Network and related products. Nxu does not have
any other lines
of business or other sources of revenue if it is unable to compete effectively in the marketplace. Nxu cannot guarantee
 that the NxuOne™ Charging
Network will be able to achieve profitability alone. Nxu’s ability to be profitable will depend
on a number of factors, many of which are beyond Nxu’s
control. This lack of business diversification could cause you to lose all
or some of your investment if Nxu is unable to generate revenues since Nxu does
not expect to have any other lines of business or alternative
revenue sources.
 
Nxu’s
estimates of market opportunity and forecasts of market growth may prove to be inaccurate.
 
Estimates
 of future electric vehicle (“EV”) adoption in the U.S., the total addressable market, serviceable addressable market for
 Nxu’s products and
services and the EV market in general are included in Nxu’s most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K. Market
opportunity estimates and growth forecasts,
whether obtained from third-party sources or developed internally, are subject to significant
uncertainty and are based on assumptions and estimates that
may prove to be inaccurate. Such uncertainty is enhanced by the prevailing
geopolitical and macroeconomic environment. Nxu’s internal estimates relating
to the size and expected growth of the target market,
market demand, EV adoption across individual market verticals and use cases, capacity of automotive
and battery original equipment manufacturers
(“OEMs”) and ability of charging infrastructure to address this demand and related pricing may also prove to
be inaccurate.
 In particular, estimates regarding the current and projected market opportunity for public and commercial fast charging and future fast
charging throughput or Nxu market share capture are difficult to predict. The estimated addressable market may not materialize in the
timeframe of Nxu’s
internal projections, if ever and even if the markets meet the size estimates and growth estimates presented,
Nxu’s business could fail to grow at similar
rates.
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The
success of Nxu’s business depends on attracting and retaining a large number of customers. If Nxu is unable to do so, Nxu will
not be able to
achieve profitability.
 
Nxu’s
success depends on attracting a large number of potential customers to purchase services Nxu provides to its customers. If Nxu’s
customers do not
perceive its services to be of sufficiently high value and quality, cost competitive and appealing in performance, Nxu
may not be able to retain or attract
new customers, and its business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations, and cash
flows would suffer as a result. In addition, Nxu may incur
significantly higher and more sustained advertising and promotional expenditures
 than it has previously incurred to attract customers. Nxu may not be
successful in attracting and retaining a large number of customers.
If Nxu is not able to attract and maintain customers, its business, prospects, financial
condition, results of operations, and cash flows
would be materially harmed.
 
Nxu’s
growth and success are highly correlated with and thus dependent upon the continuing rapid adoption of and demand for EVs and OEMs’
ability to supply such EVs to the market.
 
Nxu’s
 future growth is highly dependent upon the adoption of EVs by businesses and consumers. The market for EVs is still rapidly evolving,
characterized by rapidly changing technologies, competitive pricing and competitive factors, evolving government regulation and industry
standards and
changing consumer demands and behaviors, changing levels of concern related to environmental issues and governmental initiatives
 related to energy
independence, climate change and the environment generally. Although demand for EVs has grown in recent years,
 there is no guarantee of continuing
future demand. If the market for EVs develops more slowly than expected, or if demand for EVs decreases,
Nxu’s business, prospects, financial condition
and operating results would be harmed. The market for EVs could be affected by numerous
factors, such as:
 

● perceptions
about EV features, quality, safety, performance and cost;
 

● perceptions
about the limited range over which EVs may be driven on a single battery charge;
 

● competition,
including from other types of alternative fuel vehicles, plug-in hybrid electric vehicles
and high fuel-economy internal combustion
engine vehicles;

 
● volatility
in the cost of oil and gasoline, including as a result of trade restrictions;

 
● concerns
regarding the reliability and stability of the electrical grid;

 
● the
change in an EV battery’s ability to hold a charge over time;

 
● the
availability and reliability of a national electric vehicle charging network or infrastructure;

 
● availability
of maintenance and repair services for EVs;

 
● consumers’
perception about the convenience and cost of charging EVs;

 
● increases
in fuel efficiency of non-electric vehicles;

 
● government
regulations and economic incentives, including adverse changes in, or expiration of, favorable
 tax incentives related to EVs, EV

charging stations or decarbonization generally;
 

● relaxation
of government mandates or quotas regarding the sale of EVs; and
 

● concerns
about the future viability of EV manufacturers.
 

In
addition, sales of vehicles in the automotive industry can be cyclical, which may affect growth in acceptance of EVs. It is uncertain
how macroeconomic
factors will impact demand for EVs, particularly since EVs can be more expensive than traditional gasoline-powered
 vehicles, when the automotive
industry globally has been experiencing a recent decline in sales. Furthermore, because fleet operators
often make large purchases of EVs, this cyclicality
and volatility in the automotive industry may be more pronounced with commercial
 purchasers, and any significant decline in demand from these
customers could reduce demand for EV charging and Nxu’s products and
services in particular.
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Demand
for EVs may also be affected by factors directly impacting automobile prices or the cost of purchasing and operating automobiles, such
as sales
and financing incentives, prices of raw materials and parts and components, cost of fuel and governmental regulations, including
tariffs, import regulation
and other taxes. Further, the automotive industry in general and EV manufacturing have experienced substantial
supply chain interruptions, resulting in
reduced EV production schedules and sales. Volatility in demand or delays in EV production due
 to global supply chain constraints may lead to lower
vehicle unit sales, which may result in reduced demand for EV charging solutions
and therefore adversely affect Nxu’s business, financial condition and
operating results.
 
Nxu
 generated revenue for the first time in 2023, but there is no assurance that it will be able to continue to generate revenue from the
 sale or
deployment of the NxuOne™ Charging Network or from the sale of other proprietary products.
 
In
2023, Nxu generated revenue for the first time in its history. The 2023 revenue was largely related to product deliveries from its proprietary
battery cell
and pack division. Nxu has since ceased electric vehicle battery development as it focuses its efforts on the NxuOne™
Charging Network. As such, the
bulk of its revenue in 2023 was non-recurring. Nxu expects that any source of revenue in 2024 will be
solely from the operation or sale of NxuOne™
Charging Stations. If it is unable to find customers to purchase its NxuOne™
 Charging Stations, it will not likely be able to meet or exceed its 2024
revenue estimates.
 
Nxu
has losses which it expects to continue into the future. There is no assurance its future operations will result in a profit. If Nxu
cannot generate
sufficient revenues to operate profitably or Nxu is unable to raise enough additional funds for operations, the stockholders
will experience a decrease
in value, and Nxu may have to cease operations.
 
Nxu
is a development-stage technology company that began operating and commenced research and development activities in 2016. As a recently
formed
“Development Stage Company”, it is subject to all of the risks and uncertainties of a new business, including the
risk that it may never generate product or
services related revenues. Accordingly, it has only a limited history upon which an evaluation
of its prospects and future performance can be made. If Nxu
is unable to generate revenue, it will not become profitable, and it may
 be unable to continue its operations. Furthermore, its proposed operations are
subject to all business risks associated with new enterprises.
The likelihood of its success must be considered in light of the problems, expenses, difficulties,
complications, and delays frequently
encountered in connection with the expansion of a business, operation in a competitive industry, and the continued
development of advertising,
promotions and a corresponding customer base. There can be no assurances that Nxu will operate profitably.
 
Nxu
 entered into the Merger Agreement in order to, among other things, potentially increase its liquidity. Assuming the Merger closes, the
 combined
company may ultimately fail, decreasing the liquidity of Nxu and stockholder value or cause Nxu to cease operations, and investors
would be at risk of
losing all or part of their investment in Nxu.
 
If
Nxu does not successfully establish and maintain itself as a highly trusted and respected name for electric vehicle-related technology,
Nxu may not
be able to retain quality talent or achieve future revenue goals, which could significantly affect its business, financial
 condition and results of
operations.
 
In
order to attract and retain a client base and increase business, Nxu must establish, maintain and strengthen its name and the services
it provides. In order
to be successful in establishing its reputation, clients must perceive Nxu as a trusted source for quality services.
If Nxu is unable to attract and retain clients
with its current marketing plans, it may not be able to successfully establish its name
and reputation, which could significantly affect its business, financial
condition and results of operations.
 
Nxu’s
ability to utilize loss carry forwards may be limited.
 
Generally,
a change of more than fifty percent (50%) in the ownership of a company’s stock, by value, over a three-year period constitutes
an ownership
change for U.S. federal income tax purposes. An ownership change may limit Nxu’s ability to use its net operating
loss carryforwards attributable to the
period prior to the change. As a result, if Nxu earns net taxable income, its ability to use its
 pre-change net operating loss carryforwards to offset
U.S. federal taxable income may become subject to limitations.
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Nxu’s
business could be adversely affected by a downturn in the economy and/or manufacturing.
 
Nxu
is dependent upon the continued demand for electric vehicles and electric vehicle charging capacity, making its business susceptible
to a downturn in
the economy or in manufacturing. For example, a decrease in the number of individuals investing their money in the equity
markets could result in a
decrease in the number of companies deciding to become or remain public. This downturn could have a material
adverse effect on its business, its ability to
raise funds, and ultimately its overall financial condition.
 
The
preparation of Nxu’s financial statements requires estimates, judgments and assumptions that are inherently uncertain.
 
Financial
 statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United  States (“GAAP”) typically
 require the use of
estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts. Often, different estimates, judgments and assumptions
could reasonably be used
that would have a material effect on such financial statements, and changes in these estimates, judgments and
assumptions may occur from period to period
over time. These estimates, judgments and assumptions are inherently uncertain and, if Nxu’s
estimates were to prove to be wrong, Nxu would face the risk
that charges to income or other financial statement changes or adjustments
 would be required. Any such charges or changes could harm its business,
including its financial condition and results of operations and
 the price of its securities. For a discussion of the accounting estimates, judgments and
assumptions that Nxu believes are the most critical
to an understanding of its consolidated financial statements and its business, see Part II, Item 7 of Nxu’s
Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 filed with the SEC on April 1, 2024 under the heading “Management’s Discussion
and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”.
 
Failure
to maintain internal controls over financial reporting would have an adverse impact on Nxu.
 
Nxu
 is required to establish and maintain appropriate internal controls over financial reporting. The standards required for a public company
 under
Section 404(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act are significantly more stringent than those required by Nxu as a privately held
company. Management may not
be able to effectively maintain adequate compliance, and Nxu’s internal controls over financial reporting
may not be effective, which may subject Nxu to
adverse regulatory consequences and could harm investor confidence. Failure to maintain
 controls could also adversely impact its public disclosures
regarding Nxu’s business, financial condition or results of operations.
In addition, management’s assessment of internal controls over financial reporting
may identify deficiencies and conditions that
 need to be addressed in Nxu’s internal controls over financial reporting or other matters that may raise
concerns for investors.
Any actual or perceived deficiencies and conditions that need to be addressed in Nxu’s internal control over financial reporting,
or
disclosure of management’s assessment of its internal controls over financial reporting may have an adverse impact on the price
of the Class A common
stock.
 
Continuing
or worsening inflationary issues and associated changes in monetary policy may result in increases to the cost of charging equipment,
other goods, services and personnel, which in turn could cause capital expenditures and operating costs to rise.
 
The
U.S. inflation rate increased during 2021, 2022, and 2023 and has remained elevated in 2024. These inflationary pressures have resulted
in and may
continue to result in, increases to the costs of charging equipment and personnel, which could in turn cause capital expenditures
and operating costs to rise.
Sustained levels of high inflation have likewise caused the U.S. Federal Reserve and other central
banks to increase interest rates, which could have the
effects of raising the cost of capital and depressing economic growth, either
 of which  —  or the combination thereof  —  could hurt the financial and
operating results of Nxu’s
business.
 
Nxu
needs to raise additional capital to meet its future business requirements and such capital raising may be costly or difficult to obtain
and could
dilute current stockholders’ ownership interest.
 
Nxu
has relied upon cash from financing activities and in the future, Nxu expects to rely on the proceeds from future debt and/or equity
financings, and
Nxu hopes to rely on revenues generated from operations to fund all of the cash requirements of its activities. However,
there can be no assurance that Nxu
will be able to generate any significant cash from its operating activities in the future. Future
financing may not be available on a timely basis, in sufficient
amounts or on terms acceptable to Nxu, if at all. Any debt financing
or other financing of securities senior to the Class A common stock will likely include
financial and other covenants that will
restrict Nxu’s flexibility.
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Any
 failure to comply with these covenants would have a material adverse effect on Nxu’s business, prospects, financial condition,
 and results of
operations because Nxu could lose its existing sources of funding and impair its ability to secure new sources of funding.
 However, there can be no
assurance that Nxu will be able to generate any investor interest in its securities. If Nxu does not obtain
additional financing, you could lose the entirety of
your investment in Nxu.
 
At
this time, Nxu has not secured or identified any additional financing. Nxu does not have any firm commitments or other identified sources
of additional
capital from third parties or from its officers, directors or other stockholders. There can be no assurance that additional
capital will be available to Nxu, or
that, if available, it will be on terms satisfactory to Nxu. Any additional financing will involve
dilution to Nxu’s existing stockholders. If Nxu does not
obtain additional capital on terms satisfactory to Nxu, or at all, it
 may cause Nxu to delay, curtail, scale back or forgo some or all of its product
development and/or business operations, or dissolve and
liquidate its assets under bankruptcy laws or otherwise. In such a scenario, investors would be at
risk of losing all or a part of any
investment in Nxu.
 
Nxu
relies on a limited number of suppliers and manufacturers for its charging stations. A loss of any of these partners could negatively
affect its
business or ability to manufacture and deliver NxuOne™ Charging Stations.
 
Nxu
relies on a limited number of suppliers to manufacture its charging stations, including in some cases only a single supplier for some
products and
components. This reliance on a limited number of manufacturers increases Nxu’s risks, since it does not currently
 have proven reliable alternatives or
replacement manufacturers beyond these key parties. In the event of interruption, including or resulting
 in a sudden failure by a supplier to meet its
obligation, Nxu may not be able to increase capacity from other sources or develop alternate
or secondary sources without incurring material additional
costs and substantial delays. Thus, Nxu’s business could be adversely
affected if one or more of its suppliers is impacted by any interruption at a particular
location.
 
As
 the demand for EV charging increases, Nxu’s suppliers and manufacturers may not be able to dedicate sufficient supply chain, production
or sales
channel capacity to keep up with the required pace of charging infrastructure expansion. By relying on contract manufacturing,
Nxu is dependent upon the
manufacturer, whose interests may be different from Nxu’s. For example, Nxu’s suppliers and contract
 manufacturers may have other customers with
demand for the same components or manufacturing services and may allocate their resources
based on the supplier’s or manufacturer’s interests or needs to
maximize their revenue or relationships with other customers
rather than Nxu’s interest. As a result, Nxu may not be able to assure itself that it will have
sufficient control over the supply
of key components, inventory or finished goods in a timely manner or with acceptable cost and expense, which may
adversely affect Nxu’s
revenue, cost of goods and gross margins. If Nxu experiences a significant increase in demand for its charging stations in future
periods,
or if it needs to replace an existing supplier, it may not be possible to supplement or replace them on acceptable terms, which may undermine
its
ability to deliver products to customers in a timely manner.
 
For
example, it may take a significant amount of time to identify a manufacturer that has the capability and resources to build charging
stations in sufficient
volume. Identifying suitable suppliers and manufacturers could be an extensive process that requires Nxu to become
satisfied with such party’s quality
control, technical capabilities, responsiveness and service, financial stability, regulatory
compliance, and labor and other ethical practices. Accordingly, a
loss of any significant suppliers or manufacturers could have an adverse
effect on Nxu’s business, financial condition and operating results. In addition,
Nxu’s suppliers may face supply chain risks
 and constraints of their own, which may impact the availability and pricing of its products. For example,
supply chain challenges related
to global chip shortages have impacted companies worldwide both within and outside of Nxu’s industry and may continue
to have adverse
effects on Nxu’s suppliers and, as a result, Nxu.
 
In
addition, in fiscal year 2023, Nxu became subject to requirements under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010
(the
“Dodd-Frank Act”) to diligence, disclose and report whether or not its products contain minerals originating from the
Democratic Republic of the Congo
and adjoining countries, or conflict minerals. Nxu may incur additional costs to comply with these disclosure
 requirements, including costs related to
determining the source of any of the relevant minerals and metals used in Nxu’s products.
 These requirements could adversely affect the sourcing,
availability and pricing of minerals used in the components used in Nxu’s
products. It is also possible that Nxu’s reputation may be adversely affected if it
determines that certain of its products contain
minerals not determined to be conflict-free or if it is unable to alter its products, processes or sources of
supply to avoid use of
such materials. Nxu may also encounter end-customers who require that all of the components of the products be certified as conflict
free. If Nxu is not able to meet this requirement, such end-customers may choose to purchase products from a different company.
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Unknown
 costs and risks may exist with the prolonged use of NxuOne™ Charging Network equipment and related systems, as the technology is
recently developed and has not been widely deployed.
 
As
the NxuOne™ Charging Station field trials commenced in the third quarter of 2023, Nxu does not know how its products will hold
up over prolonged
use. Since Nxu’s products have only been in use since September 2023, Nxu does not have any way to predict whether
its charging stations will remain
functional under heavy, persistent use. If the NxuOne™ Charging stations malfunction under heavy
use, Nxu will be forced to bear the costs of repairing or
replacing the equipment, and such costs could be substantial.
 
Nxu
is dependent upon the availability of electricity at Nxu’s current and future charging stations. Cost increases, delays and/or
other restrictions on
the availability of electricity would adversely affect Nxu’s business and results of Nxu’s operations.
 
The
operation and development of Nxu’s charging stations is dependent upon the availability of electricity, which is beyond Nxu’s
control. Nxu’s charging
stations are affected by problems accessing electricity sources, such as planned or unplanned power outages.
In recent years, shortages of electricity have
resulted in increased costs to users and interruptions in service. In particular,
California has experienced rolling blackouts due to excessive demands on the
electrical grid or as precautionary measures against the
risk of wildfire. In the event of a power outage, Nxu will be dependent on the utility company to
restore power. Any prolonged power
outage could adversely affect customer experience and Nxu’s business and results of operations.
 
Changes
in utility electricity pricing or new and restrictive constructs from regulations applicable to pricing may adversely impact future operating
results.
For example, some jurisdictions have required Nxu to switch from pricing on a per-minute basis to a per-kWh basis and other
jurisdictions may follow suit.
Utility rates may change in a way that adversely affects fast charging or in a way that may limit Nxu’s
ability to access certain beneficial rate schedules. In
addition, utilities or other regulated entities with monopoly power may receive
authority to provide charging services that result in an anti-competitive
advantage relative to Nxu and other private sector operators.
 
Nxu’s
 business is subject to risks associated with construction, cost overruns and delays and other contingencies that may arise in the course
 of
completing installations and such risks may increase in the future as Nxu expands the scope of such services with other parties.
 
Charger
 installation and construction is typically performed by third-party contractors managed by Nxu. The installation and construction of
 charging
stations at a particular site is generally subject to oversight and regulation in accordance with state and local laws and ordinances
relating to building codes,
safety, environmental protection and related matters and typically requires local utility cooperation in
 design and interconnection request approval and
commissioning, as well as various local and other governmental approvals and permits
that vary by jurisdiction. In addition, building codes, accessibility
requirements, utility interconnect specifications, review, approval
or study lead time or regulations may hinder EV charger installation and construction
because they end up costing the developer or installer
more in order to meet the code requirements. In addition, increased demand for the components
necessary to install and construct charging
stations could lead to higher installed costs. Meaningful delays or cost overruns caused by Nxu’s vendor supply
chains, contractors,
utility upgrades scope and delays, or inability of local utilities and approving agencies to cope with heightened levels of activity,
may
impact Nxu’s ability to satisfy the requirements under the build schedule and Nxu’s other contractual commitments, and
may impact revenue recognition in
certain cases and/or impact Nxu’s relationships, any of which could impact Nxu’s business
and profitability, pace of growth and prospects.
 
Working
with contractors may require Nxu to obtain licenses or require Nxu or Nxu’s customers to comply with additional rules, working
conditions and
other union requirements, which can add costs and complexity to an installation and construction project. If these contractors
are unable to provide timely,
thorough and quality installation-related services, Nxu could fall behind Nxu’s construction schedules
or cause customers to become dissatisfied with the
solutions Nxu offers. As the demand for public fast charging increases and qualification
requirements for contractors become more stringent, Nxu may
encounter shortages in the number of qualified contractors available to complete
 all of Nxu’s desired installations. If Nxu fails to timely pay Nxu’s
contractors, they may file liens against Nxu’s
owned or leased properties, putting Nxu’s occupancy or operations at risk.
 
Nxu’s
business model is predicated on the presence of qualified and capable electrical and civil contractors and subcontractors in the new
markets Nxu
intends to enter. There is no guarantee that there will be an adequate supply of such partners. A shortage in the number
of qualified contractors may impact
the viability of the business plan, increase risks related to the quality of work performed and increase
costs if outside contractors are brought into a new
market.
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In
addition, Nxu’s business is exposed to risks associated with receiving site control and access necessary for the construction of
the charging station and
operation of the charging equipment, electrical interconnection and power supply at identified locations sufficient
to host chargers on a timely basis. Nxu
generally does not own the land at the charging sites and relies on site licenses with site hosts
that convey the right to build, own and operate the charging
equipment on the site. Nxu may not be able to renew the site licenses or
retain site control. The process of establishing or extending site control and access
could take longer or become more competitive. As
the EV market grows, competition for premium sites may intensify, the power distribution grid may
require upgrading, and electrical interconnection
with local utilities may become more competitive, all of which may lead to delays in construction and/or
commissioning. As a result,
Nxu may be exposed to increased interconnection costs and utility fees, as well as delays, which may slow the pace of Nxu’s
network
expansion.
 
Nxu’s
 charging stations may be located in areas that are publicly accessible and may be exposed to vandalism or misuse by customers or other
individuals, which would increase Nxu’s replacement and maintenance costs.
 
Nxu’s
public chargers may be exposed to vandalism or misuse by customers and other individuals, increasing wear and tear of the charging equipment.
Such damage could shorten the usable lifespan of the chargers and require Nxu to increase its spending on replacement, maintenance and
insurance costs
and could result in site hosts reconsidering the value of hosting Nxu’s charging stations at their sites. In addition,
the cost of any such damage may not be
covered by Nxu’s insurance in full or at all and, in the event of repeated damage to Nxu’s
charging equipment, Nxu’s insurance premiums could increase
and it could be subject to additional insurance costs or may not be
able to obtain insurance at all, any of which could have an adverse effect on its business.
 
Nxu
does not own a transportation fleet, nor any fleet vehicles, and so may not be able to transport NxuOne™ Charging Stations once
produced. Cost
of third-party transport may be high and the risk of loss surrounding transport may be high or hard to predict.
 
Nxu’s
charging stations weigh several thousand pounds. There are inherent transportation risks associated with deployment and operation of
its charging
network. Nxu does not own a transportation fleet, so Nxu will have to hire a transportation company to transport the NxuOne™
 Charging stations to
deployment sites. Such transport may be incredibly costly, and Nxu has not been able to accurately predict or project
transportation costs. In addition to the
risk of losing control of the method of transportation, Nxu may not be able to adequately insure
 against loss during transport. There is a chance the
NxuOne™ charging stations are irrevocably damaged in transit. If Nxu is unable
to insure the NxuOne™ Charging Stations for transit, Nxu may be forced
to bear the full risk of loss.
 
A
significant interruption of Nxu’s information technology systems or the loss of confidential or other sensitive data, including
cybersecurity risks,
could have a material adverse impact on its operations and financial results.
 
Given
 Nxu’s reliance on information technology (its own and its third-party providers’), a significant interruption in the availability
 of information
technology, regardless of the cause, or the loss of confidential, personal, or proprietary information (whether Nxu’s,
 its employees’, its suppliers’, or its
customers’), regardless of the cause, could negatively impact its operations.
 While Nxu has invested in the protection of its data and information
technology to reduce these risks and routinely test the security
of its information systems network, Nxu cannot be assured that its efforts will prevent
breakdowns or breaches in its systems that could
adversely affect its business. Management is not aware of a cybersecurity incident that has had a material
adverse impact on Nxu’s
financial condition or results of operations; however, Nxu could suffer material financial or other losses in the future and Nxu is
not
able to predict the severity of these attacks. The occurrence of a cyber-attack, breach, unauthorized access, misuse, computer virus
or other malicious
code or other cybersecurity event could jeopardize or result in the unauthorized disclosure, gathering, monitoring,
misuse, corruption, loss or destruction of
confidential and other information that belongs to Nxu, its customers, its counterparties,
or third-party suppliers and providers that is processed and stored
in, and transmitted through, Nxu’s computer systems and networks.
 The occurrence of such an event could also result in damage to Nxu’s software,
computers or systems, or otherwise cause interruptions
or malfunctions in Nxu’s, its customers’, its counterparties’ or third parties’ operations. This could
result
in loss of customers and business opportunities, reputational damage, litigation, regulatory fines, penalties or intervention, reimbursement
or other
compensatory costs, or otherwise adversely affect Nxu’s business, financial condition or results of operations. As part
of Nxu’s regular review of potential
risks, Nxu analyzes emerging cybersecurity threats to Nxu and its third-party suppliers and
providers as well as Nxu’s plans and strategies to address them.
The Nxu board of directors, which has oversight responsibility
for cybersecurity risks, is regularly briefed by management on such analyses.
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Nxu
 is highly reliant on its networked charging solution and information technology systems and data, and those of its service providers
 and
component suppliers, any of which systems and data may be subject to cyber-attacks, service disruptions or other security incidents,
which could result
in data breaches, loss or interruption of services, intellectual property theft, claims, litigation, regulatory investigations,
 significant liability,
reputational damage and other adverse consequences.
 
The
implementation, maintenance, segregation and improvement of Nxu’s information technology systems in the form of its networked charging
solution
and internal information technology systems, such as product data management, procurement, inventory management, production
planning and execution,
sales, service and logistics, financial, tax and regulatory compliance systems, require significant management
time, support and cost, and there are inherent
risks associated with developing, improving and expanding Nxu’s core systems as
 well as implementing new systems and updating current systems,
including disruptions to the related areas of business operations. These
risks may affect Nxu’s ability to manage its data and inventory, procure parts or
supplies or manufacture, sell, deliver and service
products, adequately protect its intellectual property or achieve and maintain compliance with, or realize
available benefits under,
tax laws and other applicable regulations.
 
While
Nxu maintains information technology measures designed to protect it against intellectual property theft, data breaches, sabotage and
other external
or internal cyber-attacks or misappropriation, its systems and those of its service providers are potentially vulnerable
 to malware, ransomware, viruses,
denial-of-service attacks, phishing attacks, social engineering, computer hacking, unauthorized access,
 exploitation of bugs, defects and vulnerabilities,
breakdowns, damage, interruptions, system malfunctions, power outages, terrorism,
acts of vandalism, security breaches, security incidents, inadvertent or
intentional actions by employees or other third parties, and
other cyber-attacks. To the extent any security incident results in unauthorized access or damage
to or acquisition, use, corruption,
loss, destruction, alteration or dissemination of Nxu data, including intellectual property and personal information, or Nxu
products,
or for it to be believed or reported that any of these occurred, it could disrupt Nxu’s business, harm its reputation, compel it
 to comply with
applicable data breach notification laws, subject it to time consuming, distracting and expensive litigation, regulatory
 investigation and oversight,
mandatory corrective action, require it to verify the correctness of database contents, or otherwise subject
 it to liability under laws, regulations and
contractual obligations, including those that protect the privacy and security of personal
information. This could result in increased costs to Nxu and result
in significant legal and financial exposure and/or reputational harm.
 
Because
Nxu also relies on third-party service providers, it cannot guarantee that its service providers’ and component suppliers’
systems have not been
breached or that they do not contain exploitable defects, bugs, or vulnerabilities that could result in a security
 incident, or other disruption to, Nxu’s or
Nxu’s service providers’ or component suppliers’ systems. Nxu’s
ability to monitor its service providers’ and component suppliers’ security measures is
limited, and, in any event, malicious
third parties may be able to circumvent those security measures.
 
If
Nxu does not successfully implement, maintain or expand its information technology systems as planned, its operations may be disrupted,
its ability to
accurately and/or timely report its financial results could be impaired and deficiencies may arise in its internal control
over financial reporting, which may
impact its ability to certify its financial results. If Nxu identifies material weaknesses in the
future or otherwise fails to maintain an effective system of
internal control over financial reporting, this may result in material misstatements
contained within Nxu’s consolidated financial statements or cause Nxu to
fail to meet its periodic reporting obligations. Moreover,
Nxu’s proprietary information, including intellectual property and personal information, could be
compromised or misappropriated,
its reputation may be adversely affected if these systems or their functionality do not operate as expected and Nxu may
be required to
expend significant resources to make corrections or find alternative sources for performing these functions.
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Nxu
may have difficulty protecting its intellectual property.
 
Nxu’s
 pending patents and other intellectual property could be unenforceable or ineffective once patent reviews are completed. Nxu anticipates
 patent
review completion and patents issued in calendar years 2021, 2022, 2023, and 2024 based on the typical two-year process between
filing and issuing. Nxu
has continued to file patent applications throughout 2024 and plans to continue filing new patents over time.
Nxu has filed these patents privately and the
scope of what they cover remains confidential until they are issued. For any company creating
 brand new products, it is imperative to protect the
proprietary intellectual property to maintain a competitive advantage. There is no
doubt that a significant portion of Nxu’s current value depends on the
strength and imperviousness of these pending patents. Nxu
 intends to continue to file additional patent applications and build its intellectual property
portfolio as it discovers new technologies
related to the development of plug-in electric vehicles.
 
Nxu
believes that intellectual property will be critical to its success, and that Nxu will rely on trademark, copyright and patent law, trade
secret protection
and confidentiality and/or license agreements to protect its proprietary rights. If Nxu is not successful in protecting
its intellectual property, it could have a
material adverse effect on its business, results of operations and financial condition. While
Nxu believes that it will be issued trademarks, patents and
pending patent applications help to protect its business, there can be no
assurance that its operations do not, or will not, infringe valid, enforceable third-
party patents of third parties or that competitors
 will not devise new methods of competing with Nxu that are not covered by its anticipated patent
applications. There can also be no assurance
that Nxu’s patent applications will be approved, that any patents issued will adequately protect its intellectual
property, or
 that such patents will not be challenged by third parties or found to be invalid or unenforceable or that Nxu’s patents will be
 effective in
preventing third parties from utilizing a copycat business model to offer the same service in one or more categories. Moreover,
it is intended that Nxu will
rely on intellectual property and technology developed or licensed by third parties, and Nxu may not be
able to obtain or continue to obtain licenses and
technologies from these third parties at all or on reasonable terms. Effective trademark,
 service mark, copyright and trade secret protection may not be
available in every country in which Nxu’s intended services will
be provided. The laws of certain countries do not protect proprietary rights to the same
extent as the laws of the U.S.  and, therefore,
 in certain jurisdictions, Nxu may be unable to protect its proprietary technology adequately against
unauthorized third party copying
or use, which could adversely affect its competitive position. Nxu expects to license in the future, certain proprietary
rights, such
as trademarks or copyrighted material, to third parties. These licensees may take actions that might diminish the value of its proprietary
rights
or harm its reputation, even if Nxu has agreements prohibiting such activity. Also, to the extent third parties are obligated
to indemnify Nxu for breaches of
its intellectual property rights, these third parties may be unable to meet these obligations. Any of
 these events could have a material adverse effect on
Nxu’s business, results of operations or financial condition.
 
The
U.S. Patent and Trademark Office and various foreign governmental patent agencies require compliance with a number of procedural,
documentary,
fee payment and other provisions during the patent process. There are situations in which noncompliance can result in abandonment
or lapse of a patent or
patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. In such
an event, competitors might be able to enter the
market earlier than would otherwise have been the case, which could have a material
adverse effect on its business, results of operations and financial
condition.
 
Intellectual
property protection is costly.
 
Filing,
prosecuting and defending patents related to Nxu’s products and software throughout the world is prohibitively expensive. Competitors
may use
Nxu’s technologies in jurisdictions where Nxu has not obtained patent protection to develop their own products and, further,
 may export otherwise
infringing products to territories where Nxu has patent protection, but where enforcement is not as strong as that
in the U.S. These products may compete
with Nxu’s products in jurisdictions where Nxu does not have any issued or licensed
patents and Nxu’s patent claims or other intellectual property rights
may not be effective or sufficient to prevent them from so
competing. Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending
intellectual property rights in foreign jurisdictions.
 The legal systems of certain countries, particularly certain developing countries, do not favor the
enforcement of patents and other
intellectual property protection, particularly those relating to technology, which could make it difficult for Nxu to stop the
infringement
of Nxu’s patents or marketing of competing products in violation of Nxu’s proprietary rights generally. Proceedings to enforce
Nxu’s patent
rights in foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial cost and divert Nxu’s efforts and attention from
other aspects of Nxu’s business.
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Nxu
may face state and federal regulatory challenges, including environmental and safety regulations.
 
Nxu
is subject to numerous federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations governing, among other things, solid and hazardous
waste storage,
treatment and disposal, and remediation of releases of hazardous materials. There are significant capital, operating and
 other costs associated with
compliance with these environmental laws and regulations. Environmental laws and regulations may become more
 stringent in the future, which could
increase costs of compliance or require Nxu to manufacture with alternative technologies and materials.
 
Federal,
 state and local authorities also regulate a variety of matters, including, but not limited to, health, safety and permitting in addition
 to the
environmental matters discussed above. New legislation and regulations may require Nxu to make material changes to Nxu’s
 operations, resulting in
significant increases in the cost of production.
 
Nxu’s
manufacturing process will have hazards such as but not limited to hazardous materials, machines with moving parts, and high voltage
and/or high
current electrical systems typical of large manufacturing equipment and related safety incidents. There may be safety incidents
that damage machinery or
products, slow or stop production, or harm employees. Consequences may include litigation, regulation, fines,
increased insurance premiums, mandates to
temporarily halt production, workers’ compensation claims, or other actions that impact
Nxu’s company brand, finances, or ability to operate.
 
Nxu
is susceptible to risks associated with an increased focus by stakeholders and regulators on climate change, which may adversely affect
its business
and results of operations.
 
Climate-related
events, including the increasing frequency of extreme weather events and their impact on critical infrastructure in the United States
and
elsewhere, have the potential to disrupt Nxu’s business and those of its third-party suppliers, and customers, and may cause
Nxu to experience higher
attrition, losses and additional costs to maintain or resume operations. In addition, Nxu’s customers
may begin to establish sourcing requirements related to
sustainability. As a result, Nxu may receive requests for sustainability related
 information about its products, business operations, use of sustainable
materials and packaging. Nxu’s inability to comply with
 these and other sustainability requirements in the future could adversely affect sales of and
demand for its products.
 
Further,
 there is an increased focus, including by governmental and nongovernmental organizations, investors, customers, and other stakeholders,
 on
climate change matters, including increased pressure to expand disclosures related to material physical and transition risks related
to climate change or to
establish sustainability goals, such as the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions, which could expose Nxu to
market, operational and execution costs or
risks. Nxu’s failure to establish such sustainability targets or targets that are perceived
to be appropriate, as well as to achieve progress on those targets on a
timely basis, or at all, could adversely affect the reputation
of its brand and sales of and demand for its products. To the extent legislation is passed, such as
the final rules recently adopted
by the SEC with respect to enhanced and standardized climate-related disclosures, Nxu would incur significant additional
costs of compliance
due to the need for expanded data collection, analysis, and certification with respect to greenhouse gas emissions and other climate
change related risks. Nxu may also incur additional costs or require additional resources to monitor, report and comply with such stakeholder
expectations
and standards and legislation, and to meet climate change targets and commitments if established.
 
Risks
Related to the Electric Vehicle Industry
 
The
automotive market, specifically with respect to electric vehicles, is highly competitive, and Nxu may not be successful in competing
in this industry.
 
Both
the automobile industry generally, and the electric vehicle segment in particular, are highly competitive, and Nxu will be competing
for sales with
both electric vehicle manufacturers and traditional automotive companies. Many of Nxu’s current and potential competitors
may have significantly greater
financial, technical, manufacturing, marketing, or other resources than Nxu does and may be able to devote
greater resources to the design, development,
manufacturing, distribution, promotion, sale, and support of their products than Nxu may
 devote to its products. Nxu expects competition for electric
vehicles to intensify due to increased demand and a regulatory push for
 alternative fuel vehicles, continuing globalization, and consolidation in the
worldwide automotive industry, as well as the recent significant
 increase in oil and gasoline prices. In addition, as fleet operators begin transitioning to
electric vehicles on a mass scale, Nxu expects
 that more competitors will enter the commercial fleet electric vehicle market. Further, as a result of new
entrants in the commercial
fleet electric vehicle market, Nxu may experience increased competition for components and other parts of our vehicles, which
may have
limited or single-source supply.
 
Factors
 affecting competition include product performance and quality, technological innovation, customer experience, brand differentiation,
 product
design, pricing and total cost of ownership, and manufacturing scale and efficiency. Increased competition may lead to lower
 vehicle unit sales and
increased inventory, which may result in downward price pressure and adversely affect Nxu’s business, prospects,
financial condition, results of operations,
and cash flows.
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The
 EV charging market is characterized by rapid technological change, which requires Nxu to continue to develop new products and product
innovations. Any delays in such development could adversely affect market adoption of Nxu’s products and financial results.
 
Continuing
technological changes in battery and other EV technologies could adversely affect adoption of current EV charging technology, continuing
and
increasing reliance on EV charging infrastructure and/or the use of Nxu’s products and services. Nxu’s future success
will depend in part upon Nxu’s ability
to address the changing needs of the EV charging market. If Nxu is unable keep pace with
changes in technology, Nxu’s gross margins will be adversely
affected and Nxu’s prior products could become obsolete more
quickly than expected.
 
If
Nxu is unable to meet customer requirements on a timely basis or remain competitive with technological alternatives, Nxu’s products
and services could
lose market share, Nxu’s revenue will decline, Nxu may experience higher operating losses and Nxu’s business
and prospects will be adversely affected.
 
Changes
to fuel economy standards or the success of alternative fuels may negatively impact the EV market and thus the demand for Nxu’s
products
and services.
 
Regulatory
initiatives that required an increase in the mileage capabilities of cars and consumption of renewable transportation fuels, such as
ethanol and
biodiesel, have helped increase consumer acceptance of EVs and other alternative vehicles. However, the EV fueling model
is different from gasoline and
other fuel models, requiring behavior changes and education of businesses, consumers, regulatory bodies,
 local utilities and other stakeholders. Further
developments in and improvements in the affordability of, alternative technologies, such
as renewable diesel, biodiesel, ethanol, hydrogen fuel cells or
compressed natural gas, proliferation of hybrid powertrains involving
such alternative fuels, or improvements in the fuel economy of internal combustion
engine (“ICE”) vehicles, whether as the
result of regulation or otherwise, may materially and adversely affect demand for EVs and EV charging stations in
some market verticals.
 Regulatory bodies may also adopt rules that substantially favor certain alternatives to petroleum-based propulsion over others,
which
 may not necessarily be EVs. Local jurisdictions may also impose restrictions on urban driving due to congestion, which may prioritize
 and
accelerate micromobility trends and slow EV adoption growth. If any of the above cause or contribute to automakers reducing the availability
 of EV
models or cause or contribute to consumers or businesses no longer purchasing EVs or purchasing fewer of them, it would materially
and adversely affect
Nxu’s business, operating results, financial condition and prospects.
 
Nxu
has relied on complex machinery for its operations, and production involves a significant degree of risk and uncertainty in terms of
operational
performance, safety, security, and costs.
 
Nxu
 has relied heavily on complex machinery for its operations and its production involved a significant degree of uncertainty and risk in
 terms of
operational performance, safety, security, and costs. Nxu’s manufacturing plant consists of large-scale machinery combining
many components, including
complex software to operate such machinery and to coordinate operating activities across the manufacturing
plant. The manufacturing plant components
are likely to suffer unexpected malfunctions from time to time, and will depend on repairs,
spare parts, and IT solutions to resume operations, which may
not be available when needed. Unexpected malfunctions of the manufacturing
plant components may significantly affect operational efficiency. Operational
performance and costs can be difficult to predict and are
often influenced by factors outside of Nxu’s control, such as, but not limited to, scarcity of natural
resources, environmental
hazards and remediation, costs associated with decommissioning of machines, labor disputes and strikes, difficulty or delays in
obtaining
 governmental permits, damages or defects in electronic systems including the software used to control or operate them, industrial accidents,
pandemics, fire, seismic activity, and natural disasters.
 
Should
operational risks materialize, it may result in the personal injury to or death of workers, the loss of production equipment, damage
to manufacturing
facilities, products, supplies, tools and materials, monetary losses, delays and unanticipated fluctuations in production,
 environmental damage,
administrative fines, increased insurance costs, and potential legal liabilities, all which could have a material
adverse effect on Nxu’s business, prospects,
financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows. Although Nxu generally
carries insurance to cover such operational risks, Nxu cannot be certain
that its insurance coverage will be sufficient to cover potential
costs and liabilities arising therefrom. A loss that is uninsured or exceeds policy limits may
require Nxu to pay substantial amounts,
which could adversely affect its business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.
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The
electric vehicle technology industry is rapidly evolving and may be subject to unforeseen changes which could adversely affect the demand
for
Nxu’s chargers or other products and may increase its operating costs.
 
Nxu
may be unable to keep up with changes in electric vehicle technology or alternatives to electricity as a fuel source and, as a result,
its competitiveness
may suffer. Developments in alternative technologies, such as advanced diesel, hydrogen, ethanol, fuel cells, or
compressed natural gas, or improvements
in the fuel economy of the ICE or the cost of gasoline, may materially and adversely affect Nxu’s
business and prospects in ways Nxu does not currently
anticipate.
 
The
EV market currently benefits from the availability of rebates, tax credits and other financial incentives from governments, utilities
and others to
offset the purchase or operating cost of EVs and EV charging stations. The reduction, modification or elimination of such
benefits could adversely
affect Nxu’s financial results and ability to continue to grow.
 
The
U.S. federal government and some state and local governments provide incentives to end users and purchasers of EVs and EV charging
stations in the
form of rebates, tax credits and other financial incentives, such as payments for regulatory credits. The EV market relies
on these governmental rebates, tax
credits and other financial incentives to significantly lower the effective price of EVs and EV charging
stations. However, these incentives may expire on a
particular date, end when the allocated funding is exhausted, or may be reduced or
terminated as a matter of regulatory or legislative policy. In particular,
Nxu has historically benefitted from the availability of federal
tax credits under Section 30C of the Code, which effectively subsidized the cost of placing in
service Nxu’s charging stations.
The Inflation Reduction Act revised the credits under Section 30C of the Code to (i) retroactively extend the expiration of
the credit as of December 31, 2021 (with such credit continuing to be capped at $30,000 per location for EV charging stations placed
in service before
January 1, 2023) until December 31, 2032, (ii) revised the credit structure, availability and requirements
for EV charging stations placed in service after
December 31, 2022 and (iii) introduced the concept of transferability of tax
credits, providing an additional option to monetize such credits. As part of the
revised credit structure and requirements for EV charging
 stations placed in service after December  31, 2022, the available Section  30C credit was
expanded such that it is capped at
$100,000 per item; however, in order to be eligible for such tax credit, EV charging stations must be installed in rural or
low-income
 census tracts. Additionally, in order to receive the full tax credit, labor for EV charging station construction and maintenance must
 meet
prevailing wage and apprenticeship requirements unless an exception applies. There can be no assurance that the EV charging stations
placed in service by
Nxu will meet the revised requirements for the Section 30C credits and compliance with such requirements could
increase Nxu’s labor and other costs. Any
reduction in rebates, tax credits or other financial incentives available to EVs or EV
charging stations, could negatively affect the EV market and adversely
impact Nxu’s business operations and expansion potential.
In addition, there is no assurance Nxu will have the necessary tax attributes to utilize any such
credits that are available and may
not be able to monetize such credits on favorable terms.
 
Federal
 guidance on Buy America requirements (effective as of March  23, 2023) applicable to the National Electric Vehicle Infrastructure
 (“NEVI”)
Program, which was established by the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law, requires immediate domestic assembly and U.S. steel
requirements for chargers to
qualify for funding under the NEVI program, with higher domestic content percentages required in 2024. Nxu’s
 suppliers may experience delays in
bringing their U.S. facilities online, and Nxu may be unable to source Buy America-compliant
chargers in time to take advantage of early NEVI funding
opportunities or only at increased costs. Nxu may be at a disadvantage to competitors
 that have already implemented domestic assembly and content
standards into their supply chain. Nxu’s customers may request delays
or adjustments to their build-out plans in order to accommodate these added Buy
America requirements, which could result in delays in
receipt of revenue from customers.
 
New
 tariffs and policies that could incentivize overbuilding of infrastructure may also have a negative impact on the economics of Nxu’s
 stations.
Furthermore, new tariffs and policy incentives could be put in place that favor equipment manufactured by or assembled at American
factories, which may
put Nxu’s fast charging equipment vendors at a competitive disadvantage, including by increasing the cost
 or delaying the availability of charging
equipment, by challenging or delaying Nxu’s ability to apply or qualify for grants and
other government incentives, or for certain charging infrastructure
build-out solicitations and programs, including those initiated by
federal government agencies.
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Moreover,
a variety of incentives and rebates offered by the U.S. federal government as well as state and local governments in order to encourage
the use of
EVs may be limited or reduced. In particular, the U.S. federal government offers a tax credit, the maximum amount of
which is $7,500, for qualified new
plug-in EVs. The Inflation Reduction Act modified the tax credit for new plug-in EVs and added new
 tax credits for used and commercial EVs. The
Inflation Reduction Act removed the phase-out of tax credits for new plug-in EVs with respect
to vehicle manufacturers that reached certain production
levels beginning in 2023. However, the tax credit is subject to additional requirements
and limitations, such as certain adjusted gross income limits for
consumers claiming the credit, domestic content requirements for critical
minerals and batteries and a requirement for final assembly to occur in North
America. Such additional requirements and limitations for
 such tax credits may reduce incentives available to encourage the adoption of EVs; favor
competitors whose production chains enable them
 to more readily take advantage of such incentives; delay purchases and installations of charging
equipment by Nxu as manufacturing of
charging equipment is moved to the U.S. in order to expand eligibility for such incentives (which, in turn, could
delay Nxu’s
 recognition of revenue in connection with such stalls); increase the cost of procurement of some inputs in the construction of charging
infrastructure; and negatively affect the EV market and adversely impact Nxu’s business operations and expansion potential. Any
such developments could
have an adverse effect on Nxu’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
 
Nxu
has minimal experience servicing and repairing its charging stations. If Nxu or its partners are unable to adequately service its charging
stations,
Nxu’s business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows could be materially and adversely
affected.
 
Nxu
has minimal experience servicing and repairing its charging stations. Servicing its products requires specialized skills, including high
voltage training
and servicing techniques. Although Nxu is planning to internalize most aspects of vehicle service over time, initially
Nxu plans to partner with third parties
to enable nationwide coverage for its network. There can be no assurance that Nxu will be able
to enter into an acceptable arrangement with any such third-
party providers. There can be no assurance that Nxu’s service arrangements
 will adequately address the service requirements of its customers to their
satisfaction, or that Nxu and its servicing partners will
have sufficient resources, experience, or inventory to meet these service requirements in a timely
manner as the volume of charging stations
it deploys increases.
 
As
Nxu continues to grow, additional pressure may be placed on its customer support team or partners, and Nxu may be unable to respond quickly
enough
to accommodate short-term increases in customer demand for technical support. Customer behavior and usage may result in higher
 than expected
maintenance and repair costs, which may negatively affect its business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations,
and cash flows. Nxu also could
be unable to modify the future scope and delivery of its technical support to compete with changes in
the technical support provided by its competitors.
Increased customer demand for support, without corresponding revenue, could increase
costs and negatively affect Nxu’s results of operations. If Nxu is
unable to successfully address the service requirements of its
customers or establish a market perception that it does not maintain high-quality support, Nxu
may be subject to claims from its customers,
including loss of revenue or damages, and its business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations,
and cash flows could be
materially and adversely affected.
 
Product
recall could hinder growth and product liability or other claims could have a material adverse effect on Nxu’s business.
 
If
 the NxuOne™ Charging Station is unable to meet performance and quality criteria, Nxu may be required to perform product recalls
 to address said
concerns. A product recall can have a substantial cost related to performing such corrective actions. Although Nxu will
perform significant internal testing
and qualifications, as well as external qualifications through approved third-party vendors against
industry standards and regulatory requirements, there will
be unperceived conditions which may negatively impact the customer or Nxu
expected performance. As such, Nxu may perform a corrective action such as
a recall of products, mandatory repairs of defective components,
or litigation settlements which can materially affect its financial goals, operation results,
brand, business, and products. If Nxu is
unable to provide significant charging stations, its business success may be substantially affected.
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A
significant portion of Nxu’s success is its ability to deploy the appropriate number of charging stations, in strategic locations
relative to its customers and
customer behaviors. If Nxu is unable to deploy charging stations to specified locations, this may negatively
affect Nxu’s brand, business, financial goals,
operational results, and product success in the market. As such, to meet said availability
requirements, Nxu will require significant capital investments to
rapidly deploy said NxuOne™ Charging Stations, as well as development
of relationships with third party members who can assist in deployment of said
charging stations. If Nxu is unable to address service
requirements, Nxu may negatively affect its customer experience. Nxu’s ability to engage with third
party operating service stations,
 as well as its ability to establish company operated locations, will be critical to the success of developing a positive
customer experience.
 
While
Nxu will work diligently to meet all company and regulatory safety requirements, there is a chance that a component catastrophically
 fails. It is
possible that through unknown circumstances or conditions out of Nxu’s control, some person is injured by its product.
 
A
 successful product liability claim against Nxu could require Nxu to pay a substantial monetary award. Moreover, a product recall could
 generate
substantial negative publicity about its products and business. Nxu cannot provide assurance that such claims and/or recalls
will not be made in the future.
 
Nxu
is subject to substantial regulations and unfavorable changes to, or failure by Nxu to comply with, these regulations could substantially
harm its
business and operating results.
 
Nxu’s
charging stations are subject to regulation under international, federal, state, and local laws. Nxu expects to incur significant costs
in complying with
these regulations. Regulations related to the battery and electric vehicle industry are currently evolving and Nxu
faces risks associated with these changing
regulations.
 
To
the extent that a law changes, Nxu’s products may not comply with applicable international, federal, state, and local laws, which
would have an adverse
effect on its business. Compliance with changing regulations could be time consuming, burdensome, and expensive.
To the extent compliance with new and
existing regulations is cost prohibitive, its business prospects, financial condition, and operating
results would be adversely affected.
 
Internationally,
there may be laws and jurisdictions Nxu has not yet entered or laws Nxu is unaware of in jurisdictions Nxu has entered that may restrict
its
sales or other business practices. These laws may be complex, difficult to interpret and may change over time. Continued regulatory
 limitations and
obstacles that may interfere with Nxu’s ability to commercialize its products could have a negative and material
impact on its business, prospects, financial
condition, and results of its operation.
 
Nxu
is subject to requirements relating to environmental and safety regulations and environmental remediation matters which could adversely
affect its
business, results of operation and reputation.
 
Nxu
is subject to numerous federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations governing, among other things, solid and hazardous
waste storage,
treatment and disposal, and remediation of releases of hazardous materials. There are significant capital, operating and
 other costs associated with
compliance with these environmental laws and regulations. Environmental laws and regulations may become more
 stringent in the future, which could
increase costs of compliance.
 
Federal,
 state and local authorities also regulate a variety of matters, including, but not limited to, health, safety and permitting in addition
 to the
environmental matters discussed above. New legislation and regulations may require Nxu to make material changes to its operations,
 resulting in
significant increases in the cost of production.
 
Nxu’s
manufacturing process will have hazards such as but not limited to hazardous materials, machines with moving parts, and high voltage
and/or high
current electrical systems typical of large manufacturing equipment and related safety incidents. There may be safety incidents
that damage machinery or
products, slow or stop production, or harm employees. Consequences may include litigation, regulation, fines,
increased insurance premiums, mandates to
temporarily halt production, workers’ compensation claims, or other actions that impact
its company brand, finances, or ability to operate.
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Future
administrations at the federal and state level may create regulatory uncertainty for the alternative energy sector and may have an adverse
effect
on Nxu’s business, prospects, financial condition and operating results.
 
The
United States automotive industry is subject to certain federal and state regulations, and new regulations continue to be proposed to
address concerns
regarding the environment, vehicle safety, and energy independence. Consequently, the regulatory landscape can change
on short notice.
 
Available
government funding and economic incentives are subject to change for a variety of reasons that are beyond Nxu’s control, including
budget and
policy initiatives and priorities of current and future administrations at the federal and state level. Considering the waning
government support for adoption
of electric vehicle and clean energy initiatives during the first Trump Administration, the incoming
second Trump Administration could adversely affect the
growth of the commercial electric vehicle market and alternative energy sector,
 which could adversely impact Nxu’s business, prospects, financial
condition and operating results.
 
Risks
Related to Nxu’s Management
 
Nxu
is dependent upon its executives for their services and the loss of personnel may have a material adverse effect on Nxu’s business
and operations.
 
The
loss of the services of Nxu’s CEO, CFO, or President, Mr. Mark Hanchett, Ms. Sarah Wyant, or Mrs. Annie Pratt, respectively,
could have a material
adverse effect on Nxu. Nxu does not maintain any key man life insurance on its executives. The loss of any of its
executives’ services could cause investors
to lose all or a part of their investment. Its future success will also depend on Nxu’s
 ability to retain and motivate other highly skilled employees.
Competition for personnel in Nxu’s industry is intense. Nxu may
not be able to retain its key employees or attract, assimilate or retain other highly qualified
employees in the future. If Nxu does
 not succeed in attracting new personnel or retaining and motivating its current personnel, its business will be
adversely affected.
 
Nxu’s
management team does not have experience running a public company.
 
While
Nxu’s management team has a wide breadth of business experience, none of its executive officers have held an executive position
at a publicly
traded company. Given the onerous compliance requirements to which public companies are subject, there is a chance its
executive officers will fail to
perform at a level expected of public company officers. In such an event, Nxu’s share price could
be adversely affected. The management team’s limited
experience in dealing with the increasingly complex laws pertaining to public
companies could be a significant disadvantage in that it is likely that an
increasing amount of their time may be devoted to these activities
which will result in less time being devoted to the management and growth of Nxu. Nxu
may not have adequate personnel with the appropriate
level of knowledge, experience and training in the accounting policies, practices or internal control
over financial reporting required
of public companies in the United States. Nxu may upgrade its systems to an enterprise resource management system, and
a delay could
impact its ability or prevent it from timely reporting its operating results, timely filing required reports with the SEC and complying
with
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. The development of the standards and controls necessary for Nxu to achieve the level
of accounting standards
required of a public company in the United States may require costs greater than expected.
 
Management’s
judgment, estimates and assumptions have a significant impact on business decisions and accounting policies.
 
Nxu’s
management team is not infallible. Nxu relies heavily on its management team’s judgment in formulating the estimates and assumptions
that govern
its business decisions and accounting policies. Despite their best intentions, errors in Nxu’s management team’s
judgment may result in significant negative
impacts to Nxu’s financial performance.
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Nxu
relies on human resources, the loss of services of any of such personnel may have a material adverse effect on its business and operations.
 
Nxu
relies on its management team, its advisors, third-party consultants, third-party developers, service providers, technology partners,
outside attorneys,
advisors, accountants, auditors, and other administrators. The loss of services of any of such personnel may have
a material adverse effect on its business
and operations.
 
Limitations
of director liability and director and officer indemnification.
 
Nxu’s
Charter limits the liability of directors to the maximum extent permitted by Delaware law. Delaware law provides that directors of a
corporation will
not be personally liable for monetary damages for breach of their fiduciary duties as directors, except for liability
for any:
 

● breach
of their duty of loyalty to Nxu or its stockholders;
 

● act
or omission not in good faith or that involves intentional misconduct or a knowing violation
of law;
 

● unlawful
payments of dividends or unlawful stock repurchases or redemptions as provided in Section 174
of the Delaware General Corporation
Law; or

 
● transactions
for which the directors derived an improper personal benefit.

 
These
 limitations of liability do not apply to liabilities arising under the federal or state securities laws and do not affect the availability
 of equitable
remedies such as injunctive relief or rescission. The Nxu Bylaws provide that Nxu will indemnify its directors, officers
and employees to the fullest extent
permitted by law. The Nxu Bylaws also provide that Nxu is obligated to advance expenses incurred
 by a director or officer in advance of the final
disposition of any action or proceeding. Nxu believes that the Nxu Bylaw provisions
are necessary to attract and retain qualified persons as directors and
officers. The limitation of liability in the Nxu Bylaws may discourage
stockholders from bringing a lawsuit against directors for breach of their fiduciary
duties. They may also reduce the likelihood of derivative
 litigation against directors and officers, even though an action, if successful, might provide a
benefit to Nxu and its stockholders.
Nxu’s results of operations and financial condition may be harmed to the extent Nxu pays the costs of settlement and
damage awards
against directors and officers pursuant to these indemnification provisions.
 
Limitations
on remedies; indemnification.
 
Nxu’s
Charter, as amended from time to time, provides that officers, directors, employees and other agents and their affiliates shall only
be liable to Nxu
and its stockholders for losses, judgments, liabilities and expenses that result from fraud or other breach of fiduciary
 obligations. Additionally, Nxu
assumed certain indemnification agreements with each of its officers and directors consistent with industry
 practice. Thus, certain alleged errors or
omissions might not be actionable by Nxu. Nxu’s governing instruments also provide that,
under the broadest circumstances allowed under law, Nxu must
indemnify its officers, directors, employees and other agents and their
affiliates for losses, judgments, liabilities, expenses and amounts paid in settlement
of any claims sustained by them in connection
with Nxu, including liabilities under applicable securities laws.
 
Risks
Related to Nxu’s Capital Structure and Ownership of Class A Common Stock
 
Nxu
cannot predict the impact its dual class structure may have on its stock price.
 
Nxu
cannot predict whether its dual class structure will result in a lower or more volatile market price of the Class A common stock
or in adverse publicity
or other adverse consequences. For example, because of its dual class structure, Nxu will likely be excluded
from certain indexes, and Nxu cannot assure
you that other stock indexes will not take similar actions. Given the sustained flow of investment
funds into passive strategies that seek to track certain
indexes, exclusion from stock indexes would likely preclude investment by many
of these funds and could make the Class A common stock less attractive
to other investors. As a result, the market price of the
Class A common stock could be adversely affected.
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The
market price of the Class A common stock has fluctuated, and may continue to fluctuate, significantly.
 
The
market price of the Class A common stock has fluctuated, and may continue to fluctuate, significantly and Nxu’s stockholders
may lose all or part of
their investment.
 
The
market prices for securities of startup companies have historically been highly volatile, and the market has from time-to-time experienced
significant
price and volume fluctuations that are unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies. The market price of
the Class A common stock has
fluctuated, and may continue to fluctuate, significantly in response to numerous factors, some of which
are beyond its control, such as:
 

● actual
or anticipated adverse results or delays in its research and development efforts;
 

● its
failure to commercialize its Nxu Platform and Nxu Truck;
 

● unanticipated
serious safety concerns related to the use of its products;
 

● adverse
regulatory decisions;
 

● legal
disputes or other developments relating to proprietary rights, including patents, litigation
matters and its ability to obtain patent protection for
its intellectual property, government
investigations and the results of any proceedings or lawsuits, including patent or stockholder
litigation;

 
● changes
in laws or regulations applicable to the electric vehicle industry;

 
● Nxu’s
dependence on third party suppliers;

 
● announcements
of the introduction of new products by its competitors;

 
● market
conditions in the electric vehicle industry;

 
● announcements
concerning product development results or intellectual property rights of others;

 
● future
issuances of Nxu’s common stock or other securities;

 
● the
addition or departure of key personnel;

 
● actual
or anticipated variations in quarterly operating results;

 
● announcements
of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments
by Nxu or Nxu’s competitors;

 
● its
failure to meet or exceed the estimates and projections of the investment community;

 
● issuances
of debt or equity securities;

 
● trading
volume of Nxu common stock;

 
● sales
of the Class A common stock by Nxu or its stockholders in the future;

 
● overall
performance of the equity markets and other factors that may be unrelated to its operating
performance or the operating performance of its

competitors, including changes in market
valuations of similar companies;
 

● failure
to meet or exceed any financial guidance or expectations regarding development milestones
that Nxu may provide to the public;
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● ineffectiveness
of Nxu’s internal controls;

 
● general
political and economic conditions;

 
● effects
of natural or man-made catastrophic events;

 
● scarcity
of raw materials necessary for battery production; and

 
● other
events or factors, many of which are beyond Nxu’s control.

 
Further,
price and volume fluctuations may result in volatility in the price of the Class A common stock, which could cause a decline in
the value of Nxu’s
common stock. Price volatility of the Class A common stock might worsen if the trading volume of its shares
is low. The realization of any of the above
risks or any of a broad range of other risks, including those described in this “Risk
Factors” section could have a dramatic and material adverse impact on
the market price of the Class A common stock.
 
The
Class A common stock may be delisted from Nasdaq if Nxu does not maintain compliance with Nasdaq’s continued listing requirements.
If the
Class A common stock is delisted, it could negatively impact Nxu.
 
Continued
listing of a security on Nasdaq is conditioned upon compliance with various continued listing standards. On April 2, 2024, Nxu received
a notice
from Nasdaq stating that Nxu is not in compliance with the $1.00 minimum bid price requirement set forth in Nasdaq Listing Rule
5550(a)(2) for continued
listing on Nasdaq (the “Minimum Bid Requirement”). On October 1, 2024, Nxu received a second notice
from Nasdaq confirming that Nxu is still not in
compliance with the Minimum Bid Requirement as of September 30, 2024 and granting Nxu
an additional 180 days, or until March 31, 2025, to regain
compliance. Nasdaq’s determination is based on Nxu meeting the
 continued listing requirement for market value of publicly held shares and all other
applicable requirements for initial listing on the
Nasdaq Capital Market with the exception of the bid price requirement, and Nxu’s written notice of its
intention to cure the deficiency
during the second compliance period by effecting a reverse stock split, if necessary.
 
On
September 4, 2024, Nxu received a notice from Nasdaq notifying Nxu that, due to Ms. Nightengale not standing for re-election as a director
of Nxu at
Nxu’s 2024 annual meeting of stockholders held on August 14, 2024, Nxu was no longer in compliance with Nasdaq’s
audit committee requirements as set
forth in Nasdaq Listing Rule 5605. Nxu intends to appoint an additional independent director to the
Nxu board of directors and the audit committee of its
board of directors as soon as practicable and prior to the earlier of Nxu’s
next annual meeting of stockholders or August 14, 2025, or, if Nxu’s next annual
meeting of stockholders is held before February
10, 2025, by February 10, 2025.
 
No
assurances can be provided that we will regain compliance with the minimum bid price requirement or the audit committee requirement within
 the
required compliance periods.  If the Company’s Class A common stock ultimately were to be delisted for any reason, it could
 negatively impact the
Company by (i) reducing the liquidity and market price of the Company’s Class A common stock; (ii) reducing
the number of investors willing to hold or
acquire the Company’s Class A common stock, which could negatively impact the Company’s
ability to raise equity financing; (iii) limiting the Company’s
ability to use a registration statement to offer and sell freely
tradable securities, thereby preventing the Company from accessing the public capital markets;
and (iv) impairing the Company’s
ability to provide equity incentives to its employees. 
 
If
the market price of the Class A common stock continues to remain under $1.00 per share, the only cure may be to enact a reverse
split of the stock.
Failure to maintain compliance with Nasdaq’s Continued Listing Rules could be costly and have material adverse
effects.
 
Nxu
will continue to monitor the closing bid price of the Class A Common Stock and seek to maintain compliance with all applicable Nasdaq
requirements
within the allotted compliance periods and may, if appropriate, consider available options, including implementation of
an additional reverse stock split to
regain compliance with the Minimum Bid Requirement.
 
On
 December  27, 2023, Nxu completed a reverse stock split at a ratio of 1-for-150. If Nxu does not maintain compliance with the Minimum
 Bid
Requirement, Nxu may be forced to complete another reverse stock split, which could negatively affect the price of the Class A common
stock.
 
Further,
while Nasdaq rules do not impose a specific limit on the number of times a listed company may effect a reverse stock split to maintain
or regain
compliance with the Minimum Bid Requirement, Nasdaq has stated that a series of reverse stock splits may undermine investor
confidence in securities
listed on Nasdaq. Accordingly, Nasdaq may determine that it is not in the public interest to maintain Nxu’s
listing, even if Nxu regains compliance with the
Minimum Bid Requirement.
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In
addition, Nasdaq Listing Rule 5810(c)(3)(A)(iv) states that if a listed company that fails to meet the Minimum Bid Requirement
after effecting one or
more reverse stock splits over the prior two-year period with a cumulative ratio of 250 shares or more to one,
 then the company is not eligible for a
compliance period. Nxu has effected a reverse stock split with a cumulative ratio of 150 shares
to one. A subsequent reverse stock split could cause Nxu to
exceed the 1-for-250 ratio. If such ratio is exceeded, Nxu would no longer
be eligible for a compliance period and may be subject to an immediate delisting
notification in the event it cannot comply with the
Minimum Bid Requirement in the future.
 
Any
future non-compliance may be costly, divert management’s time and attention, and could have a material adverse effect on Nxu’s
business, reputation,
financing, and results of operation. A delisting could substantially decrease trading in the Class A Common
Stock, adversely affect the market liquidity of
the Class A common stock as a result of the loss of market efficiencies associated with
Nasdaq and the loss of federal preemption of state securities laws,
materially adversely affect its ability to obtain financing on acceptable
 terms, if at all, and may result in the potential loss of confidence by investors,
suppliers, customers and employees and fewer business
 development opportunities. Additionally, the market price of the Class A common stock may
decline further and stockholders may lose
some or all of their investment.
 
Nxu
does not anticipate dividends to be paid on the Class A common stock and investors may lose the entire amount of their investment.
 
A
dividend has never been declared or paid in cash on the Class A common stock and Nxu does not anticipate such a declaration or payment
 for the
foreseeable future. Nxu expects to use future earnings, if any, to fund business growth. Therefore, stockholders will not receive
any funds absent a sale of
the Class A common stock. Nxu cannot assure stockholders of a positive return on their investment when
they sell the Class A common stock, nor can Nxu
assure that stockholders will not lose the entire amount of their investment. Any
payment of dividends on its capital stock will depend on Nxu’s earnings,
financial condition and other business and economic factors
affecting Nxu at such a time as the Nxu board of directors may consider it relevant. If Nxu
does not pay dividends, the Class A
common stock may be less valuable because a return on its stockholders’ investment will only occur if the Class A
common stock
price appreciates.
 
Nxu
is an emerging growth company and a smaller reporting company within the meaning of the Securities Act, and if Nxu takes advantage of
certain
exemptions from disclosure requirements available to emerging growth companies and smaller reporting companies, this could make
its securities less
attractive to investors and may make it more difficult to compare its performance with other public companies.
 
Nxu
is an “emerging growth company” within the meaning of the Securities Act, as modified by the JOBS Act, and Nxu may take advantage
of certain
exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth
companies including, but not
limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations
regarding executive compensation in its periodic reports and proxy statements,
and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory
vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any
golden parachute payments not previously approved. As a result, Nxu’s stockholders may
not have access to certain information they
may deem important. Nxu could be an emerging growth company for up to five years, although circumstances
could cause Nxu to lose
that status earlier, including if the market value of the Class A common stock held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million
as of any
June 30 before that time, in which case Nxu would no longer be an emerging growth company as of the following December 31.
Nxu cannot predict
whether investors will find its securities less attractive because Nxu will rely on these exemptions. If some investors
find Nxu’s securities less attractive as
a result of its reliance on these exemptions, the trading prices of its securities may
be lower than they otherwise would be, there may be a less active trading
market for its securities and the trading prices of its securities
may be more volatile.
 
Further,
Section 102(b)(1) of the JOBS Act exempts emerging growth companies from being required to comply with new or revised financial
accounting
standards until private companies (that is, those that have not had a Securities Act registration statement declared effective
 or do not have a class of
securities registered under the Exchange Act) are required to comply with the new or revised financial
accounting standards. The JOBS Act provides that a
company can elect to opt out of the extended transition period and comply with the
requirements that apply to non-emerging growth companies but any
such an election to opt out is irrevocable. Nxu has elected not to opt
out of such extended transition period, which means that when a standard is issued or
revised and it has different application dates
for public or private companies, Nxu, as an emerging growth company, can adopt the new or revised standard
at the time private companies
adopt the new or revised standard. This may make comparison of Nxu’s financial statements with another public company
which is
neither an emerging growth company nor an emerging growth company which has opted out of using the extended transition period difficult
or
impossible because of the potential differences in accountant standards used.
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Additionally,
Nxu is a “smaller reporting company” as defined in Rule 10(f)(1) of Regulation S-K. Smaller reporting
companies may take advantage of
certain reduced disclosure obligations, including, among other things, providing only two years
of audited financial statements. Nxu will remain a smaller
reporting company until the last day of the fiscal year in which (1) the
market value of Nxu’s common stock held by non-affiliates exceeds $250 million as
of the end of the prior June 30th,
or (2) Nxu’s annual revenues exceeded $100 million during such completed fiscal year and the market value of Nxu’s
common stock held by non-affiliates exceeds $700  million as of the prior June  30. To the extent Nxu takes advantage of such
 reduced disclosure
obligations, it may also make the comparison of Nxu’s financial statements with other public companies difficult
or impossible.
 
Nxu
will incur significant additional costs as a result of being a public company, and its management will be required to devote substantial
 time to
compliance with its public company responsibilities and corporate governance practices.
 
Nxu
expects to incur increased costs associated with corporate governance requirements that are applicable to it as a public company, including
rules and
regulations of the SEC, under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Customer Protection Act of 2010,
and the Exchange Act, as
well as the rules of Nasdaq. These rules and regulations are expected to significantly increase its accounting,
legal and financial compliance costs and make
some activities more time consuming, including due to increased training of its current
employees and increased assistance from consultants. Nxu expects
such expenses to further increase after it is no longer an “emerging
 growth company.” Nxu also expects these rules and regulations to make it more
expensive for it to maintain directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance. As a result, it may be more difficult for Nxu to attract and retain qualified persons to
serve on
the Nxu board of directors or as executive officers. Furthermore, these rules and regulations will increase its legal and financial compliance
costs
and will make some activities more time-consuming and costly. Nxu cannot predict or estimate the amount of additional costs it
will incur as a public
company or the timing of such costs. In addition, its management team will need to devote substantial attention
to transitioning to interacting with public
company analysts and investors and complying with the increasingly complex laws pertaining
to public companies, which may divert attention away from
the  day-to-day management of Nxu’s business, including operational
 and sales and marketing activities. Increases in costs incurred or diversion of
management’s attention as a result of becoming
 a publicly traded company may adversely affect its business, prospects, financial condition, results of
operations, and cash flows.
 
Small
public companies are inherently risky and Nxu may be exposed to market factors beyond Nxu’s control. If such events were to occur
 it may
impact its operating results.
 
Managing
a small public company involves a high degree of risk. Few small public companies ever reach market stability and Nxu will be subject
 to
oversight from governing bodies and regulations that will be costly to meet. Nxu’s present officers have limited experience
in managing a fully reporting
public company, so Nxu may be forced to obtain outside consultants to assist it with meeting these requirements.
These outside consultants are expensive
and can have a direct impact on Nxu’s ability to be profitable. This will make an investment
in Nxu a highly speculative and risky investment.
 
The
Nxu Bylaws include forum selection provisions, which could limit its stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum
for disputes with
Nxu.
 
The
Nxu Bylaws require that, unless Nxu consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State
of Delaware (or, if
that court lacks subject matter jurisdiction, another federal or state court situated in the State of Delaware) will
be the sole and exclusive forum for (i) any
derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of its business, (ii)  any action
 asserting a claim of breach of a duty owed by any director, officer,
employee, agent or stockholder of Nxu to Nxu or its stockholders,
 (iii)  any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL or
(iv) any action asserting a claim governed
by the internal affairs doctrine. In addition, the Nxu Bylaws require that, unless Nxu consent in writing to the
selection of an alternative
forum, the federal district courts of the United States will be the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting
a
cause of action under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest
 in shares of Nxu’s
capital stock is deemed to have notice of and consented to the foregoing provisions.
 
These
forum selection provisions in the Nxu Bylaws may limit its stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes
with Nxu, which
may discourage such lawsuits against Nxu. Nxu cannot be certain as to whether a court would enforce these provisions,
and if a court were to find the
forum selection provisions contained in the Nxu Bylaws to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action,
Nxu may incur additional costs associated with
resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could harm its business, operating
results and financial condition. Furthermore, investors cannot waive
compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations
thereunder.
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Nxu may use equity incentives for employees,
advisors, directors, key consultants and select affiliates. Any issuance of stock upon the conversion of
options and/or incentive rights
will result in the dilution of the ownership interests of its existing stockholders.
 
Nxu may use equity incentives for employees, advisors,
 directors, key consultants and select affiliates. Any issuance of stock upon the conversion of
options and/or incentive rights, including
settlement or exercise of incentive awards prior to or concurrently with the Merger, will result in the dilution of
the ownership interests
of its existing stockholders.
 
Nxu is subject to general securities investment
risks.
 
All investments in securities involve the risk
of loss of capital. No guarantee or representation is made that an investor will receive a return of its capital.
The value of the Class A
common stock can be adversely affected by a variety of factors, including development problems, regulatory issues, technical
issues, commercial
challenges, competition, legislation, government intervention, industry developments and trends, and general business and economic
conditions.
 
A sale, or the perception of future sales,
of a substantial number of shares of Class A common stock may cause the share prices to decline.
 
If Nxu’s stockholders sell, or the market
perceives that Nxu’s stockholders intend to sell for various reasons, substantial amounts of the Class A common
stock in the
public market, including shares issued in connection with the exercise of outstanding options, the market price of its shares could fall.
Sales of
a substantial number of shares of the Class A common stock may make it more difficult for Nxu to sell equity or equity-related
securities in the future at a
time and price that Nxu deems reasonable or appropriate. Nxu may become involved in securities class action
litigation that could divert management’s
attention and harm its business. The stock markets have from time-to-time experienced
significant price and volume fluctuations that have affected the
market prices for the common stock of automotive companies. These broad
market fluctuations may cause the market price of the Class A common stock
to decline. In the past, securities class action litigation
has often been brought against a company following a decline in the market price of a company’s
securities. Nxu may become involved
in this type of litigation in the future. Litigation often is expensive and diverts management’s attention and resources,
which
could adversely affect its business.
 
Nxu’s quarterly operating results
may fluctuate.
 
Nxu expects its operating results to be subject
 to quarterly fluctuations. Nxu’s net loss and other operating results will be affected by numerous factors,
including:

 
● any intellectual property infringement lawsuit in which Nxu
may become involved;

 
● regulatory developments affecting its products and related
services; and

 
● Nxu’s execution of any collaborative, licensing or
 similar arrangements, and the timing of payments Nxu may make or receive under these

arrangements.
 
If Nxu’s quarterly operating results fall
below the expectations of investors or securities analysts, the price of the Class A common stock could decline
substantially. Furthermore,
 any quarterly fluctuations in its operating results may, in turn, cause the price of the Class A common stock to fluctuate
substantially.
 
Unfavorable securities industry reports
could have a negative effect on Nxu’s share price.
 
Any trading market for the Class A common
stock will be influenced in part by any research reports that securities industry analysts publish about Nxu.
Should one or more of such
analysts downgrade Nxu’s securities, or otherwise reports on Nxu unfavorably, or discontinues coverage, the market price and
market
trading volume of the Class A common stock could be negatively affected.
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THE PRIVATE PLACEMENT

 
PIPE Securities Purchase Agreement
 
On December 26, 2024,
 the Company entered into, and consummated the transactions contemplated by, the Securities Purchase Agreement with the
purchasers named
 therein (the “Investors”). Pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement, the Company will sell to the Investors an aggregate
 of (i)
6,800,000 shares (the “Purchased Shares”) of Class A common stock, (ii) pre-funded warrants to purchase 5,200,000 shares
of Class A common stock (the
“Pre-Funded Warrants”), (iii) Series A warrants to purchase up to 6,000,000 shares of Class A
common stock (the “Series A Warrants”), and (iv) Series B
warrants to purchase a number of shares of Class A common stock
(the “Series B Warrants” and together with the Pre-Funded Warrants and the Series A
Warrants, the “Warrants”).
 The Purchased Shares, the Warrants and the shares of Class A common stock issuable upon exercise of the Warrants are
collectively referred
to herein as the “Securities.” The aggregate offering price for the Purchased Shares and the Warrants sold in the Private
Placement was
approximately $3,000,000.
 
The Pre-Funded Warrants
are exercisable immediately following the date of issuance, may be exercised at any time until all of the Pre-Funded Warrants are
exercised
 in full, and have an initial exercise price of $0.0001 per share, subject to adjustment. The Series A Warrants and the Series B Warrants
 are
exercisable upon receipt of approval of the Company’s stockholders relating to the issuance of the shares of Class A common
stock underlying the Series A
Warrants and the Series B Warrants as required by the rules and regulations of The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC
(the “Stockholder Consent”). The Series A
Warrants have an exercise price of $0.50, subject to adjustment. In addition, with
 respect to the Series A Warrants, the Investors may also effect an
“alternative cashless exercise” after the Stockholder Consent
has been obtained but prior to the time of the closing of the merger (the “Automatic Exercise
Time”) contemplated by the Merger
Agreement. In such event, the aggregate number of shares of Common Stock issuable in such alternative cashless
exercise of the Series
A Warrants will equal the product of (i) the aggregate number of shares of Common Stock that would be issuable upon exercise of
such Series A Warrant in accordance with the terms of such Series A Warrant if such exercise were by means of a cash exercise rather than
a cashless
exercise, multiplied by (ii) 1.0. The Series A Warrants contain a reset adjustment that is expected to occur on the date
(the “Reset Date”) that is the eighth
trading day after the effectiveness of the Registration Statement (as defined below)
or, if later, the eighth trading day after the Stockholder Consent is
obtained. The reset price means the greater of (i) 80% of the lowest
daily weighted average price (as defined) and (ii) a floor price of $0.0524 (subject to
adjustment). If the exercise price of the Series
A Warrants is reduced pursuant to the reset provisions, the number of shares of Common Stock for which the
Series A Warrants can be exercised
 will be correspondingly increased. The number of shares of Common Stock for which the Series B Warrants can
initially be exercised will
 be determined on the Reset Date and will equal that number obtained by subtracting (i) the number of Purchased Shares
purchased by the
Investors on the closing date of the Private Placement pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement from (ii) the quotient obtained by
dividing (x) the aggregate purchase price paid the Investors on the closing date for the Private Placement by (y) the applicable reset
price determined on the
Reset Date. The Series B Warrants have an exercise price of $0.0001 per share, subject to adjustment. As a result
of the reset provisions in the Series A
Warrants and the provisions for determining the number of shares of Common Stock into which the
Series B Warrants may be exercised, the number of
shares into which the Warrants will be exercisable following the Reset Date may be significantly
greater than the number of shares into which the Warrants
are exercisable on the closing date of the Private Placement.
 
A holder may not exercise
any Pre-Funded Warrants or Series A Warrants that would cause the aggregate number of shares of Class A common stock
beneficially owned
 by the holder to exceed 4.99% (or 9.99% at the election of the holder) of the Company’s outstanding Class A common stock
immediately
after exercise. A holder may not exercise any Series B Warrant that would cause the aggregate number of shares of Class A common stock
beneficially owned by the holder to exceed 4.99% of the Company’s outstanding Class A common stock immediately after exercise (the
 “Beneficial
Ownership Limitation”). The Warrants are subject to adjustment in the event of certain stock dividends and distributions,
stock splits, stock combinations,
reclassifications or similar events affecting the Class A common stock and also upon any distributions
 for no consideration of assets to the Company’s
stockholders. The Warrants do not entitle the holders thereof to any voting rights
 or any of the other rights or privileges to which holders of Class A
common stock are entitled.
 

35



 

 
In the event of a “Fundamental
 Transaction,” which term is defined in the respective Warrants and generally includes (i) the Company, directly or
indirectly, in
one or more related transactions effecting any merger or consolidation of the Company with or into another Subject Entity (as defined
in the
respective Warrants) whether or not the Company is the surviving entity, (ii) the Company, directly or indirectly, effecting any
sale, assignment, transfer,
conveyance or other disposition of all or substantially all of the Company’s (or any of its “significant
 subsidiaries”) assets in one or a series of related
transactions, (iii) any, direct or indirect, purchase offer, tender offer or
 exchange offer (whether by the Company or another Subject Entity) completed
pursuant to which holders of Class A common stock are permitted
to sell, tender or exchange their shares for other securities, cash or property and has been
accepted by the holders of at least 50% of
the outstanding shares of Class A common stock, (iv) the Company, directly or indirectly, in one or more related
transactions consummating
 a stock purchase agreement or other business combination (including, without limitation, a reorganization, recapitalization,
spin-off,
merger or scheme of arrangement) with one or more Subject Entities whereby all such Subject Entities, individually or in the aggregate,
acquires
at least 50% of the outstanding shares of Class A common stock, or (v) the Company, directly or indirectly, in one or more related
transactions with one or
more Subject Entities effecting any reclassification, reorganization or recapitalization of the Class A common
stock or any compulsory share exchange
pursuant to which all such Subject Entities, individually or in the aggregate, acquire at least
50% of the outstanding shares of Class A common stock, the
holders of the Warrants will be entitled to receive upon exercise of such Warrants
the kind and amount of securities, cash or other property that the holders
would have received had they exercised such Warrants immediately
 prior to such Fundamental Transaction. Notwithstanding, the term “Fundamental
Transaction” does not include the Company’s
pending Merger with Verde pursuant to the Merger Agreement.
 
Any portion of the Series
A Warrants and Series B Warrants that is not exercised as of the Automatic Exercise Time will be automatically exercised as of
such Automatic
 Exercise Time (concurrently with the closing of the merger contemplated by the Merger Agreement) pursuant to a cashless exercise,
subject
to (i) Stockholder Consent is received and effective through such exercise time and (ii) the Beneficial Ownership Limitation. Any portion
of the
Pre-Funded Warrants that is not exercised as of the Automatic Exercise Time will be automatically exercised as of such Automatic
Exercise Time pursuant
to a cashless exercise, subject to t the Beneficial Ownership Limitation.
 
Pursuant to an engagement letter between the Company
and Maxim Group LLC (the “Placement Agent”), the Company will pay the Placement Agent a
cash fee at closing equal to 7.0%
of the gross proceeds received by the Company in the offering, and will reimburse the Placement Agent for up to $50,000
for accountable
out-of-pocket expenses.
 
The foregoing descriptions of the Securities
Purchase Agreement and the Warrants do not purport to be complete and are qualified in their entirety by
references to the full text
of (i) the form of the Securities Purchase Agreement, which is filed as Exhibit 10.39 to our registration statement of which this
prospectus forms a part and is incorporated herein; (ii) the form of Pre-Funded Warrant, which is filed as Exhibit 10.36 to our
registration statement of
which this prospectus forms a part and is incorporated by reference herein; (iii) the form of Series A
Warrant, which is filed as Exhibit 10.37 to our
registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part and is incorporated by
reference herein; and (iv) the form of Series B Warrant, which is filed as
Exhibit 10.38 to our registration statement of which this
prospectus forms a part and is incorporated by reference herein.
 
Registration Rights Agreement
 
In connection with the Private Placement,
the Company also entered into a Registration Rights Agreement, dated December 26, 2024 (the “Registration
Rights
Agreement”), with the Investors requiring the Company to register the resale of the Purchased Shares and the shares of Class A
common stock
issuable upon exercise of the Warrants under a registration statement on Form S-3 (or a Form S-1 if the Company is not
then eligible to register for resale
such securities on Form S-3) (the “Resale Registration Statement”). The Company is
required to prepare and file the Resale Registration Statement with the
SEC as soon as reasonably practicable, but in no event later
than 30 days following the closing date of the Private Placement (the “Filing Deadline”), and to
use reasonable best
efforts to cause the Resale Registration Statement to be declared effective as promptly as practicable thereafter, and in any event
no
later than 50 days following the closing date of the Private Placement if the Resale Registration Statement is not subject to a
“full review” by the SEC and
70 days following the closing date of the Private Placement in the event of a full review
 of the Resale Registration Statement by the SEC (the
“Effectiveness Deadline”).
 
If the Company fails to meet the Filing Deadline
or the Effectiveness Deadline, subject to certain terms provided for in the Registration Rights Agreement,
the Company will be required
to pay liquidated damages to the Investors. The Registration Rights Agreement provides for customary indemnification and
contribution
provisions. In the event the Investors no longer hold “Registrable Securities,” as defined in the Registration Rights Agreement
or when the
Registrable Securities may be resold by the Investors pursuant to Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities Act (“Rule
144”), the Company may not be
obligated to cause the declaration of effectiveness of the Resale Registration Statement by the SEC.
 
The foregoing description of the
Registration Rights Agreement does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text
of the
form of the Registration Rights Agreement, which is filed as Exhibit 10.40 to our registration statement of which this prospectus
forms a part and is
incorporated by reference herein.
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Lock-Up Agreement
 
In addition, pursuant to certain “lock-up”
agreements (each, a “Lock-Up Agreement”) that were required to be entered into as a condition to the closing of
the Private
Placement, the Company’s executive officers and directors have agreed, for a period of 30 days from the earlier of (x) such time
as one or more
Resale Registration Statement(s) covering the resale of all Registrable Securities has been effective and available for
 the re-sale of all such Registrable
Securities, and (y) such time as all of the Registrable Securities may be sold without restriction
or limitation pursuant to Rule 144, not to engage in any of
the following, whether directly or indirectly, without the consent of the
Investors under the Purchase Agreement: offer, sell, contract to sell, hypothecate,
pledge or otherwise dispose of any shares of Common
 Stock or securities convertible, exchangeable or exercisable into, shares of Common Stock
beneficially owned, held or acquired by the
Investors.
 
The foregoing description of the Lock-Up Agreements
does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the
form of Lock-Up Agreement, which
 is filed as Exhibit 10.41 to our registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part and is incorporated by
reference herein. 
 
Voting Agreement
 
In addition, each of Mark Hanchett, Annie Pratt,
Britt Ide, Jessica Billingsley and Sarah Wyant agreed to enter into voting agreements (each a “Voting
Agreement”) to vote
all shares of the Company voting stock over which each such individual has voting control in favor of any resolution presented to the
shareholders of the Company to approve the terms and exercise of the Series A warrant and Series B warrant to comply with the applicable
 rules and
regulations of the Nasdaq Stock Market.
 
The foregoing description of the Voting Agreements
does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the form
of Voting Agreement, which
is filed as Exhibit 10.42 to this Report and is incorporated by reference herein.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

 
We will not receive any proceeds from the resale,
if any, of the Registrable Securities by the selling stockholders.
 
We will pay the expenses of registration of the
Registrable Securities covered by this prospectus, including legal and accounting fees.
 
The prices at which the Registrable Securities
may actually be sold will be determined by the prevailing public market price for shares of our Class A
common stock, by negotiations
between the selling stockholders and buyers of our Class A common stock in private transactions or as otherwise described
in “Plan
of Distribution.”
 

SECURITIES MARKET
INFORMATION
 
Market Information
 
Nxu’s Class A common stock is listed for
 trading on Nasdaq under the symbol “NXU.” As of December 26, 2024, the closing price of our Class A
common stock as reported
on Nasdaq was $0.262.
 
Holders
 
As of December 23, 2024, there were 16,937 holders
of record of our Class A common stock.
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UNAUDITED PRO
FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 
The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined
financial information and the accompanying notes (the “pro forma financial information”) are
presented to illustrate the estimated
 effects of the anticipated merger between Nxu, Inc. (“Nxu”) and Verde Bioresins, Inc. (“Verde”) pursuant to an
Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) entered into by both parties on October 23, 2024. The merger between
 Nxu and Verde is
accounted for as a reverse acquisition, where Verde, the legal acquiree, is determined to be the accounting acquirer
of Nxu. Refer to Note 1.
 
The following transactions are expected to occur in accordance with
the Merger Agreement:

 
● Nxu Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly owned
subsidiary of Nxu (“Merger Sub I”) will merge with and into Verde (the “First

Merger”), with Verde continuing
as the surviving entity as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Nxu. and (ii) immediately following the First Merger (the
“Effective Time”),
Verde will merge within and into Nxu Merger Sub, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Second Merger”, and
together
with the First Merger, the “Merger”), with Merger Sub II surviving the Second Merger as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Nxu.

 
● Immediately prior to the Effective Time, all outstanding
convertible notes of Verde will be converted into shares of Verde common stock and all

outstanding and unexercised Verde warrants will
be exercised for shares of Verde common stock, and
 
● At the Effective Time, (a) each then-outstanding share of
Verde common stock, other than any cancelled shares and dissenting shares, will be

converted into the right to receive a number of shares
of Nxu common stock, and (b) each then-outstanding and unexercised Verde option to
purchase shares of Verde common stock, whether vested
or unvested, will be assumed by Nxu and converted into an option to purchase a number
of shares of Nxu common stock. The shares of Nxu
common stock that will be issued to Verde stockholders and the number of shares of Nxu
common stock underlying options that will be issuable
to Verde optionholders will be calculated using a formula in the Merger Agreement based
on the estimated enterprise value of each of
Verde and Nxu.

 
● Upon consummation of the transactions contemplated by the
Merger Agreement, it is expected that the current stockholders of Verde will own

approximately 95% of the post-Merger combined entity
(the “Combined Company”), and the current stockholders of Nxu will own approximately
5% of the Combined Company on a fully-diluted
 and as-converted basis. Following the Merger, the name of Nxu will be changed to “Verde
Bioresins, Corp.” and its common
stock will remain listed on the Nasdaq Stock Exchange.

 
The pro forma financial information has been prepared under the following
assumptions:

 
● The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet
of the Combined Company as of September 30, 2024 assumes that the Merger had

occurred on September 30, 2024.
 
● The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations
of the Combined Company for the year ended December 31, 2023 and

unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the
nine months ended September 30, 2024 assumes that the Merger had
occurred on January 1, 2023, the beginning of the earliest period presented.

 
The pro forma financial information has been compiled using, and should
be read in conjunction with the following:

 
● The audited consolidated financial statements and notes of
Nxu as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023 included in the Form 10-K filed

by Nxu with the Securities and Exchange Commission
 (the “SEC”) on April 1, 2024 and the unaudited condensed consolidated financial
statements for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2024 included in the From 10-Q filed by Nxu with the SEC on November 13, 2024,
both of which are incorporated by
reference into this information statement/prospectus; and

 
● The audited consolidated financial statements and notes of
 Verde BioResins as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023 and unaudited

condensed consolidated financial statements for the nine
 months ended September 30, 2024 included elsewhere in this proxy
statement/prospectus.

 
● The accompanying notes to the unaudited pro forma condensed
combined financial information;

 
The pro forma financial information is for informational
 purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of what the actual consolidated results of
operations and financial position of the Combined
Company would have been had the Merger taken place on the dates indicated, nor are they indicative of
future consolidated results of
operations or financial position of the Combined Company. The pro forma financial information is based on the information
available to
management at the time of preparation and assumptions that management believes are reasonable and supportable. The pro forma adjustments,
which are described in the accompanying notes, may be revised as additional information becomes available and is evaluated. It is likely
that the actual
adjustments upon the completion of the Merger will differ from the pro forma adjustments, and it is possible the differences
may be material.
 

39



 

 
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED BALANCE
SHEET

As of September 30, 2024
(in thousands)

 

   
Nxu, Inc.

(Historical)    

Verde
BioResins

(Historical)    

Transaction
Accounting

Adjustments 
(Note 3)    

Accounting
Adjustments 

(Note 3)     Notes  
Pro Forma
Combined  

                                   
ASSETS                             
Current assets:                             

Cash   $ 2,208    $ 227    $ 3,000    $ —    H   $ 5,435 
Accounts receivable     —      16      —      —          16 
Inventory     —      216      —      —          216 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    841      60      —      —          901 
Total current assets     3,049      519      3,000      —          6,568 

                                        
Property and equipment, net     1,922      2,538      —      —          4,460 
Assets held for sale     717      —      —      —          717 
Right-of-use assets, net     433      1,175      —      —          1,608 
Investment in Lynx     2,025      —      —      —          2,025 
Intangible assets, net     45      —      —      (45)   A     — 
Other assets     249      470      —      —          719 
Total assets   $ 8,440    $ 4,702    $ 3,000    $ (45)       $ 16,097 

                                        
LIABILITIES AND

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(DEFICIT)                                       

Current liabilities:                                       
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   $ 1,670    $ 3,614    $ 4,584      —    E   $ 8,394 

                    (1,817)     —    C       
                    343      —    H       

Variable share settled restricted stock
units     2,483      —      (2,483)     —    B     — 

Convertible notes, net of debt discount of
$0     —      10,625      (10,625)     —    C     — 

Current portion of operating lease
liability     869      363      —      —          1,232 
Total current liabilities     5,022      14,602      (9,998)     —          9,626 
                                        

Lease liability, net of current portion     52      891      —      —          943 
Convertible debt and warrant liability, at

fair value     16      —      (10)     —    D     6 
Total liabilities:     5,090      15,493      (10.008)     —          10,575 
                                        
Stockholders’ equity (deficit):                                       

Common Stock     1      32      —      10    F     44 
                    1      —    H       
Additional paid-in capital     281,061      23,752      2,483      —    B     47,359 
                    12,442      —    C       
                    10      —    D       
                    45           E       
                    —      (279,075)   F       
                    4,239           G       
                    2,656           H       
Accumulated deficit     (277,712)     (34,575)     (4,629)     —    E     (42,135)
                    —      279,020    F       
                    (4,239)     —    G       
Total stockholders’ (deficit) equity     3,350      (10,791)     13,008      (45)         5,522 
Total liabilities, convertible preferred stock

and stockholders’ equity (deficit)   $ 8,440    $ 4,702    $ 3,000    $ (45)       $ 16,097 

 
See accompanying notes to the unaudited pro
forma condensed combined financial statements.
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UNAUDITED
PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

For
the Year Ended December 31, 2023
(in
thousands, except share and per share data)

 

   
Nxu,
Inc.

(Historical)    

Verde
BioResins

(Historical)    

Transaction
Accounting

Adjustments
(Note 3)     Notes  

Pro
Forma
Combined  

                             
Revenue
- Battery systems and components   $ 494    $ —    $ —        $ 494 
Revenue
- Retail charging services     2      —      —          2 
Revenue
- Sales of PolyEarthylene Product     —      108      —          108 
                                 
Total
revenue     496      108      —          604 
                                 
Cost
of sales - Battery systems and components     1,013      —      —          1,013 

Cost
of sales - Retail charging services     2      —      —          2 
Cost
of sales - PolyEarthylene Product     —      60      —          60 
Depreciation     14      —      —          14 

                                 
Total
cost of revenue     1,029      60      —          1,089 
                                 
Gross
profit (loss)     (533)     48      —          (485)
Operating
expenses:                                

Research
and development     13,173      1,182      —          14,355 
General
and administrative     33,376      4,783      4,629    AA     47,027 

                    4,239    DD       
Selling
expenses     —      419      —          419 
Advertising     319      —      —          319 

                                 
Total
operating expenses     46,868      6,384      8,868          62,120 
                                 
Operating
loss     (47,401)     (6,336)     (8,868)         (62,605)
                                 
Other
income (expenses)                                

Interest
income (expense)     (73)     (5,776)     788    BB     (5,061)
Gain
(loss) on sale or disposal of property and equipment     18      —      —          18 
Warrant
expense     (1,020)     —      —          (1,020)
Gain
(loss) on convertible debt and warrant liability     8,265      —      —          8,265 
Gain
on bargain purchase     —      —      1,308    CC     1,308 
Other
income     33      —      —          33 

                                 
Total
other (loss) income, net     7,223      (5,776)     2,096          3,543 
Net
loss   $ (40,178)   $ (12,112)   $ (6,772)       $ (59,062)

                                 
Loss
per share, basic and diluted   $ (72.16)   $ (0.00)              $ (0.14)
Weighted
average number of common shares outstanding used in

computing loss per share:     556,826      3,243,321,874                 427,337,016 
 

See
accompanying notes to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements.
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UNAUDITED
PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

For
the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2024
(in
thousands, except share and per share data)

 

   
Nxu, Inc.

(Historical)    

Verde
BioResins

(Historical)    

Transaction
Accounting

Adjustments
(Note 3)     Notes  

Pro Forma
Combined  

                             
Revenue - Retail charging services   $ 17    $ —    $   —        $ 17 
Revenue - Sales of PolyEarthylene Product     —      50      —          50 

                                 
Total revenue     17      50      —          67 
                                 

Cost of revenue- Retail charging services     13      —      —          13 
Cost of sales - PolyEarthylene Product     —      27      —          27 
Depreciation     59      —      —          59 

                                 
Total cost of revenue     72      27      —          99 
                                 
Gross profit (loss)     (55)     23      —          (32)
Operating expenses:                                

Research and development     957      1,016      —          1,973 
General and administrative     13,204      2,759      —          15,963 
Selling expenses     —      462      —          462 
Advertising     56      —      —          56 

                                 
Total operating expenses     14,217      4,237      —          18,454 
                                 
Operating loss     (14,272)     (4,214)     —          (18,486)
                                 
Other income (expenses)                                

Interest income (expense)     72      (4,011)     845    EE     (3,094)
Impairment of long-lived assets     (1,128)     —      —          (1,128)
Impairment of held for sale assets     (794)     —      —          (794)
Impairment of investment in Lynx     (975)     —      —          (975)
Loss on operating lease cancellation     (266)     —      —          (266)
Gain (loss) on sale or disposal of property and equipment     (847)     —      —          (847)
Gain (loss) on convertible debt and warrant liability     49      —      —          49 
Other income     88      —      —          88 

                                 
Total other (loss) income, net     (3,801)     (4,011)     845          (6,967)
Net income (loss)   $ (18,073)   $ (8,225)   $ 845        $ (25,453)

                                 
Loss per share, basic and diluted   $ (1.75)   $ (0.00)              $ (0.06)
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding used in

computing loss per share:     10,349,618      3,243,321,874                 437,129,808 
 

See
accompanying notes to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements.
 

42



 

 
NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 
Note
1—Basis of Presentation
 
The
 pro forma financial information has been prepared in accordance with Article 11 of Regulation  S-X,  as amended by the final
 rule, Release  33-
10786 “Amendments to Financial disclosures about Acquired and Disposed Businesses” (“Article
11 of Regulation S-X”), and the assumptions set forth
herein. The pro forma adjustments include transaction accounting
adjustments, which reflect the application of required accounting for the Merger and
other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement.
Article 11 of Regulation S-X permits presentation of reasonably estimable synergies and other
transaction effects that have
occurred or are reasonably expected to occur (“Management’s Adjustments”). Nxu has elected not to present Management’s
Adjustments as the specificity of the timing and nature of such items is still under evaluation as of the date of this proxy statement/prospectus.
 
Accounting
for the Merger
 
The
 Merger is accounted for as a business combination and a reverse acquisition pursuant to Accounting Standards Codification Topic 805,  Business
Combinations (“ASC 805”), where Verde, the legal acquiree, is determined to be the accounting acquirer of
Nxu. based upon an evaluation of the following
primary factors:
 

● Immediately
following the Merger, former Nxu shareholders are expected to hold approximately 5% of the
voting rights on a fully diluted basis.
Former Verde shareholders are expected to hold approximately
95% of the voting rights on a fully diluted basis.
 

● Verde
surpasses Nxu in size as measured by enterprise value.
 

● Following
the Merger, it is expected that the board of directors will consist of seven total directors.
Six directors are to be appointed by former
Verde shareholders and one director is to be
appointed by former Nxu shareholders.
 

● Verde’s
existing senior management team will comprise the majority of the senior management of the
Combined Company.
 

● The
Combined Company’s headquarters will be located at Verde’s headquarters, the
Combined Company’s name will be Verde Bioresins, Corp.,
and the ticker symbol of the
Combined Company will be “VRDE.”

 
Under
the reverse acquisition method of accounting, the assets and liabilities of Nxu as of the closing date will be consolidated by Verde
at their respective
fair values, and the excess or shortfall of the purchase price consideration over the fair value of Verde’s
net assets will be recognized as goodwill or gain on
bargain purchase, respectively. Fair value is defined in Accounting Standards Codification
Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures  (“ASC
820”) as “the price that would be
 received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date.”
Fair value measurements can be highly subjective, and it is possible the application of reasonable judgment could develop different
assumptions
resulting in a range of alternative estimates using the same facts and circumstances.
 
Preliminary
purchase price consideration
 
The
accounting acquiree Nxu’s stock price is used to measure the consideration transferred in this reverse acquisition, as Nxu’s
stock price is more reliably
measurable than the value of the equity interest of the accounting acquirer Verde, which is a privately
held entity.
 
The
preliminary expected consideration transferred is $4.5 million which is calculated as (i) the product of Nxu’s closing stock price
as of December 16,
2024 and (ii) the sum of (a) Nxu shares issued and outstanding as of December 16, 2024 and (b) Nxu shares expected
to be issued related to the variable
share settled restricted units on Nxu’s consolidated condensed balance sheet as of September
30, 2024.
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The
purchase price consideration applied in the pro forma financial information is preliminary and subject to modification based on the final
purchase
price, which includes any changes to the value of Nxu, Inc.’s stock. This will likely result in a difference from the
preliminary purchase consideration
calculated above, and that difference may be material. For example, with other assumptions held constant,
an increase or decrease of 20% in the price per
Nxu, Inc. common stock will produce the following purchase price consideration and the
corresponding gain on bargain purchase (in thousands, except
stock price):
 

   
NXU share

price    
Purchase

price  
As presented   $ 0.23    $ 4,490 
20% Increase   $ 0.28    $ 5,389 
20% Decrease   $ 0.18    $ 3,592 
 
Preliminary
purchase price allocation
 
The
allocation of the purchase price consideration, including any related tax effects, is preliminary and pending finalization of various
estimates, inputs and
analyses used in the valuation assessment of the specifically identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired.
This preliminary determination is subject
to further assessment and adjustments pending additional information sharing between the parties,
more detailed third-party appraisals, and other potential
adjustments.
 
The
unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information reflects a gain on bargain purchase because the estimated fair value of
the identifiable
net assets acquired exceeds the estimated preliminary purchase price consideration. Since the pro forma financial information
has been prepared based on
preliminary estimates of consideration and fair values attributable to the business combination, the actual
 amounts eventually recorded may differ
materially from the information presented, which may increase, reduce or eliminate the gain on
bargain purchase.
 
The
preliminary allocation of the purchase price consideration is as follows (in thousands):
 
Fair value of consideration transferred          $ 4,490 
Cash   $ 2,208       
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     841       
Property and equipment, net     1,922       
Assets held for sale     717       
Right-of-use assets, net     433       
Investment in Lynx     2,025       
Intangible assets, net     ְ0       
Other assets     249       
Estimated fair value of total assets acquired (net of goodwill)   $ 8,395       
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities     1,670       
Lease liability     921       
Warrant liability, at fair value     6       
Estimated fair value of total liabilities assumed   $ 2,597       
Estimated fair value of net assets acquired          $ 5,798 
Gain on bargain purchase          $ (1,308)
 
Note
2—Accounting Policies
 
Upon
consummation of the Merger, management will perform a comprehensive review of the two entities’ accounting policies. As a result
of the review,
management may identify differences between the accounting policies of the two entities which, when confirmed, could have
a material impact on the
combined financial statements of the Combined Company. Based on its initial analysis, management did not identify
any differences that would have a
material impact on the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information.
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Note
3—Pro Forma Adjustments
 
Explanations
of the adjustments to the unaudited condensed combined pro financial statements are as follows:
 
Unaudited
Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheet as of September 30, 2024
 

 
A Nxu
is in the process of evaluating the intangible assets expected to be acquired through the Merger and the associated fair value of
any identified

intangible assets. For pro forma purposes, the Company has allocated the carrying value of the intangible assets as
a reduction to the gain on
bargain purchase. Refer to Note 1 for preliminary purchase price allocation of assets.

     

  B Reflects
 the settlement of liability classified restricted stock units that will be settled into shares held by Nxu shareholders. Such shares
 are
included within the calculation of preliminary purchase price consideration further discussed in Note 1.

     

  C Reflects
the reclassification to additional paid-in capital of the outstanding Verde convertible note principal and accrued interest which
is expected
to convert to common shares at the Effective Time.

     

  D Reflects
the reclassification to additional paid-in capital of the outstanding Nxu convertible note principal which is expected to convert
to common
shares at the Effective Time.

     

  E Represents
the accrual of transaction costs directly attributable to the Merger that have been incurred or are expected to be incurred by Verde
and
Nxu, including amounts payable in Verde common shares.

     

  F Aside
 from the accumulated deficit effect from the transaction costs described in Note (D) the transaction accounting adjustments in the
stockholders’ equity represent the following (in thousands):

 

   

Removal of
NXU

Historical
Equity

(1)    

Fair Value of
purchase

price
consideration

(2)    

Nxu
liabilities

converted to 
equity upon

merger
(3)    

Nxu
convertible

note
converted

upon merger
(4)    

Par Value
Adjustment

(5)    

Gain on
bargain

purchase
(6)    

Net
Adjustment  

Common stock   $ (1)   $ 2    $ —    $ —    $ 9    $ —    $ 10 
Additional paid in

capital     (281,061)     4,488      (2,483)     (10)     (9)     —      (279,075)
Accumulated deficit     277,712      —      —      —      —      1,308      279,020 
Total stockholders’

equity   $ (3,350)   $ 4,490    $ (2,483)   $ (10)   $ —    $ 1,308    $ (45)

 
 

(1) To
remove the historical equity of Nxu, the accounting acquiree, as a result of the Merger.
 
(2) To
recognize the fair value of the purchase price consideration paid by Verde in the reverse
acquisition of Nxu. Refer to Note 1 for the components of

the purchase price consideration.
 
(3) Amounts
reclassified to additional paid in capital as described in adjustment B above.
 
(4) Amounts
reclassified to additional paid in capital as described in adjustment D above.
 
(5) Adjustment
to adjust the par value of Verde shares to reflect the par value of the Combined Company.
 
(6) To
record the gain on bargain purchase as described in adjustment CC below, inclusive of the
impacts described in adjustment A above.
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  G Reflects
the impact related to the stock-based compensation expense recognized in connection with adjustment DD below.
     

 

H Reflects
the impact of the subscription agreement entered into with certain investors (the “PIPE Investors”) in which the PIPE Investors
agreed to
subscribe for and purchase 12,000,000 shares of Nxu Class A Common Stock and 30,000,000 warrants to purchase Nxu Class
A Common Stock
that were determined to be classified within equity. This adjustment also reflects the impact of $0.3 million of transaction
costs related to the PIPE
transaction.

 
Unaudited
Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statement of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2023
 
  AA Reflects
the allocation of direct and incremental transaction costs related to the Merger
     
  BB Reflects
the elimination of interest expense related to Verde’s outstanding convertible note which is converted to equity at the Effective
Time
     

 

CC Represents
the gain realized from a bargain purchase in accordance with ASC 805 when the estimated fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired exceeds the estimated preliminary purchase price consideration. The preliminary purchase price consideration is derived
 from Nxu’s
stock price, which will continue to fluctuate from the date of this proxy statement/prospectus through the Effective
Time, and the final fair value
purchase price allocation may differ materially from the preliminary estimates. As a result, gain
on bargain purchase may be increased, reduced or
fully eliminated upon the consummation of the Merger. Nxu’s stock price used
in determining the preliminary purchase price allocation was from
a date prior to the filing of this proxy statement/prospectus.
It is possible that such stock price has not fully reflected the information that was not
previously publicly available, such as
Verde’s historical financial information or other information included in this proxy statement/prospectus.

     

  DD Reflects
 the recognition of stock-based compensation expense related to the cancellation of equity awards with no consideration paid to the
holders.

 
Unaudited
Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statement of Operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2024
 
  EE Reflects
the elimination of interest expense related to Verde’s outstanding convertible note which is converted to equity at the Effective
Time
 
Note
4—Loss per Share

 
As
the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations assumes that the Merger had occurred at January 1, 2023, the
beginning of the
earliest period presented, the calculation of weighted average shares outstanding for basic and diluted earnings per
share assumes that the shares issuable
relating to the Merger have been outstanding for the entirety of the period presented. As the
Combined Company is in a pro forma net loss position, and all
potentially dilutive securities were determined to be anti-dilutive, the
Company’s pro forma diluted net loss per share is the same as its pro forma basic net
loss per share.
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The
table below presents the components of the pro forma earnings per share calculation (in thousands, except share and per share data):

 

   

For the year
ended

December 31, 
2023    

For the nine
months ended
September 30,

2024  
Pro Forma net loss   $ (59,062)   $ (25,453)
Basic Shares:              
NXU historical weighted average shares outstanding     556,826      10,349,618 
NXU variable share settled restricted stock units, settled at the Effective Time     3,689,104      3,689,104 
NXU PIPE Shares     6,000,000      6,000,000 
NXU PIPE Warrants     24,000,000      24,000,000 
Shares converted from Verde Shares     18,738,672      18,738,672 
Transaction costs payable in Verde Shares (See Adjustment AA in Note 3)     195,239      195,239 
Verde warrants converted to NXU common stock at the Effective Time     95,262,143      95,262,143 
Verde convertible note converted to NXU common shares at the Effective Time     278,895,032      278,895,032 
Basic weighted average shares outstanding     427,337,016      437,129,808 

Pro forma net loss per share, basic and diluted   $ (0.14)   $ (0.06)
 
Following
the merger, the following outstanding shares of common stock equivalents were excluded from the computation of pro forma diluted net
loss per
share for all the periods presented above because including them would have an anti-dilutive effect (on a pro forma as-converted
basis):

 

   

For the year
ended

December 31, 
2023    

For the nine
months ended
September 30,

2024  
Nxu warrants to purchase NXU Class A common stock     109,509      109,509 
Options to purchase Verde common stock     506,123      506,123 
Basic weighted average shares outstanding     615,632      615,632 
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DESCRIPTION
OF SECURITIES

 
The
 following summary of the material terms of Nxu’s common stock is not intended to be a complete summary of the rights and preferences
of such
securities. Nxu’s common stock is governed by Nxu’s Certificate of Incorporation (as amended, the “Certificate
of Incorporation”), Bylaws (as amended,
the “Bylaws”), and the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”).
We urge you to read the Certificate of Incorporation and the Bylaws in their
entirety for a complete description of the rights and preferences
of Nxu’s common stock.
 
General
 
The
 Certificate of Incorporation authorizes the issuance of 5,010,000,000 shares, consisting of (x) 5,000,000,000 authorized shares of common
 stock,
including (1) 4,000,000,000 authorized shares of Class A common stock, (2) 1,000,000,000 authorized shares of Class B common stock
and (y) 10,000,000
authorized shares of preferred stock, par value $0.0001 per share.
 
As
of December 23, 2024, there were 16,620,057 shares of Class A common stock outstanding, 279,504 shares of Class B common stock outstanding
and
one share of Series B preferred stock outstanding.
 
Common
Stock
 
Voting
Rights
 
Each
holder of Class A common stock, as such, shall have the right to one (1) vote per share of Class A common stock held of record by such
holder and
each holder of Class B common stock, as such, shall have the right to ten (10) votes per share of Class B common stock held
of record by such holder.
There are no cumulative voting rights.
 
Dividend
Rights
 
The
holders of shares of Class A common stock and the holders of shares of Class B common stock shall be entitled to receive, ratably in
proportion to the
number of shares of Class A common stock or Class B common stock, respectively, with respect to any dividends or distributions
as may be declared and
paid from time to time by Nxu; provided, however, that in the event a dividend is paid in the form of shares
of Class A common stock or Class B Common
Stock, then holders of Class A common stock shall be entitled to receive shares of Class A
common stock, and holders of Class B common stock shall be
entitled to receive shares of Class B common stock, with holders of shares
of Class A common stock and Class B common stock receiving, on a per share
basis, an identical number of shares of Class A common stock
or Class B common stock, as applicable.
 
Liquidation
Rights
 
Subject
to the rights of any then outstanding preferred stock which ranks senior to common stock, in the event of a liquidation, dissolution
or winding up of
Nxu, the holders of Class A common stock will be entitled to receive, after payment or provision for payment of all
of its debts and liabilities, all of the
assets of Nxu legally available for distribution to stockholders.
 
The
holders of shares of Class B common stock, as such, shall not be entitled to receive any assets of Nxu in the event of any voluntary
or involuntary
liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the affairs of Nxu.
 
Other
Rights
 
There
are no conversion rights or redemption, purchase, retirement or sinking fund provisions with respect to the common stock.
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Anti-Takeover
Effects of Delaware Law and Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws
 
Delaware
law, the Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws contain provisions that could have the effect of delaying, deferring or discouraging
another party
from acquiring control of Nxu. These provisions are expected to discourage coercive takeover practices and inadequate takeover
bids. These provisions are
also designed to encourage persons seeking to acquire control of Nxu to first negotiate with the Board.
 
Board
of Directors; Removal of Directors
 
The
Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws provide that a director may be removed with or without cause and only by the affirmative vote
of the holders
of at least two-thirds of the votes that all the stockholders would be entitled to cast in an election of directors. Any
vacancy on the Board, including a
vacancy resulting from an enlargement of the Board, may be filled only by the affirmative vote of a
majority of the votes cast in favor or against the
election of a nominee at a meeting of stockholders. At each annual meeting, the entire
board will stand for election for a one-year term. The limitations on
the removal of directors and filling of vacancies could make it
 more difficult for a third party to acquire, or discourage a third party from seeking to
acquire, control of Nxu.
 
Stockholder
Action by Written Consent; Special Meetings
 
The
Certificate of Incorporation provides that any action required or permitted to be taken by stockholders must be effected at a duly called
annual or
special meeting of such holders and may not be effected by any consent in writing by such holders. The Certificate of Incorporation
 and Bylaws also
provide that, except as otherwise required by law, special meetings of stockholders can only be called by the chairman
of the board, chief executive officer
or board of directors.
 
Advance
Notice Requirements for Stockholder Proposals
 
The
Bylaws establish an advance notice procedure for stockholder proposals to be brought before an annual meeting of stockholders, including
proposed
nominations of persons for election to the Board. Stockholders at an annual meeting may only consider proposals or nominations
specified in the notice of
meeting or brought before the meeting by or at the direction of the Board or by a stockholder of record on
the record date for the meeting, who is entitled to
vote at the meeting and who has delivered timely written notice in proper form to
the secretary of the stockholder’s intention to bring such business before
the meeting. This written notice must contain certain
information specified in the Bylaws. These provisions could have the effect of delaying until the next
stockholder meeting stockholder
actions that are favored by the holders of a majority of outstanding voting securities.
 
Delaware
Business Combination Statute
 
Nxu
has opted out of Section 203 of the DGCL.
 
Amendment
of Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws
 
The
DGCL provides generally that the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares entitled to vote on any matter is required to amend a corporation’s
certificate of incorporation or bylaws, unless a corporation’s certificate of incorporation or bylaws, as the case may be, requires
a greater percentage. The
Bylaws may be amended or repealed by a majority vote of the Board or by the affirmative vote of the holders
of at least two-thirds of the votes which all
stockholders would be entitled to cast in any election of directors. The Certificate of
Incorporation may be amended by the affirmative vote of a majority of
the directors present at any regular or special meeting of the
Board at which a quorum is present in any manner not inconsistent with the laws of the State
of Delaware.
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Description
of the Warrants

Duration
and Exercise Price. The Pre-Funded Warrants have an initial exercise price of $0.0001 per share, subject to adjustment. The
Series A Warrants
and the Series B Warrants will become exercisable on the Stockholder Approval Date and any unexercised portion of
such Warrants as of the closing of the
Merger will be automatically exercised pursuant to a cashless exercise. The Series A Warrants
have an exercise price of $0.50, subject to adjustment. The
Series B Warrants have an exercise price of $0.0001 per share, subject
to adjustment. The exercise price and number of shares of Class A common stock
issuable upon exercise of any warrant is subject to
appropriate adjustment in the event of stock dividends, stock splits, reorganizations or similar events
affecting our Class A common
stock and exercise price.

Exercisability. The
Warrants are exercisable, at the option of each holder, in whole or in part by delivering to us a duly executed exercise notice and,
at any
time a registration statement registering the issuance of shares of Class A common stock underlying the Warrants under the Securities
Act is effective and
available for the issuance of such shares (or an exemption from registration under the Securities Act is available
 for the issuance of such shares), by
payment in full in immediately available funds for the number of shares of Class A common stock
purchased upon such exercise.

If
a registration statement or current prospectus is not effective or available for the registration under the Securities Act of the
Warrants, or the resale of the
shares of Class A common stock underlying the Warrants, at any time 60 days after the issue date,
the holder may, in its sole discretion, elect to exercise
Warrants through a cashless exercise, in which case the holder would receive
 upon such exercise the net number of shares of Class A common stock
determined according to the formula set forth in the applicable Warrant.

Exercise
Limitation. A holder will not have the right to exercise any portion of the Warrants if the holder (together
with its affiliates) would beneficially
own in excess of 4.99% (or, upon election of the holder, 9.99%) of the number of our shares of
Class A common stock outstanding immediately after
giving effect to the exercise, as such percentage ownership is determined in accordance
 with the terms of the applicable Warrants. Any holder of the
Warrants may increase or decrease such percentage, but in no event may such
percentage be increased to more than 9.99%, provided that any increase will
not be effective until the 61st day after
such election.

Exchange
Listing. There is no established trading market for the Warrants, and we do not expect a market to develop.
In addition, we do not intend to apply
for the listing of the Warrants on any national securities exchange or other trading market.

Participation
Rights. If at any time we grant, issue or sell any shares of Class A common stock or Common Stock Equivalents
(as defined in the Securities
Purchase Agreement) or rights to purchase stock, warrants, securities or other property pro rata to the
record holders of any shares of Class A common
stock (the “Purchase Rights”), the holder of any Warrant will be entitled
 to acquire, upon the terms applicable to such Purchase Rights, subject to the
beneficial ownership limitations, the aggregate Purchase
Rights which the holder of such Warrants could have acquired if the holder had held the number of
Class A common stock acquirable upon
complete exercise of such Warrant.
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Fundamental
Transactions. If, except as contemplated under the Merger Agreement, (i) we, directly or indirectly, in one or more related
transactions effect
any merger or consolidation of the Company with or into another Subject Entity (as defined in the respect Warrants),
(ii) we, directly or indirectly, effect
any sale, lease, license, assignment, transfer, conveyance or other disposition of all or
 substantially all of our (or any of our “significant subsidiaries”)
assets in one or a series of related transactions, (iii) any,
direct or indirect, purchase offer, tender offer or exchange offer (whether by us or another Subject
Entity) is completed pursuant to
which holders of our Class A common stock are permitted to sell, tender or exchange their shares for other securities, cash
or property
and has been accepted by the holders of at least 50% of the outstanding shares of Class A common stock, (iv) we, directly or indirectly,
in one
or more related transactions effect any reclassification, reorganization or recapitalization of the shares of Class A common stock
or any compulsory share
exchange pursuant to which the shares of Class A common stock are effectively converted into or exchanged for
other securities, cash or property, or
(v)  we, directly or indirectly, in one or more related transactions consummates a stock or
 share purchase agreement or other business combination
(including, without limitation, a reorganization, recapitalization, spin-off,
merger or scheme of arrangement) with one or more Subject Entities whereby all
such Subject Entities, individually or in the aggregate,
acquires at least 50% of the outstanding shares of Class A common stock (not including any shares
of Class A common stock held by the
other person or other persons making or party to, or associated or affiliated with the other persons making or party to,
such stock or
share purchase agreement or other business combination), each a “Fundamental Transaction,” then the successor entity will
succeed to, and
be substituted for us, and may exercise every right and power that we may exercise and will assume all of our obligations
under the Warrants with the same
effect as if such successor entity had been named in the Warrant itself. If holders of our shares of
Class A common stock are given a choice as to the
securities, cash or property to be received in a fundamental transaction, then the
 holder of any Warrant shall be given the same choice as to the
consideration it receives upon any exercise of such Warrant following
such fundamental transaction. In addition, the successor entity, at the request of the
holder of any Warrant, will be obligated to purchase
any unexercised portion of such Warrant, in accordance with the terms of such Warrant.
 
Notwithstanding
anything to the contrary, in the event of a Fundamental Transaction, we or any Successor Entity (as defined in the Warrants) shall, at
the
holder’s option, exercisable at any time concurrently with, or within 30 days after, the consummation of the Fundamental
Transaction (or, if later, the first
Trading Day (as defined in the Warrants) following the date we first become aware of the occurrence
 or potential occurrence of a Fundamental
Transaction), purchase a Warrant, from the holder by paying to the holder an amount of cash
equal to the Black Scholes Value (as defined in the Series A
Warrant) of the remaining unexercised portion of such Warrant on the date
of the consummation of such Fundamental Transaction; provided, however, if
the Fundamental Transaction is not within our control, including
if not approved by our Board of Directors, the holder will only be entitled to receive from
us or any Successor Entity, as of the date
of consummation of such Fundamental Transaction, the same type or form of consideration (and in the same
proportion), at the Black Scholes
Value of the unexercised portion of such Warrant that is being offered and paid to the holders of Class A common stock in
connection
with the Fundamental Transaction, whether that consideration be in the form of cash, stock or any combination thereof, or whether the
holders
of Class A common stock are given the choice to receive from among alternative forms of consideration in connection with the
Fundamental Transaction.

Rights
as a Stockholder. Except as otherwise provided in the applicable Warrant or by virtue of such holder’s
ownership of our Class A common stock, the
holder of a Warrant will not have the rights or privileges of a holder of our Class A common
stock, including any voting rights, until the holder exercises
such Warrant.

Resale/Registration
Rights. We have filed this registration statement with the SEC that includes this prospectus to register for
resale under the Securities
Act, the Registrable Securities, consisting of the Purchased Shares and the shares of Class A common stock
 issuable upon exercise of the Warrants, to
satisfy our obligations in connection with the Private Placement. We are required to use commercially
 reasonable efforts to cause such registration to
become effective within 30 days of the closing of the Private Placement (or 60 days
in the event of a full review by the SEC) for the Registrable Securities,
and to keep such registration statement effective at all times
until the selling stockholders do not own any Registrable Securities, Pre-Funded Warrants,
Series A Warrants, or Series B Warrants.
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Exclusive
Forum Provisions
 
Our
Certificate of Incorporation requires that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery
of the State of
Delaware (or, if that court lacks subject matter jurisdiction, another federal or state court situated in the State of
Delaware) will be the sole and exclusive
forum for (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of our business, (ii) any
action asserting a claim of breach of a duty owed by any
director, officer, employee, agent or stockholder of ours to us or our stockholders,
(iii) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the
DGCL or (iv) any action asserting a claim governed by the
internal affairs doctrine. In addition, our Certificate of Incorporation requires that, unless we
consent in writing to the selection
of an alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United States will be the exclusive forum for the resolution of
any action,
suit or proceeding asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act. These forum selection provisions will not apply to claims
arising
under the Exchange Act or other federal securities laws for which there is exclusive federal jurisdiction. Any person or entity
purchasing or otherwise
acquiring or holding any interest in shares of our capital stock is deemed to have notice of and consented to
the foregoing provisions.
 
Rule
144
 
Pursuant
to Rule 144, a person who has beneficially owned restricted shares of Nxu’s voting common stock for at least six months would be
entitled to sell
their securities provided that (i) such person is not deemed to have been one of Nxu’s affiliates at the time
of, or at any time during the three months
preceding, a sale and (ii) Nxu is subject to the Exchange Act periodic reporting requirements
 for at least three months before the sale and has filed all
required reports under Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act during the
 twelve months (or such shorter period as Nxu was required to file reports)
preceding the sale.
 
Persons
who have beneficially owned restricted shares of Nxu’s voting common stock for at least six months but who are Nxu’s affiliates
at the time of, or
at any time during the three months preceding, a sale, would be subject to additional restrictions, by which such
person would be entitled to sell within any
three-month period only a number of securities that does not exceed the greater of:
 
  ● 1% of the total number
of shares of such securities then-outstanding; or
 
  ● the average weekly reported
trading volume of such securities during the four calendar weeks preceding the filing of a notice on Form 144 with

respect to the
sale.
 
Sales
by Nxu’s affiliates under Rule 144 are also limited by manner of sale provisions and notice requirements and to the availability
of current public
information about us.
 
Listing
of Securities
 
Nxu’s
Class A common stock is listed for trading on Nasdaq under the symbol “NXU.”
 
Transfer
Agent
 
The
transfer agent for our Class A common stock is Equiniti Trust Company, LLC. We have agreed to indemnify Equiniti Trust Company, LLC in
its role
as transfer agent, its agents and each of its stockholders, directors, officers and employees against all liabilities, including
judgments, costs and reasonable
counsel fees that may arise out of acts performed or omitted for its activities in that capacity, except
for any liability due to any gross negligence, willful
misconduct or bad faith of the indemnified person or entity.
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SECURITY
OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

 
The
following table sets forth information known to the Company regarding the beneficial ownership of shares of our common stock as of December
2,
2024 by:
 
  ● each person who is known
by the Company to own beneficially more than 5% of the outstanding shares of any class of the Company’s common

stock;
 
  ● each of the Company’s
current named executive officers and directors; and
 
  ● all current executive officers
and directors of the Company, as a group.
 
The
SEC has defined “beneficial ownership” of a security to mean the possession, directly or indirectly, of voting power and/or
 investment power over
such security. A stockholder is also deemed to be, as of any date, the beneficial owner of all securities that
such stockholder has the right to acquire within
60 days after that date, including but not limited to the right to acquire through (i)
 the exercise of any option, warrant or right, (ii) the conversion of a
security, (iii) the power to revoke a trust, discretionary account
or similar arrangement, or (iv) the automatic termination of a trust, discretionary account or
similar arrangement. In computing the
number of shares beneficially owned by a person and the percentage ownership of that person, shares that may be
acquired by that person
 within 60 days thereafter are deemed outstanding, while such shares are not deemed outstanding for purposes of computing
percentage ownership
of any other person. Each person named in the table has sole voting and investment power with respect to all of the common stock
shown
as beneficially owned by such person, except as otherwise indicated in the table or footnotes below.
 
The
beneficial ownership of voting securities of the Company is based on 15,834,755 and 279,504 shares of Class A common stock and Class
B common
stock, respectively, issued and outstanding as of December 2, 2024.
 

Name of Beneficial Owner  
Class A
Shares    

% of
Class    

Class B
Shares    

% of
Class    

Combined
Voting

Power of
Common
Shares(1)  

Mark Hanchett     2,019,451(2)    12.8%    200,692      71.8%    21.6%
Annie Pratt     1,658,891(3)    10.5%    78,812      28.2%    13.1%
Sarah Wyant     143,577(4)    0.9%    —      —      * 
Britt Ide     157,445(5)    1.0%    —      —      * 
Jessica Billingsley     501,800(5)    3.2%    —      —      2.7%
Current executive officers and directors as a group

(5 individuals)     4,481,164(6)    28.4%    279,504      100%    39.0%
 
 

* Represents beneficial ownership of less than 1%.
 
(1) Represents the percentage of voting power with respect to all shares of Nxu’s outstanding capital stock voting together as a single class. The holders of

our Class B common stock are entitled to 10 votes per share and the holders of our Class A common stock are entitled to one vote per share. Mr.
Hanchett is also the holder of the sole share of Nxu Series B preferred stock issued and outstanding, which is entitled to a number of votes equal to the
total number of votes that could be cast by holders of Class A common stock and Class B common stock. Concurrently with the execution of the
Merger Agreement, we entered into a Voting Agreement and Irrevocable Proxy (the “Voting Agreement”) with Mr. Hanchett, pursuant to which Mr.
Hanchett has agreed to, subject to specified exceptions, (i) cast all of the votes to which he is entitled by reason of holding the Series B preferred stock
“for” or “against” (as applicable) a special action subject to the votes cast by the holders of Class A common stock and Class B common stock; and (ii)
irrevocably grant each director of Nxu as his proxy and attorney-in-fact to vote the Series B preferred stock on his behalf if he fails at any time to vote
as required in the Voting Agreement.

(2) Includes 200,692 shares of Class A common stock underlying options that are currently exercisable or are exercisable within 60 days of December 2,
2024. Includes 1,806,386 shares of Class A common stock underlying RSUs that are settleable within 60 days of December 2, 2024.

(3) Includes 78,812 shares of Class A common stock underlying options that are currently exercisable or are exercisable within 60 days of December 2,
2024. Includes 1,580,079 shares of Class A common stock underlying RSUs that are settleable within 60 days of December 2, 2024.

(4) Includes 126,977 shares of Class A common stock underlying options that are currently exercisable or are exercisable within 60 days of December 2,
2024.

(5) Includes 147,929 each of shares of Class A common stock underlying RSUs that are settleable within 60 days of December 2, 2024.
(6) Includes 406,841 shares of Class A common stock underlying options that are currently exercisable or are exercisable within 60 days of December 2,

2024.
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SELLING
STOCKHOLDERS

 
This prospectus relates to the offer and sale
 from time to time of up to 114,503,816 shares of Class A common stock of the Company by the selling
stockholders. The number of shares
the selling stockholders may sell is comprised of (i) 6,800,000 shares of Class A common stock; (ii) 5,200,000 shares
of Class A common
 stock issuable upon exercise of the Pre-Funded Warrants; (iii) up to 57,251,908 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon
exercise
 of the Series A Warrants; and (iv) up to 45,251,908 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon exercise of the Series B Warrants. For
additional information regarding the issuance of the Registrable Securities, see “The Private Placement.”
 
The following table sets forth certain information
with respect to the selling stockholders, including (i) the number of shares of our Class A common stock
beneficially owned by the
selling stockholders prior to this offering without regard to any beneficial ownership limitations contained in the Pre-Funded
Warrants,
the Series A Warrants, or the Series B Warrants, (ii) the number of shares being offered by the selling stockholders pursuant to
this prospectus,
and (iii) the selling stockholders’ beneficial ownership after completion of this offering assuming the sale
of all of the shares of Class A common stock
covered by this prospectus. The registration of the Registrable Securities does not necessarily
mean that the selling stockholders will sell all or any of the
Registrable Securities, but the number of shares and percentages set forth
in the final two columns below assume that all Registrable Securities are sold.
 
The table is based on information supplied to
us by the selling stockholders, with beneficial ownership and percentage ownership determined in accordance
with Rule 13d-3 under the
Exchange Act, and such information is not necessarily indicative of beneficial ownership for any other purpose. Under Rule
13d-3, beneficial
ownership includes any shares as to which a selling stockholder has sole or shared voting power or investment power and also any shares
which that selling stockholder has the right to acquire within 60 days of December 23, 2024 through the exercise of any stock options,
warrants or rights or
through the conversion of any convertible security. Unless otherwise indicated in the footnotes to the table below
and subject to community property laws
where applicable, we believe, based on information furnished to us that the each selling stockholder
named in this table has sole voting and investment
power with respect to the shares indicated as beneficially owned. The percentage of
beneficial ownership after this offering is based on 16,620,057 shares
of Class A common stock outstanding as of December 23, 2024 together
 with the Purchased Shares and the 107,703,816 shares of shares of Class A
common stock issuable upon the exercise of the Pre-Funded Warrants,
the Series A Warrants and the Series B Warrants.
 
We have assumed that all shares of Class A common
stock reflected in the table as being offered in the offering covered by this prospectus will be sold
from time to time in this offering.
We cannot provide an estimate as to the number of shares of Class A common stock that will be held by the selling
stockholders upon termination
of the offering covered by this prospectus because the selling stockholders may offer some, all or none of the shares of Class
A common
stock being offered in the offering. Information about the selling stockholders may change over time. Any changed information will be
set forth
in an amendment to the registration statement or supplement to this prospectus, to the extent required by law.
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Number of
Shares of
Class A

Common
Stock

Beneficially
Owned
Prior to

this    

Maximum
Number of
Shares of
Class A

Common
Stock

to be Offered
for Resale

in this
Offering    

Shares of
Class A Common Stock

Beneficially
Owned

Immediately
Following this

Offering(1)  
Name   Offering     Number     Number     Percentage  
Bigger Capital Fund, LP(2)      1,100(2)    28,618,953      1,100      * 
S.H.N. Financial Investments Ltd.(3)     —      28,618,953      —      —%
L1 Capital Global Opportunities Master Fund(4)     72,371(4)    28,618,953      72,371      * 
FirstFire Global Opportunities Fund LLC(5)     —      28,618,953      —      —%
 
 

* Less than 1%.
   
(1) Number and Percentage are based on 16,620,057 shares of Class A common stock outstanding as of December 23, 2024, assuming the resale of all

shares of Class A common stock covered by this prospectus. The shares issuable upon the exercise of the exercise of the Pre-Funded Warrants and the
Series A Warrants are subject to a beneficial ownership limitation of 4.99% (or 9.99% at the election of the holder) and the shares issuable upon the
exercise of the Series B Warrants are subject to a beneficial ownership limitation of 4.99% (collectively, the “Beneficial Ownership Cap”), which in
each case restricts the selling stockholders from exercising that portion of the warrants that would result in the selling stockholders and their affiliates
owning, after conversion or exercise, as applicable, a number of shares of Class A common stock in excess of the Beneficial Ownership Cap. The
number of shares set forth in the above table does not reflect the application of this Beneficial Ownership Cap limitation.

   
(2) Michael Bigger is the control person of Bigger Capital Fund, LP. The address of Bigger Capital Fund, LP is 11700 W Charleston Blvd 170-659, Las

Vegas, NV 89135. Includes 1,100 shares of Class A common stock underlying warrants that are currently exercisable or are exercisable within 60 days
of December 23, 2024.

   
(3) Mr. Hadar Shamir and Mr. Nir Shamir are deemed to beneficially own such securities and are the control persons for S.H.N. Financial Investments Ltd.

The address for SHN Financial Investments Ltd is 3 Arik Einstein Street, Herziliya 4610301, Israel.
   
(4) David Feldman and Joel Arber hold voting and dispositive power over the reported securities held by L1 Capital Global Opportunities Master Fund.

The business address of L1 Capital Global Opportunities Master Fund is 161A Shedden Road, 1 Artillery Court, PO Box 10085 Grand Cayman KY1-
1001, Cayman Islands. Includes 5,704 shares of Class A common stock underlying warrants that are currently exercisable or are exercisable within 60
days of December 23, 2024 and up to a maximum of 66,667 shares of Class A common stock underlying convertible notes (assuming a minimum
conversion price of $0.15 per share) that are convertible within 60 days of December 23, 2024.

   
(5) Eli Fireman is the control person of FirstFire Global Opportunities Fund, LLC. The address of FirstFire Global Opportunities Fund, LLC is 1040 1st

Ave, New York, NY 10022.
 
Relationship with Selling Stockholders
 
To our knowledge, none of the selling stockholders
have any position, office, or other material relationship with us or any of our affiliates within the past
three years.
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PLAN
OF DISTRIBUTION

 
The selling stockholders, or their pledgees,
donees (including charitable organizations), transferees or other successors-in-interest, may from time to time,
sell any or all of the
shares of Class A common stock offered by this prospectus either directly by such individual, or through broker-dealers or agents or
on
any exchange on which the shares of Class A common stock may from time to time be traded, in the over-the-counter market, or in independently
negotiated transactions or otherwise. The selling stockholders may use any one or more of the following methods when selling shares of
our common
stock:
 

● ordinary brokerage transactions
and transactions in which the broker-dealer solicits purchasers;
 

● block trades in which the broker-dealer
will attempt to sell the shares of common stock as agent but may position and resell a portion of the block
as principal to facilitate
the transaction;

 
● purchases by a broker-dealer
as principal and resale by the broker-dealer for its account;

 
● any exchange distribution in
accordance with the rules of the applicable exchange;

 
● privately negotiated transactions;

 
● distributions to their members,
partners or stockholders;

 
● broker-dealers may agree with
the selling stockholders to sell a specified number of such shares of common stock at a stipulated price per share;

 
● through the writing or settlement
of options or other hedging transactions, whether through an options exchange or otherwise;

 
● a combination of any such methods
of sale; or

 
● any other method permitted
pursuant to applicable law.

 
Broker-dealers engaged by the selling stockholders
may arrange for other broker-dealers to participate in sales. Broker-dealers may receive commissions or
discounts from the selling stockholders
(or, if any broker-dealer acts as agent for the purchaser of the shares of common stock under this prospectus, from
the purchaser) in
amounts to be negotiated, but, except as set forth in a supplement to the prospectus, in the case of any agency transaction not in excess
of
a customary brokerage commission in compliance with Financial Industry Regulatory Authority Rule 2121 (“Rule 2121”), and,
in the case of a principal
transaction a markup or markdown in compliance with Rule 2121.
 
In connection with sales of the Class A common
 stock under this prospectus or interests therein, the selling stockholders may enter into hedging
transactions with broker-dealers or
 other financial institutions, which may in turn engage in short sales of the Class A common stock in the course of
hedging the positions
 they assume. The selling stockholders may also loan or pledge the Class A common stock to broker-dealers that in turn may sell
them.
The selling stockholders may also enter into option or other transactions with broker-dealers or other financial institutions or the
creation of one or
more derivative securities that require the delivery to such broker-dealer or other financial institution of Class
A common stock offered by this prospectus,
which shares such broker-dealer or other financial institution may resell pursuant to this
 prospectus (as supplemented or amended to reflect such
transaction).
 
The selling stockholders may from time to time
pledge or grant a security interest in some or all of the Class A common stock owned by them, and the
pledgees or secured parties will,
upon foreclosure in the event of default, be deemed to be selling stockholders. As and when a selling stockholder takes
such actions,
the number of securities under this prospectus on behalf of such selling stockholder will decrease. The selling stockholders may also
transfer
and donate the Class A common stock in other circumstances in which case the transferees, donees, pledgees or other successors
 in interest will be the
selling beneficial owners for purposes of this prospectus.
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The selling stockholders are underwriters within
the meaning of Section 2(a)(11) of the Securities Act and any broker-dealers or agents that participate in
distribution of the securities
will also be underwriters within the meaning of Section 2(a)(11) of the Securities Act, and any profit on sale of the securities
by them
and any discounts, commissions or concessions received by them will be underwriting discounts and commissions under the Securities Act.
 
A selling stockholder that is an entity may elect
to make an in-kind distribution of Class A common stock to its members, partners or stockholders pursuant
to the registration statement
of which this prospectus is a part by delivering a prospectus.
 
Under the securities laws of some states, the
Class A common stock may be sold in such states only through registered or licensed brokers or dealers. In
addition, in some states the
common shares may not be sold unless such shares have been registered or qualified for sale in such state or an exemption from
registration
or qualification is available and is complied with.
 
The selling stockholders and any other person
participating in such distribution will be subject to applicable provisions of the Exchange Act and the rules
and regulations thereunder,
 including, without limitation, to the extent applicable, Regulation M of the Exchange Act, which may limit the timing of
purchases and
 sales of any of the Class A common stock by the selling stockholders and any other participating person. To the extent applicable,
Regulation
M may also restrict the ability of any person engaged in the distribution of the Class A common stock to engage in market-making activities
with respect to the Class A common stock. All of the foregoing may affect the marketability of the Class A common stock and the ability
of any person or
entity to engage in market-making activities with respect to the common shares.
 
We will not receive any of the proceeds from
this offering. There can be no assurances that the selling stockholders will sell any or all of the securities
offered under this prospectus.
 
The selling stockholders will pay all selling
commissions, underwriting discounts, other broker-dealer fees, finder’s fees and stock transfer taxes applicable
to the Class A
common stock offered hereby. We will bear all other costs, fees and expenses incurred in effecting the registration of the shares covered
by
this prospectus, including, without limitation, all registration and filing fees, fees and expenses of compliance with securities
 or blue sky laws, word
processing, printing and copying expenses, messenger and delivery expenses, fees and disbursements of counsel
 for the Company and all independent
public accountants and other persons retained by the Company.
 
Once sold under the registration statement, of
which this prospectus forms a part, the Class A common stock offered hereby will be freely tradable in the
hands of persons other than
our affiliates.
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LEGAL MATTERS

 
Certain legal matters relating to the validity
of Nxu’s common stock covered by this registration statement will be passed upon for Nxu by Snell & Wilmer
L.L.P., Phoenix,
Arizona.
 

EXPERTS
 
Prager Metis CPAs, LLC, our independent registered
 public accounting firm, has audited our financial statements as of December  31, 2023 and
December 31, 2022, and for the years
then ended, as set forth in its report (which report contains an explanatory paragraph describing conditions that raise
substantial doubt
about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern as described in Note 1 to the financial statements), which is incorporated
by
reference in this prospectus and elsewhere in this registration statement. Such financial statements are incorporated by reference
in this prospectus and the
registration statement in reliance on the report of Prager Metis CPAs, LLC, given on the authority of such
firm as experts in accounting and auditing.
 
The balance sheets of Verde Bioresins, Inc. as
of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the related statements of operations, stockholders’ (deficit) equity and
cash flows for each
of the years then ended, have been audited by EisnerAmper LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report
which is included herein, which report includes an explanatory paragraph about the existence of substantial doubt concerning Verde’s
ability to continue as
a going concern. Such financial statements have been incorporated herein in reliance on the report of such firm
given upon their authority as experts in
accounting and auditing.
 

WHERE YOU CAN
FIND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
 
We have filed with the SEC a registration statement
on Form S-1 under the Securities Act with respect to the securities offered by this prospectus. This
prospectus, which constitutes a
part of the registration statement, does not contain all of the information set forth in the registration statement, as permitted
by
the rules and regulations of the SEC. For further information with respect to us and our securities, we refer you to the registration
statement, including
the exhibits filed as a part of the registration statement. Statements contained in this prospectus concerning the
 contents of any contract or any other
document are not necessarily complete. If a contract or document has been filed as an exhibit to
 the registration statement, please see the copy of the
contract or document that has been filed. Each statement in this prospectus relating
to a contract or document filed as an exhibit is qualified in all respects
by the filed exhibit. The SEC also maintains an Internet website
that contains the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part, as well as the
exhibits thereto. These documents, along
 with future reports, proxy statements and other information about us, are available at the SEC’s website,
www.sec.gov.
 
We are subject to the information and reporting
 requirements of the Exchange Act, and, in accordance with this law, file periodic reports and other
information with the SEC. These periodic
reports and other information are available at the SEC’s website, www.sec.gov. We also maintain a website at
https://investors.nxuenergy.com.
You may access these materials free of charge as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with, or
furnished
to, the SEC. Information contained on our website is not a part of this prospectus, and the inclusion of our website address in this
prospectus is an
inactive textual reference only.
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INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS BY REFERENCE

 
The SEC allows us to “incorporate by reference”
 the information we file with it which means that we can disclose important information to you by
referring you to those documents instead
of having to repeat the information in this prospectus. The information incorporated by reference is considered to
be part of this prospectus,
and later information that we file with the SEC will automatically update and supersede this information. We incorporate by
reference
the documents listed below and any future filings made with the SEC (other than any portions of any such documents that are not deemed
“filed”
under the Exchange Act in accordance with the Exchange Act and applicable SEC rules) under Sections 13(a),
13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act
including those made after (i) the date of the registration statement of which
this prospectus is a part and prior to effectiveness of the registration statement
and (ii) the date of this prospectus and before
the completion of the offering of the shares of our Class A common stock included in this prospectus:

 
● Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2023, filed with the SEC on April 1, 2024, as amended by Amendment

No. 1 on Form 10-K/A filed with the SEC on May 1, 2024;
 

● Our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarters
ended March 31, 2024, June 30, 2024 and September 30, 2024, filed with the SEC on
May 10, 2024, August 6, 2024 and November 13, 2024,
respectively;

 
● Our Current Reports on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 12, 2024, February 14, 2024, April 5, 2024, April 19, 2024, May 10, 2024 (Item

2.05 only), July 24, 2024, August 16, 2024, September 6, 2024, October 24, 2024 (Items 1.01, 5.02 and 8.01 and corresponding exhibits under
Item 9.01 only) and December 27, 2024; and

 
● The description of the Class A common stock, which is contained
in our registration statement on Form 8-A12B (File No. 001-41702) filed with

the SEC on May 12, 2023, which incorporates the description
 of the Class A common stock contained in the prospectus that is part of our
registration statement on Form S-4 originally filed with
the SEC on April 17, 2023, as amended and supplemented, and any amendment or report
filed for the purpose of updating such description.

 
Any statement contained in this prospectus or
any prospectus supplement, or in a document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference herein
or therein, shall be deemed
to be modified or superseded to the extent that a statement contained herein, or in any subsequent prospectus supplement or in
any subsequently
 filed document that also is incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference herein or therein, modifies or supersedes such
statement.
Any statement so modified or superseded shall not be deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to constitute a part of this prospectus
or any
prospectus supplement.
 
You may obtain, free of charge, a copy of any
of these documents (other than exhibits to these documents unless the exhibits are specifically incorporated
by reference into these
documents or referred to in this prospectus) from our website (https://investors.nxuenergy.com) or by writing or calling us at
the
following address and telephone number:

 
Nxu, Inc.

1828 N. Higley Rd. Ste 116
Mesa, AZ 85205
(602) 309-5425

 
You should rely only on information contained
 in, or incorporated by reference into, this prospectus and any prospectus supplement. We have not
authorized anyone to provide you with
information different from that contained in this prospectus or incorporated by reference into this prospectus. The
securities are not
being offered in any jurisdiction in which such an offer or solicitation is not authorized or in which the person making such offer or
solicitation is not qualified to do so or to anyone to whom it is unlawful to make such offer or solicitation.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

 
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Verde Bioresins Inc.
 
Opinion on the Financial Statements
 
We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Verde Bioresisns
Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the related statements
of operations, stockholders’
(deficit) equity, and cash flows for each of the years then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial
statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company
as of December 31, 2023
and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years then ended, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.
 
Going Concern
 
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that
the Company will continue as a going concern. As discussed in Note 1 to the
financial statements, the Company has incurred operating
losses since inception, resulting in an accumulated deficit and these conditions raise substantial
doubt about its ability to continue
as a going concern. Management’s plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note 1. The financial statements
do
not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.
 
Basis for Opinion
 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public
 accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United  States)
(“PCAOB”) and are required
to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules
and regulations
of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB
and in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America. Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement, whether
due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements,
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles
 used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe
that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2020.
 
/s/ EISNERAMPER LLP
Iselin, New Jersey
July 15, 2024
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Verde Bioresins, Inc.

Balance Sheets
 

   
December 31,

2023    
December 31,

2022  
Assets:            
Current assets:            
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 962,725    $ 1,194,537 
Accounts receivables     2,971      — 
Inventory     160,038      — 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     30,580      74,658 
Total current assets     1,156,314      1,269,195 
               
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net     1,410,333      1,778,332 
Property and equipment, net     2,139,610      1,787,718 
Other assets     470,111      466,153 
Total assets   $ 5,176,368    $ 5,301,398 

               
Liabilities and Stockholders’ (Deficit) Equity:              
Current liabilities:              
Accounts payable   $ 997,587    $ 9,239 
Accrued liabilities     1,305,614      380,917 
Convertible notes, net of debt discount of $1,957,928 and $1,395,349 of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively     7,542,072      2,604,651 
Current portion of operating lease liabilities     323,206      364,146 
Total current liabilities     10,168,479      3,358,953 
               
Non-current portion of operating lease liabilities     1,167,964      1,491,170 
Total liabilities     11,336,443      4,850,123 
               
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 8)              
               
Stockholders’ (deficit) equity:              
Common stock, $0.00001 par value; 33,723,608,890 shares authorized: 3,243,321,874 shares issued and outstanding

at December 31, 2023 and 2022     32,434      32,434 
Additional paid-in-capital     20,157,328      14,657,328 
Accumulated deficit     (26,349,837)     (14,238,487)
Total stockholders’ (deficit) equity     (6,160,075)     451,275 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ (deficit) equity   $ 5,176,368    $ 5,301,398 

 
See accompanying notes to financial statements
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Verde Bioresins, Inc.

Statements of Operations
 

   

Year ended
December 31,

2023    

Year ended
December 31,

2022  
Sales   $ 107,884    $ — 
Cost of Sales     60,067      — 
Gross Profit     47,817      — 
               
Costs and expenses:              

Selling expenses     419,167      287,542 
General and administrative     4,782,685      2,272,536 
Research and development     1,181,534      980,741 

Operating expenses     (6,383,386)     (3,540,819)
               
Loss from operations     (6,335,569)     (3,540,819)
Interest expense     (5,775,781)     (2,820,223)
Other expenses, net     —      (28,234)
Loss before income taxes     (12,111,350)     (6,389,276)
Income taxes     —      — 
Net loss   $ (12,111,350)   $ (6,389,276)

               
Net loss per share:              
Basic and diluted net loss per share   $ (0.00)   $ (0.00)
               
Weighted average shares outstanding:              
Basic and diluted     3,243,321,874      3,243,321,874 
 

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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Verde Bioresins, Inc.

Statements of Stockholders’ (Deficit) Equity
 

   
Number of

Shares    
Common

Stock    

Additional
Paid-in
Capital    

Accumulated
Deficit     Total  

Balance – January 1, 2023     3,243,321,874    $ 32,434    $ 14,657,328    $ (14,238,487)   $ 451,275 
Issuance of warrants in connection with issuance of

convertible notes     —      —      5,129,270      —      5,129,270 
Beneficial conversion feature of convertible notes     —      —      370,730      —      370,730 
Net loss     —      —      —      (12,111,350)     (12,111,350)
Balance – December 31,
2023     3,243,321,874    $ 32,434    $ 20,157,328    $ (26,349,837)   $ (6,160,075)
                                    
Balance – January 1, 2022     3,243,321,874    $ 32,434    $ 10,657,328    $ (7,849,211)   $ 2,840,551 
Issuance of warrants in connection with issuance of

convertible notes     —      —      2,863,190      —      2,863,190 
Beneficial conversion feature of convertible notes     —      —      1,136,810      —      1,136,810 
Net loss     —      —      —      (6,389,276)     (6,389,276)
Balance – December 31,
2022     3,243,321,874    $ 32,434    $ 14,657,328    $ (14,238,487)   $ 451,275 
 

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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Verde Bioresins, Inc.

Statements of Cash Flows
 

   

Year ended
December 31,

2023    

Year ended
December 31,

2022  
Cash flow from operating activities:            
Net loss   $ (12,111,350)   $ (6,389,276)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:              
Depreciation and amortization     249,984      198,834 
Credit losses on notes receivable     310,000      — 
Operating lease costs     367,999      365,988 
Amortization of debt issuance costs     42,337      32,558 
Loss on disposal of property and equipment     —      28,234 
Amortization of debt discount     4,937,421      2,604,651 
Changes in assets and liabilities:              

Prepaid expenses and other current assets     39,432      84,788 
Inventory     (160,038)     — 
Accounts receivables     (2,971)     — 
Other assets     (3,958)     — 
Accounts payable     988,348      (72,727)
Operating lease liabilities     (364,146)     (313,203)
Accrued liabilities     924,697      210,946 

Net cash used in operating activities     (4,782,245)     (3,249,207)
               
Cash flow from investing activities:              

Purchases of property and equipment     (601,876)     (256,306)
Assignment of promissory notes     (310,000)     — 

Net cash used in investing activities     (911,876)     (256,306)
               
Cash flow from financing activities:              

Proceeds from debt financing     5,500,000      4,000,000 
Issuance costs     (37,691)     (50,000)

Net cash provided by financing activities     5,462,309      3,950,000 
               
Net change in cash and cash equivalents     (231,812)     444,487 

Cash and cash equivalents – beginning of period     1,194,537      750,050 
Cash and cash equivalents – end of period   $ 962,725    $ 1,194,537 

               
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash financing and investing activities:              

Purchase of property and equipment with prior deposits   $ —    $ 18,264 
Beneficial conversion feature     370,730      1,136,810 
Issuance of warrants in connection with issuance of convertible notes     5,129,270      2,863,190 

 
See accompanying notes to financial statements
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Verde Bioresins, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

 
1. Nature of Operations and Liquidity
 
Nature of activities
 
Verde Bioresins, Inc. (the “Company” or “Verde”)
(originally incorporated under the name Ezonyx Bio Technologies, Inc.) was incorporated in the State of
Delaware on March 4, 2020.
Verde is a full-service privately held company that specializes in the development and manufacturing of PolyEarthylene,
proprietary,
biodegradable, and compostable polymers derived from sustainable resources as an alternative to conventional plastics. This material is
capable
of being recycled with conventional polyethylene, is eco-friendly, and represents a sustainable bioresin for injection molding,
film extrusion, blow molding
and thermoform applications. With performance properties like petro-polymers, PolyEarthylene products can
be produced in any form and color desired for
use on existing plastics manufacturing equipment.
 
Liquidity and Going Concern
 
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on the basis
that the Company is a going concern, which contemplates, among other things, the
realization of assets and satisfaction of liabilities
 in the normal course of business. The Company had not generated revenues from operations until
April 2023. During the year ended
December 31, 2023 the Company incurred net losses of $12,111,350, used $4,782,245 of cash and cash equivalents for
its operating
activities, had negative working capital of $9,012,165 as of December 31, 2023 and accumulated deficit of $26,349,837 as of December 31,
2023.
 
The Company’s existence is dependent upon management’s
ability to obtain additional funding sources, enter into strategic alliances or generate significant
revenues, to cover its ongoing operating
 expenses, and also to continue to develop and be able to profitably market its products. Adequate additional
financing may not be available
to the Company on acceptable terms, or at all. If the Company is unable to raise additional capital and/or enter into strategic
alliances
when needed or on attractive terms, it would be forced to delay or reduce any commercialization efforts. The Company anticipates incurring
additional losses until such time, if ever, that it can generate significant sales. These circumstances raise substantial doubt about
the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are issued. Additional
working capital will be required to continue
operations and scale its products.
 
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that
the Company will continue as a going concern. The financial statements do not
include any adjustments to reflect the possible future effects
 on the recoverability and classifications of assets or the amounts and classifications of
liabilities that may result should the Company
be unable to continue as a going concern.
 
2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies
 
The Company’s financial statements included herein have been
prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America, or U.S. GAAP, and pursuant
to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC. Any reference in these notes to
applicable guidance is
 meant to refer to the authoritative U.S.  GAAP as found in the Accounting Standards Codifications (“ASC”) of the Financial
Accounting Standards Borad (“FASB”). The Company considers events or transactions that occur after the balance sheet date
 but before the financial
statements are issued to provide additional evidence relative to certain estimates or to identify matters that
require additional disclosure.
 
Use of Estimates
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
 assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant estimates and assumptions reflected in
these financial statements
include but are not limited to the allowance for expected credit losses, allowance for sales returns, accrual of operating expenses,
and
valuation of equity instruments and beneficial conversion feature.
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Verde Bioresins, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

 
2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (cont.)
 
Segment Information
 
Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about
which separate discrete information is available for evaluation by the chief operating
decision maker, or decision-making group,
in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. The Company manages its operations as a
single operating segment for
the purposes of assessing performance and making decisions.
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents
 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash and certain highly liquid investments
with original maturities of 90 days or less from the date of purchase. Cash
equivalents are primarily recorded at cost, which approximates
fair value due to their generally short maturities.
 
Concentration of Credit Risk
 
Financial instruments that subject the Company to credit risk primarily
 consist of cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivables. The Company
maintains its cash and cash equivalent balances with high-quality financial
institutions and, consequently, the Company believes that such funds are subject
to minimal credit risk. As of December 31, 2023,
the Company had cash of $715,574 in excess of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insured limit.
The Company provides credit to
its customers in the normal course of its operations. It carries out, on a continuing basis, credit checks on its customers.
 
Allowance for expected credit losses
 
The Company estimates the balance of its allowance for expected credit
losses. In determining the amount of the allowance for credit losses, the Company
considers historical collectability based on past due
status and makes judgments about the creditworthiness of customers and other third-parties based on
ongoing credit evaluations. The
 Company also considers customer-specific  information, current market conditions, and reasonable and supportable
forecasts of future
 economic conditions. Account balances are written off against the allowance when it is determined that the receivable will not be
recovered.
The allowance for expected credit losses on accounts receivable was $0 each at December 31, 2023 and 2022. The allowance for expected
credit
losses on notes receivable was $310,000 at December 31, 2023.
 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
 
Fair value is defined as the price the Company would receive to sell
 an investment in a timely transaction or pay to transfer a liability in a timely
transaction with an independent buyer in the principal
market, or in the absence of a principal market, the most advantageous market for the investment or
liability. A framework is used for
measuring fair value utilizing a three-tier hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair
value.
The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1) and
 the lowest
priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3).
 
The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:
 
  Level 1 — Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical assets and liabilities
     
  Level 2 — Observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets, such as quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets,

quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be
corroborated by observable market data;

     
  Level 3 — Unobservable inputs reflecting management’s assumptions, consistent with reasonably available assumptions made by other market

participants. These valuations require significant judgment.
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Verde Bioresins, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

 
2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (cont.)
 
The carrying amounts of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents
were measured using quoted market prices in active markets and represent Level 1
investments. The Company’s other financial instruments
 such as notes receivable, accounts receivables, accounts payable, accrued expenses and
convertible notes, approximate their fair values
due to their short maturities.
 
Inventory
 
Inventories are principally comprised of raw materials and finished
 goods and are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value with cost being
determined using first-in first-out method.
The Company reviews inventories for obsolete items to determine adjustments that it estimates will be needed to
record inventory at lower
of cost or net realizable value. Inventory costs include labor, overhead, manufacturing costs and inbound freight costs.
 
Revenue Recognition
 
Verde recognizes revenue from product sales in accordance with the
Financial Accounting Standards Board’s ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts
with Customers (“ASC 606”). This
standard applies to all contracts with customers, except for contracts that are within the scope of other standards, such
as leases, insurance,
collaboration arrangements and financial instruments. Under ASC 606, Verde recognizes revenue when its customer obtains control of
promised goods or services, in an amount that reflects the consideration that Verde expects to receive in exchange for those goods or
services. To determine
revenue recognition for arrangements that are determined to be within the scope of ASC 606, Verde performs
 the following five steps: (i)  identify the
contract(s) with a customer; (ii) identify the performance obligations in the
contract; (iii) determine the transaction price; (iv) allocate the transaction price
to the performance obligations in the contract;
and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation. Verde only applies the
five-step  model
 to contracts when it is probable that Verde will collect the consideration it is entitled to in exchange for the goods it transfers to
 the
customer. At contract inception, once the contract is determined to be within the scope of ASC 606, Verde assesses the goods
or services promised within
each contract and determines those that are performance obligations and assesses whether each promised goods
 is distinct. Verde then recognizes as
revenue the amount of the transaction price that is allocated to the respective performance obligation
when (or as) the performance obligation is satisfied.
 
Verde derives its revenues primarily from product sales of PolyEarthylene.
Verde primarily produces and sells formulated resin pellets and Verde typically
recognizes revenue for these sales upon shipment. Verde
sells to distributors who may request a return or credit for unforeseen reasons or who may have
agreed discounts or allowances to be netted
from amounts invoiced. Due to the highly specialized nature of Verde’s products, returns and allowances are
projected to be infrequent
and immaterial. Verde offers a standard quality assurance warranty related to the fitness of its finished goods.
 
The Company records accounts receivables due from distributors and
other customers. Payment terms to customers are generally 30-60 days. Accounts
receivable was $2,971, $0 and $0 as
of December 31, 2023, December 31, 2022 and January 1, 2022, respectively.
 
Research and Development
 
Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and
 development expenses include personnel costs associated with research and
development activities, including third-party contractors
to perform research, conduct testing and manufacture new product samples. The Company accrues
for costs incurred by external service providers
 based on its estimates of services performed and costs incurred. These estimates include the level of
services performed by third parties.
Based on the timing of amounts invoiced by service providers, the Company may also record payments made to those
providers as prepaid
expenses that will be recognized as expense in future periods as the related services are rendered.
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Verde Bioresins, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

 
2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (cont.)
 
Selling Expenses
 
Selling expenses consist of salary, marketing, and advertising costs
not directly attributable to direct costs of production or associated with the Company’s
administration, research and development
activities.
 
Net Loss per Share
 
Basic loss per share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted-average number
of common shares outstanding for the year. Diluted loss per share is
computed by dividing net loss by the weighted-average number
of common shares outstanding plus common stock equivalents (if dilutive) related to stock
options, restricted stock units, and warrants
for each year and the conversion feature of convertible notes.
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 
The Company considers the applicability and impact of all Accounting
 Standards Updates (“ASUs”). ASUs not discussed below were assessed and
determined to be either not applicable or are expected
to have minimal impact on the financial statements.
 
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncement
 
In 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued ASU 2016-13,
Financial Instruments — Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit
Losses on Financial Instruments (“ASU
2016- 13”). The guidance changes the impairment model used to measure credit losses for most financial assets. A
new forward-looking expected
credit loss model will replace the existing incurred credit loss model and will impact the Company’s accounts receivables.
This
is expected to generally result in earlier recognition of allowances for credit losses. The Company adopted ASU 2016-13 on January 1,
2023 and it did
not have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.
 
Accounting Pronouncement Issued but Not Adopted
 
In 2023, the FASB issued ASU  2023-09  —  Income
 Taxes (Topic  740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures (“ASU  2023-09”). This update
standardizes categories for
the effective tax rate reconciliation, requires disaggregation of income taxes and additional income tax-related disclosures. This
update is required to be effective for the Company for fiscal periods beginning after December  15, 2024. The Company is evaluating
 the effect that
ASU 2023-09 will have on its financial statements and disclosures.
 
In 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07 — Segment
Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures (“ASU 2023-07”). This
update requires expanded
annual and interim disclosures for the significant segment expenses that are regularly provided to the chief operating decision
maker
and included within each reported measure of segment profit or loss. This update will be effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15,
2023, and is to be applied retrospectively to all periods presented in the financial statements. Early adoption is permitted.
The Company is evaluating the
effect that ASU 2023-07 will have on its financial statements and disclosures.
 
Leases
 
At the inception of an arrangement, the Company determines whether
the arrangement is or contains a lease based on the unique facts and circumstances
present. Most leases with a term greater than one year
are recognized on the balance sheet as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. The Company has
elected not to recognize on the
balance sheet leases with terms of one year or less. Certain of the Company’s lease agreements contain renewal options;
however,
the Company does not recognize right-of-use assets or lease liabilities for renewal periods unless it is determined that the Company
is reasonably
certain of renewing the lease at inception or when a triggering event occurs.
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Verde Bioresins, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

 
2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (cont.)
 
The Company leases warehouse space and office facilities. Verde’s
 operating leases with terms longer than 12  months are recorded at the sum of the
present value of the lease’s fixed minimum
payments as operating lease liabilities and right of use assets (“ROU assets”) in the Company’s balance sheets.
For
leases that contain termination options, where the rights to terminate are held by either Verde, the lessor, or both parties and it is
reasonably certain that
Verde or the lessor will exercise that option, Verde factors these extended or shortened lease terms into the
minimum lease payments. The ROU assets also
include any initial direct costs incurred and lease payments made at or before the commencement
date and are reduced by lease incentives.
 
The Company uses an incremental borrowing rate to determine the present
value of the lease payments for leases, as Verde’s leases do not have readily
determinable implicit interest rates. The Company’s
 incremental borrowing rates represent the rates incurred to borrow on a collateralized basis over a
similar term at an amount equal to
the lease payments in a similar economic environment.
 
The depreciable life of ROU assets is limited by the expected lease
term unless there is a transfer of title or purchase option reasonably certain of exercise.
The Company’s lease agreements do not
contain any significant residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants.
 
Property and Equipment
 
Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation
and amortization. Property and equipment are depreciated using the straight-
line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets,
which range from three to 10 years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of
useful lives of the asset or maximum
related lease term.
 
Convertible Notes
 
The convertible notes are considered a hybrid financial instrument
consisting of put options, conversion option and various embedded features that required
evaluation as potential embedded derivatives
under FASB ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging (“ASC 815”). Based on the nature of the host instrument and
the embedded
features, management concluded that none of the conversion and redemption features required bifurcation and separate accounting from the
host instrument. The Company determined that the put options in the event of default and change in control was an embedded derivative.
As a result, the
put options required bifurcation and separate accounting under ASC 815. The value of such options was immaterial
as of the issuance date, December 31,
2022 and December 31, 2023.
 
When the Company has determined that the embedded conversion option
should not be bifurcated from its host instrument, the Company accounts for
convertible notes in accordance with ASC  470-20, Debt
 with Conversion and Other Options. The Company records, when necessary, discounts to
convertible notes for the intrinsic value of conversion
 options embedded in debt instruments based upon the differences between the fair value of the
underlying common stock at the commitment
date of the transaction and the effective conversion price embedded in the notes. The Company amortizes any
debt discount over the term
of the notes, using the effective interest method.
 
Warrants
 
The Company accounts for stock warrants as either equity instruments,
liabilities or derivative liabilities in accordance with ASC Topic 480, Distinguishing
Liabilities from Equity  and/or ASC  815,
 depending on the specific terms of the warrant agreement. Liability-classified  warrants are recorded at their
estimated fair values
at each reporting period until they are exercised, terminated, reclassified or otherwise settled. Changes in the estimated fair value
of
liability-classified warrants are recorded in the statements of operations. Equity-classified warrants are recorded within
additional paid-in capital at the time
of issuance and not subject to remeasurement.
 
When equity-classified warrants are issued in connection with
issuance of convertible notes, net proceeds received are allocated to the financial instruments
issued which results in a debt discount
that is amortized over the term of the convertible notes, using the effective interest method.
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Verde Bioresins, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

 
2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (cont.)
 
Income Taxes
 
The Company provides for income taxes using the asset and liability
approach. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded based on the differences
between the financial statement and tax bases of assets
and liabilities and the tax rates in effect when these differences are expected to reverse. Deferred tax
assets are reduced by a valuation
allowance if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax
assets will not
be realized. As of December 31, 2023, and 2022, the Company had a full valuation allowance against deferred tax assets.
 
The Company is subject to the provisions of ASC 740-10-25, Income
Taxes (“ASC 740”). ASC 740 prescribes a more likely-than-not threshold for the
financial statement recognition
 of uncertain tax positions. ASC  740 clarifies the accounting for income taxes by prescribing a minimum recognition
threshold and
measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax
return.
On a quarterly basis, the Company undergoes a process to evaluate whether income tax accruals are in accordance with ASC 740
guidance on uncertain tax
positions. The Company has not recorded any liability for uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 2023,
and 2022.
 
For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company
recorded zero income tax expense. No tax benefit has been recorded in relation to the pre-
tax loss for the years ended December 31,
2023, and 2022, due to a full valuation allowance to offset any deferred tax asset related to net operating loss
carry forwards attributable
to the losses.
 
Stock-Based Compensation
 
The Company accounts for all stock-based payment awards granted
to employees and non-employees, if any, as stock-based compensation expense at their
grant date fair value. The Company’s stock-based payments
include stock options, restricted stock units, and stock appreciation rights. The measurement
date for employee awards is the date of
grant, and stock-based compensation costs are recognized as expense over the employees’ requisite service period,
on a straight-line basis.
The measurement date for non-employee awards is the date of grant and stock-based compensation costs for non-employees are
recognized as expense over the vesting period on a straight-line basis. Forfeitures are accounted for as they occur.
 
Subsequent Events
 
The Company evaluated subsequent events that occurred after the balance
sheet date through July 15, 2024, which is the date the financial statements were
available to be issued and no events were noted
other than those already disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements.
 
3. Property and Equipment
 
Property and equipment, net, consists of the following on December 31,
2023 and 2022:
 

   

Estimated
Useful Life

(Years)    
December 31,

2023    
December 31,

2022  
Leasehold improvements   12     $ 578,666    $ 575,570 
Machinery and equipment   7 – 10       1,945,744      1,355,748 
Office equipment   3 – 5       65,346      60,249 
Furniture and fixtures   3 – 10       35,277      31,590 
Injection molds   3       44,582      44,582 
            2,669,615      2,067,739 
Accumulated depreciation and amortization           (530,005)     (280,021)
Property and equipment, net         $ 2,139,610    $ 1,787,718 
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3. Property and Equipment (cont.)
 
Depreciation expense amounted to $249,984 and $198,834 for the years
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
 
Other Assets
 
Other assets are comprised of security deposit and deposits for the
 purchases of equipment, machinery or raw material which will be used in
manufacturing.
 
The components of other assets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022
are as follows:
 

   
December 31,

2023    
December 31,

2022  
Deposit to vendors   $ 27,371    $ 12,400 
Rent deposit     —      11,013 
Letter of credit     442,740      442,740 
Total other assets   $ 470,111    $ 466,153 

 
The Company established an irrevocable standby letter of credit with
a bank for $442,740 which expired on March 16, 2024, and is renewed for a one-
year period from March 16, 2024 to March 16,
2025. The 12-month renewal charge was $9,202 from March 16, 2023 to March 16, 2024, and is recorded as
part of prepaid
expenses. The renewal charge is being amortized to interest expenses over a 12-month period from March 2023 to February 2024
using
straight line method. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recognized interest expense of $7,669 on the statements
of operations. The
letter of credit serves as the Company’s security deposit in the amount of one-year lease on a warehouse
leased by the Company (see Note 7) in which the
landlord is the beneficiary.
 
4. Accrued Liabilities
 
The components of accrued liabilities as of December 31, 2023
and 2022 are as follows:
 

   
December 31,

2023    
December 31,

2022  
Accrued professional fees   $ 209,409    $ 121,575 
Accrued interest on convertible notes     971,370      183,014 
Accrued employees’ wages & benefits     109,607      64,252 
Accrued other     15,228      12,076 
Total accrued liabilities   $ 1,305,614    $ 380,917 

 
5. Convertible Notes
 
On February 17, 2023, Verde issued to Acuitas Group Holdings LLC
(“Acuitas”) a senior secured convertible promissory note (the “February 2023 Note”)
with an aggregate principal
amount of $4,000,000, documenting Acuitas’s prior two equal cash transfers to Verde, which aggregated to $4,000,000 and
which were
 made on March  31, 2022 and November  2, 2022. The February  2023 Note accrues interest on (i)  $2,000,000 of the principal
 amount
outstanding commencing on and including March 31, 2022 (the “First Interest Accrual Date”), and (ii) $2,000,000
of the principal amount outstanding
commencing on and including November 2, 2022, each at an interest rate of 10% per annum. During
the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the
Company recognized interest expense of $400,000 and $183,014, respectively, on the
statements of operations.
 
Unless earlier converted or repaid, on or after (i) the 12-month anniversary
of the First Interest Accrual Date, provided that such date shall be automatically
extended by a period of six (6) months if Verde
enters into a definitive business combination agreement with TLGY Acquisition Corporation (“TLGY”) on
or before March 18,
2023 (the “Maturity Date”), or (ii) any time on or after the occurrence of an event of default (as defined in the February 2023
Note),
the entire outstanding principal and accrued interest under the February 2023 Note shall, at the option of Acuitas, be either
 

F-13



 

 
Verde Bioresins, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

 
5. Convertible Notes (cont.)
 
due and payable or converted into shares of Verde common stock. The
number of shares of Verde common stock into which the outstanding principal and
accrued interest will convert shall be equal to the quotient
of (i) such outstanding principal amount and accrued interest divided by (ii) $5,000,000 divided
by the fully diluted capitalization
of Verde as of the applicable date of determination (which capitalization shall exclude any equity securities issuable upon
conversion
of the February 2023 Note and the February 2023 Warrant (as defined below)) (the “February 2023 Capped Price”),
 in accordance with the
terms of the February 2023 Note. In the event of a qualified conversion event (as defined in the February 2023
Note), the outstanding principal amount and
accrued interest will automatically convert into Verde common stock or other equity securities
at a price per share equal to the February 2023 Capped Price
as determined immediately prior to the consummation of such event. In
 June  2023, Verde and Acuitas entered into an amendment No. 1 to the
February 2023 Note, pursuant to which the Maturity Date
was extended from March 31, 2023 to April  19, 2024. The February 2023 Capped Price is
$0.0015 as of December 31, 2023.
 
As of date these financial statements are available to be issued, the
February 2023 Note is due and unpaid and not converted into shares.
 
On March 12, 2024, Verde served the notice of termination of the
Merger Agreement with TLGY. On March 18, 2024, TLGY consented to the termination
of the Merger Agreement (see Note 14).
 
In addition, in connection with the issuance of the February 2023
Note, Verde issued and sold to Acuitas a warrant (the “February 2023 Warrant”) to
purchase that number of shares of Verde
common stock equal to (i) $4,000,000, divided by (ii) $5,000,000 divided by the fully diluted capitalization of
Verde immediately
prior to the exercise of the February 2023 Warrant and the conversion of the February 2023 Note (which capitalization shall
exclude any
equity securities issuable upon conversion of the February  2023 Note and exercise of the February  2023 Warrant),
 as set forth in the February  2023
Warrant, which number of shares is to be determined at the close of business on the day prior
 to Verde’s receipt of Acuitas’s notice of exercise of the
February 2023 Warrant, for an aggregate exercise price of $4,000,000.
The exercise price for the February 2023 Warrant will be equal to (i) $4,000,000
divided by (ii) the number of shares of
Verde common stock issuable upon exercise of the February 2023 Warrant, as determined in accordance with the
foregoing sentence.
 In March  2023, Verde and Acuitas amended and restated the February  2023 Warrant to reflect that the February  2023 Warrant
 is
exercisable for up to 3,571,130,758 shares of Verde common stock, at an initial purchase price of $0.0011 per share, for an aggregate
exercise price of
$4,000,000. The February 2023 Warrant is exercisable at any time or from time to time on or after the date of issuance
and prior to March 30, 2027.
 
On June  15, 2023, Verde issued and sold to Acuitas a senior secured
 convertible promissory note (the “June  2023 Note”) with an aggregate principal
amount of $5,500,000, documenting Acuitas’
cash transfer to Verde of $5,500,000 and which was made on April 19, 2023. The June 2023 Note accrues
interest on $5,500,000
of the principal amount outstanding commencing on and including April 19, 2023, at an interest rate of 10% per annum. During
the years
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company recognized interest expense of $387,260 and $0, respectively, on the statements of
operations.
 
Unless earlier converted or repaid, the entire outstanding principal
and accrued interest under the June 2023 Note shall, at the option of Acuitas, be either
due and payable or converted into shares
of Verde common stock, on or after (i) the 12-month anniversary of April 19, 2023 or (ii) any time on or after the
occurrence of an event of default (as defined in the June 2023 Note). The number of shares of Verde common stock into which the outstanding
principal
and accrued interest will convert shall be equal to the quotient of (i) such outstanding principal amount and accrued interest
divided by (ii) $5,000,000
divided by the fully diluted capitalization of Verde as of the applicable date of determination (which
 capitalization shall exclude any equity securities
issuable upon conversion of the June 2023 Note and the June 2023 Warrant
(as defined below)) (the “June 2023 Capped Price”), in accordance with the
terms of the June 2023 Note. In the event
of a qualified conversion event (as defined in the June 2023 Note), the outstanding principal amount and accrued
interest will automatically
 convert into Verde Common Stock or other equity securities at a price per share equal to the June  2023 Capped Price as
determined
immediately prior to the consummation of such event. The June 2023 Capped Price is $0.0005 as of December 31, 2023.
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5. Convertible Notes (cont.)
 
In addition, in connection with the issuance of the June 2023
Note, Verde issued and sold to Acuitas a warrant (the “June 2023 Warrant”) exercisable for up
to 8,838,548,625 shares
of Verde Common Stock, at an initial purchase price of $0.0006 per share, for an aggregate exercise price of $5,500,000. The
warrant is
exercisable at any time or from time to time on or after the date of issuance and prior to June 15, 2028.
 
On June  19, 2023, Acuitas transferred and assigned all of the
 issued and outstanding shares of Verde common stock and warrants, including the
February 2023 Warrant and the June 2023 Warrant,
as well as all outstanding secured convertible promissory notes issued by Verde to Acuitas (including
security agreements relating thereto),
including the February 2023 Notes and the June 2023 Note, to Humanitario Capital LLC.
 
The provisions in the warrants as disclosed herein require the Company
to account for the warrants as equity. The Company recognized a discount to debt
at issuance of February 2023 Note of $2,863,190
and at issuance of June 2023 Note of $5,129,270 related to the initial fair values of the February 2023
Warrant and June 2023
Warrant, respectively (see Note 9).
 
As a result of the convertible notes having a lower effective conversion
price considering the value allocated to the warrants, the Company has recognized a
beneficial conversion feature of $1,136,810 on February 2023
Note in 2022 and $370,730 on June 2023 Note in 2023. The beneficial conversion features
and the fair value of the warrants are collectively
considered the debt discount. The Company recorded a debt discount in the amount of $4,000,000 at
issuance of February 2023 and $5,500,000
at issuance of June 2023 Note which are being amortized over the life of the respective convertible notes using
the effective interest
method. During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company recognized $4,937,421 and $2,604,651, respectively, of
amortization of debt discount recorded as part of interest expense on the statements of operations. As of December 31, 2023, $4,000,000
debt discount on
February 2023 Note has been amortized to interest expense and the $3,542,072 debt discount on June 2023 Note
has been amortized to interest expense.
 
All debt issuance costs are accounted for as a deferred asset and will
 be amortized over the life of the convertible notes. During the  years ended
December  31, 2023 and 2022, the Company recognized
 $42,337 and $32,558 respectively, of amortization of debt issuance costs recorded as part of
interest expense on the statements of operations.
The Company had incurred approximately $50,000 in debt issuance costs related to the February 2023
Note and had fully amortized those
costs as of December 31, 2023, and $37,691 in debt issuance costs related to the June 2023 Note and had amortized
approximately
$24,895 as of December 31, 2023.
 
6. Operating Leases
 
On October 1, 2020, the Company commenced a 35-month operating
lease for approximately 4,405 square foot of office space located in Santa Monica,
California. The monthly base rent is $11,013 per
month with no increase each year thereafter. At the end of August 2023, the Company completed the
operating lease and did not renew
it. In June 2021, the Company commenced a 73-month operating lease for approximately 37,268 square foot of industrial
warehouse
 space located in Fullerton, California. The monthly base rent is $36,895  per month for the first 12  months with a  3% increase
 each year
thereafter.
 
As of December  31, 2023 and December  31, 2022, the Company’s
 operating leases have a remaining weighted average lease term of 3.7  years and
4.3 years, respectively, and Verde evaluated
the present value of the payments at inception of the lease using Verde’s estimated incremental borrowing rate
of 11.58%. The Company’s
operating lease expenses were $553,676 and $595,209 for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
 
The Company paid cash of $549,824 and $542,423 for operating leases
for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
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6. Operating Leases (cont.)
 
Maturities of operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2023
were as follows:
 
Year ending   Total  
2024     470,610 
2025     470,610 
2026     470,610 
2027     274,523 
Total paid     1,686,353 
Imputed interest     (195,183)
Total   $ 1,491,170 
Less current portion   $ 323,206 
Lease liabilities – noncurrent   $ 1,167,964 
 
7. Commitments and Contingencies
 
Royalties
 
During 2020, in connection with issuance of common shares to certain
investors, the Company agreed to enter into royalty agreements with these investors
whereby the Company is obligated to make royalty payments,
 on a quarterly basis at rate of 0.2% or, in some cases, 0.1% of adjusted gross revenue
received by Verde in the immediately preceding
fiscal quarter until such time as the investors receive in aggregate $14.2 million in royalties. Royalties
incurred amounted to approximately
 $2,484 and $0, respectively, for the  years ended December  31, 2023, and 2022. Royalties’ payables as of
December 31,
2023 and 2022 amounted to approximately $2,484 and $0, respectively, recorded as part of accounts payable on the balance sheet.
 
Litigation
 
The Company investigates claims as they arise and accrues estimates
 for resolution of legal and other contingencies when losses are probable and
estimable. As of December 31, 2023, Verde is not a party
to litigation or subject to claims incident to the ordinary course of business, including intellectual
property claims, putative and certified
class actions, commercial and consumer protection claims, labor and employment claims, breach of contract claims
and other asserted and
unasserted claims.
 
8. Warrants
 
A summary of the Company’s warrants outstanding at December 31,
2023 is as follows:
 

Exercise Price   Outstanding   Issuance Date   Expiration Date
0.0043   1,053,864,168   February 8, 2021   February 7, 2025
0.0011   3,571,130,758   March 31, 2022   February 7, 2027
0.0006   8,838,548,625   June 15, 2023   June 15, 2028
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8. Warrants (cont.)
 
The following is the summary of changes in warrants to purchase common
stock for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:
 

   

Number of
Warrants

Shares
Outstanding and

Exercisable    

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price per

Share  
Balance as of December 31, 2021     1,053,864,168    $ 0.0043 

Issued March 2022     3,571,130,758    $ 0.0011 
Exercised     —      — 

Balance as of December 31, 2022     4,624,994,926    $ 0.0018 

Issued June 2023     8,838,548,625    $ 0.0006 
Exercised     —      — 

Balance as of December 31, 2023     13,463,543,551    $ 0.0010 

 
The fair value of the warrants on issuance was determined by using
option pricing models assuming the following:
 

   
December 31,

2023    
December 31,

2022  
Risk-free interest rate     3.91%    2.42%
Expected term (in years)     5      5 
Expected volatility     50%    50%
Expected dividend yield     —      — 
Exercise price   $ 0.0006    $ 0.0011 
Fair value of common stock   $ 0.0091    $ 0.0037 
 
9. Stockholders’ (Deficit) Equity
 
The Company’s Certificate of Incorporation, originally filed
in Delaware on March 4, 2020, was first amended on November 18, 2020 by the Certificate of
Amendment of the Second Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation. This amendment authorized the issuance of common stock. On March 21,
2023, the Company’s
Certificate of Incorporation was further amended, as authorized by the Company’s Board of Directors, to increase the Company’s
authorized common stock to 11,211,920,795 shares. On June 15, 2023, the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation was further
amended, as authorized by
the Company’s Board of Directors, to increase the Company’s authorized common stock to 33,723,608,890  shares.
 As of December  31, 2023 and
December 31, 2022, the Company’s capital structure consists of common stock with par value
of $0.00001 per share.
 
The Company has not paid any dividends on common stock to date. It
 is the Company’s present intention to retain any earnings for use in its business
operations and, accordingly, the Company does
 not anticipate that the Board of Directors will declare any dividends in the foreseeable future on its
common stock.
 
In 2020, the Company adopted the 2020 Incentive Stock Option Plan (the
 “2020 Plan”), which provides for the award of incentive stock options to
purchase up to 166,727,405 shares of common
stock. Employees, advisors and directors are eligible to be granted awards under the 2020 Plan. The exercise
price of any option granted
under the 2020 Plan may not be less than 100% of the fair market value of the common stock as determined by the Board of
Directors on
the date of grant. During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were no stock-based awards granted.
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10. Net Loss per Share
 
For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the
Company recorded a net loss available to common stockholders. As such, because the dilution from
potential common stock was antidilutive,
 the Company used basic weighted-average  common stock outstanding, rather than diluted weighted-
average common stock outstanding
when calculating diluted loss per share for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.
 

   

Year ended
December 31,

2023    

Year ended
December 31,

2022  
Numerator:              
Net loss available to common stockholders   $ (12,111,350)   $ (6,389,276)

               
Denominator:              
Weighted-average number of shares used in computing net loss per share, basic and diluted     3,243,321,874      3,243,321,874 

               
Net loss per share – basic and diluted   $ (0.00)   $ (0.00)

 
The following potential dilutive securities have been excluded from
 the computation of diluted net loss per share as the effect would be anti-dilutive.
Therefore, the weighted-average number of common
stock outstanding used to calculate both basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common
stockholders is the same.
 

   

Year ended
December 31,

2023    

Year ended
December 31,

2022  
Warrants exercisable for common stock     13,463,543,551      4,624,994,926 
Share issuable upon conversion of convertible notes     15,163,835,616      3,121,095,890 
      28,627,379,167      7,746,090,816 

 
11. Income Taxes
 
Deferred income taxes reflect the net effects of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes
and the amounts used for income tax purposes.
The Company’s deferred tax assets relate primarily to its net operating loss carryforwards and other balance
sheet basis differences.
In accordance with ASC 740, the Company recorded a valuation allowance to fully offset the gross deferred tax asset, because it is
not more likely than not that the Company will realize future benefits associated with these deferred tax assets as of December 31,
2023 and 2022.
 
As of December 31, 2023, and 2022, the Company had net deferred
tax assets of $7,258,796 and $3,934,223, respectively, against which a full valuation
allowance had been recorded. The change in the valuation
allowance for the year ended December 31, 2023, was an increase of $3,324,573. The increase in
the valuation allowance for the year
ended December 31, 2023, was mainly attributable to an increase in the net operating loss carryforward, which resulted
in an increase
in the deferred tax assets and a corresponding valuation allowance.
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11. Income Taxes (cont.)
 
Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets as
of December 31, 2023, and 2022 were as follows:
 

   

Year ended
December 31,

2023    

Year ended
December 31,

2022  
Deferred tax assets:            
Net operating loss forward   $ 6,576,237    $ 3,787,952 
Operating lease liabilities     417,283      519,184 
Capitalized research and development expenses     377,553      205,286 
Start-up costs     20,884      22,753 
Accrued liabilities and reserves     104,115      27,059 
Total deferred tax assets     7,496,072      4,562,234 
               
Deferred tax liabilities:              
Operating right-of-use asset     (394,662)     (497,642)
Fixed assets     (208,820)     (128,039)
Prepaid expenses     (11,835)     (1,330)
Debt accretion     (36,932)     — 
Total deferred tax liabilities     (652,249)     (628,011)
Net deferred tax assets before valuation allowance     6,843,823      3,934,223 
               
Valuation allowance     (6,843,823)     (3,934,223)
Net deferred tax assets after valuation allowance   $ —    $ — 

 
A reconciliation of the federal statutory tax rate and the effective
tax rates for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 is as follows:
 

   

Year ended
December 31,

2023    

Year ended
December 31,

2022  
U.S. federal statutory tax rate     21.0%    21.0%
State income taxes, net of federal benefit     5.5      7.9 
Nondeductible expenses and other     (2.5)     (0.2)
Change in valuation allowance     (24.0)     (28.7)
Effective tax rate     —%    —%
 
The Company had approximately $24,215,174 and $13,687,041 of gross
net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards (federal and state) as of December 31,
2023 and 2022, respectively, which may
be carried forward indefinitely. Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code, similar state regulations,
contain provisions that
may limit the NOL carryforwards available to be used to offset income in any given year upon the occurrence of certain events,
including
changes in the ownership interests of significant stakeholders. In the event of a cumulative change in ownership in excess of 50% over
a three-
year period, the amount of the NOL carryforwards that the Company may utilize in any one year may be limited.
 
The Company follows guidance on accounting for uncertainty in income
taxes which prescribes a minimum threshold a tax provision is required to meet
before being recognized in the financial statements. The
Company does not have any liabilities as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 to account for potential
income tax exposure. The Company
is obliged to file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and the State of California. The tax years ended
December 31,
2023, 2022, 2021 and 2020 are open and subject to audit examination.
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12. Distribution Agreement
 
In February 2023, Verde entered into a distribution agreement
with Vinmar International Ltd. (“Vinmar”) for the distribution of its PolyEarthylene resins
throughout the United States,
Canada and Mexico. In April 2023, Vinmar started selling PolyEarthylene to its customers. Sales to Vinmar amounted to
$26,818 and
 $0 for the  years ended December  31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Outstanding receivables from Vinmar as of December  31,
 2023 and
2022 amounted to $2,946 and $0, respectively.
 
13. Merger Agreement
 
On June 21, 2023, Verde entered into a merger agreement with TLGY
Acquisition Corporation (“TLGY”) (the “TLGY Merger Agreement”).
 
On August 14, 2023, TLGY filed a registration statement on Form S-4 with
the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, which included a preliminary
proxy statement and prospectus in connection with the proposed
business combination with Verde.
 
On November  14, 2023, TLGY filed the amendment number 1 to the
 registration statement on Form  S-4  with the U.S.  Securities and Exchange
Commission.
 
Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, Verde has agreed, if
 any extension of the deadline by which TLGY must complete its initial business
combination (an “Extension”) is required (i) from
September 2, 2023 through December 2, 2023 (the “First Extension Period”) and (ii) from December 2,
2023
 through March 31, 2024 (the “Second Extension Period”), to cause one or more loans (“Company Extension Loans”)
 to be made to TLGY on a
monthly basis on an interest-free basis in an amount equal to (x) with respect to the First Extension
Period, fifty percent (50%) of the amount necessary for
funding the applicable month of the Extension(s); provided that Verde shall not
be required to make a Company Extension Loan in excess of $100,000 per
month, and (y) with respect to the Second Extension Period,
the lesser of fifty percent (50%) of the amount necessary for enabling the applicable month of
Extension(s), and $150,000. The proceeds
of the Company Extension Loans shall be deposited into TLGY’s trust account and held for the benefit of TLGY
and its public shareholders.
 Verde has made Company Extension Loans on each of August  22, 2023, September  22, 2023, November  11, 2023 and
December 7,
2023 in the amount of $100,000, $100,000, $55,000 and $55,000, respectively.
 
The August 22, 2023, September 22, 2023, November 11,
2023 and December 7, 2023 Company Extension Loans or a total of $310,000 are recorded as
Notes receivable on the balance sheet. As
a result of the termination of the Merger Agreement (as discussed below), Verde provided for the full valuation
allowance of $310,000
for these Notes receivable on the statements of operation during the year ended December 31, 2023.
 
On each of January 12, 2024, February 10, 2024 and March 8,
2024, TLGY issued to Verde additional unsecured promissory notes with aggregate principal
amounts of $55,000 each, in connection with
Verde’s January 9, 2024, February 8, 2024 and March 8, 2024 Company Extension Loans.
 
On March 12, 2024, Verde terminated the Merger Agreement with
TLGY due to TLGY’s willful breach of the Merger Agreement. On March 18, 2024,
TLGY consented to the termination of the Merger
Agreement. On May 4, 2024, Verde and TLGY signed a Mutual Release Agreement and discharged each
other of all liabilities and obligations
under the Merger Agreement and other ancillary agreements. In the event of consummation by TLGY of its initial
business combination, on
or within 5 business days after the date of the closing of such business combination, TLGY shall pay Verde a sum of $83,125. If
TLGY
does not consummate its initial business combination and subsequently liquidates, Verde shall not be entitled to any payment.
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Verde Bioresins, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

 
14. Subsequent Events
 
On March 5, 2024, Verde issued and sold to Humanitario Capital
LLC (“Humanitario”) a senior secured convertible promissory note (the “March 2024
Note”) with an aggregate
principal amount of $5,000,000 and received cash transfers of $1,250,000, $500,000 and $750,000 on March 6, 2024, April 17,
2024 and June 5, 2024, respectively, from Humanitario and remaining $2,500,000 is expected to be received from Humanitario in 2024.
The March 2024
Note accrues interest on the principal amount outstanding commencing on March 6, 2024 (the “First Interest
Accrual Date”), at a fixed rate equal to 10%
per annum, compounded monthly.
 
Unless earlier converted or repaid, on or after (i) September 5,
2025 or (ii) any time on or after the occurrence of an event of default (as defined in the
March 2024 Note), the entire outstanding
principal and accrued interest under the March 2024 Note shall, at the option of Humanitario, be either due and
payable or converted
into shares of Verde common stock, par value $0.00001 per share; provided that, if there is then-outstanding a class or series of
capital
stock that is senior in rights, preferences or privileges to the Common Stock, then the outstanding amount shall convert into
shares of a newly-issued series
of such capital stock having rights, preferences and privileges (except with respect to the per share
 liquidation preference, which shall be equal to the
Capped Price (as defined below)) substantially equivalent to such senior class or
series of capital stock of the Company. The number of shares of Common
Stock into which the outstanding amount shall convert shall be
equal to the quotient of (i) the Outstanding Amount divided by (ii) the Capped Price (as
defined below) as determined as of
the time Humanitario exercises its option to convert.
 
The “Capped Price” shall be equal to $5,000,000 divided
by the fully diluted capitalization of the Verde as of the applicable date of determination, which
capitalization shall include the unallocated
equity incentive pool and any increase to the equity incentive pool made prior to or at the time of conversion of
the March 2024
Note, and all other rights to acquire capital stock of the Verde outstanding at the time of the conversion of the March 2024 Note,
but shall
exclude: the Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the March 2024 Note.
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Verde
Bioresins, Inc.

Condensed Balance Sheets
 

   

September 30,
2024

(unaudited)    
December 31, 

2023  
             
Assets:            
Current assets:            
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 226,965    $ 962,725 
Accounts receivables     16,449      2,971 
Inventory     217,573      160,038 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     59,639      30,580 
Total current assets     520,626      1,156,314 
               
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net     1,174,527      1,410,333 
Property and equipment, net     2,537,659      2,139,610 
Other assets     470,111      470,111 
Total assets   $ 4,702,923    $ 5,176,368 

               
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Deficit :              
Current liabilities:              
Accounts payable   $ 1,392,624    $ 997,587 
Accrued liabilities     2,221,165      1,305,614 
Convertible notes, net of debt discount of $2,374,681 and $1,957,928 as of September 30, 2024 and December 31,

2023, respectively     10,625,319      7,542,072 
Current portion of operating lease liabilities     362,578      323,206 
Total current liabilities     14,601,686      10,168,479 
               
Non-current portion of operating lease liabilities     891,477      1,167,964 
Total liabilities     15,493,163      11,336,443 
               
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 8)              
               
Stockholders’ deficit :              
Common stock, $0.00001 par value;  58,687,483,705 shares authorized: 3,243,321,874 shares issued and outstanding

at September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023     32,434      32,434 
Additional paid-in-capital     23,752,454      20,157,328 
Accumulated deficit     (34,575,128)     (26,349,837)
Total stockholders’ deficit     (10,790,240)     (6,160,075)
Total liabilities and stockholders’ deficit   $ 4,702,923    $ 5,176,368 

 
See
accompanying notes to unaudited condensed financial statements
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Verde
Bioresins, Inc.

Condensed Statements of Operations 
(unaudited)

 

   

For the
Nine Months

Ended
September 30,

2024    

For the 
Nine Months

Ended
September 30

2023  
             
Sales   $ 50,137    $ 107,884 
Cost of sales     27,124      60,067 
Gross profit     23,013      47,817 
               
Costs and expenses:              
Selling expenses     462,165      293,809 
General and administrative     2,758,588      3,573,136 
Research and development     1,016,387      808,869 
Operating expenses     (4,237,140)     (4,675,814)
               
Loss from operations     (4,214,127)     (4,627,997)
               
Interest expense     (4,011,164)     (3,885,786)
Loss before income taxes     (8,225,291)     (8,513,783)
               
Income taxes     -      - 
Net loss   $ (8,225,291)   $ (8,513,783)

               
Net loss per share:              
Basic and diluted net loss per share   $ (0.00)   $ (0.00)
Weighted average shares outstanding:              
Basic and diluted     3,243,321,874      3,243,321,874 

 
See
accompanying notes to unaudited condensed financial statements
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Verde
Bioresins, Inc.

Condensed Statements of Stockholders’ (Deficit) Equity
(unaudited)

 

    Number of     Common    
Additional

Paid-in     Accumulated        
    Shares     Stock     Capital     Deficit     Total  
                               
Balance – January 1, 2023     3,243,321,874    $ 32,434    $ 14,657,328    $ (14,238,487)   $ 451,275 
                                    
Issuance of warrants in connection with issuance of

convertible notes     —      —      5,129,270      —      5,129,270 
Beneficial conversion feature of convertible notes     —      —      370,730      —      370,730 
Net loss     —      —      —      (8,513,783)     (8,513,783)
Balance – September 30, 2023     3,243,321,874    $ 32,434    $ 20,157,328    $ (22,752,270)   $ (2,562,508)
                                    
Balance – January 1, 2024     3,243,321,874    $ 32,434    $ 20,157,328    $ (26,349,837)   $ (6,160,075)
                                    
Beneficial conversion feature of convertible notes     —      —      3,500,000      —      3,500,000 
Stock-based compensation                   95,126             95,126 
Net loss     —      —      —      (8,225,291)     (8,225,291)
Balance – September 30, 2024     3,243,321,874    $ 32,434    $ 23,752,454    $ (34,575,128)   $ (10,790,240)

 
See
accompanying notes to unaudited condensed financial statements
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Verde
Bioresins, Inc.

Condensed Statements of Cash Flows
(unaudited)

 

   

Nine Months
ended

September 30,
2024    

Nine Months
ended

September 30,
2023  

Cash flow from operating activities:            
Net loss   $ (8,225,291)   $ (8,513,783)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:              
Depreciation and amortization     232,742      182,727 
Credit losses on notes receivable     165,000      — 
Operating lease costs     235,806      293,814 
Stock-based compensation     95,126      — 
Amortization of debt issuance costs     75,797      31,634 
Loss on disposal of property and equipment     43,259      — 
Amortization of debt discount     3,083,247      3,299,880 
Stock-based compensation              
Changes in assets and liabilities:              

Prepaid expenses and other current assets     (15,657)     44,573 
Inventory     (57,535)     (83,130)
Accounts receivables     (13,478)     (42,187)
Other assets     -      (3,958)
Accounts payable     395,037      795,820 
Operating lease liabilities     (237,115)     (290,189)
Accrued liabilities     915,551      969,494 

Net cash used in operating activities     (3,307,511)     (3,315,305)
               
Cash flow from investing activities:              

Purchases of property and equipment     (784,550)     (495,441)
Sale of property and equipment     110,500      — 
Assignment of promissory notes     (165,000)     (200,000)

Net cash used in investing activities     (839,050)     (695,441)
               
Cash flow from financing activities:              

Proceeds from debt financing     3,500,000      5,500,000 
Issuance costs     (89,199)     (37,691)

Net cash provided by financing activities     3,410,801      5,462,309 
               
Net change in cash and cash equivalents     (735,760)     1,451,563 

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of period     962,725      1,194,537 
Cash and cash equivalents - end of period   $ 226,965    $ 2,646,100 

               
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash financing and investing activities:              

Beneficial conversion feature   $ 3,500,000    $ 370,730 
Issuance of warrants in connection with issuance of convertible notes     —      5,129,270 

 
See
accompanying notes to unaudited condensed financial statements
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Verde
Bioresins, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Financial Statements (Unaudited)
For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2024 and 2023

 
1. Nature
of Operations and Liquidity
 
Nature
of activities

 
Verde
Bioresins, Inc. (the “Company” or “Verde”) (originally incorporated under the name Ezonyx Bio Technologies, Inc.)
was incorporated in the

State of Delaware on March 4, 2020. Verde is a full-service privately held company that specializes in the development
 and manufacturing of
PolyEarthylene, proprietary, biodegradable, and compostable polymers derived from sustainable resources as an alternative
to conventional plastics. This
material is capable of being recycled with conventional polyethylene, is eco-friendly, and represents
 a sustainable bioresin for injection molding, film
extrusion, blow molding and thermoform applications. With performance properties like
petro-polymers, PolyEarthylene products can be produced in any
form and color desired for use on existing plastics manufacturing equipment.
 
Liquidity
and Going Concern

 
The
 accompanying financial statements have been prepared on the basis that the Company is a going concern, which contemplates, among other

things, the realization of assets and satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. The Company had not generated revenues
from operations
until April 2023. During the nine months ended September 30, 2024, the Company incurred net losses of $8,225,291, used
$3,307,511 of cash and cash
equivalents for its operating activities, had negative working capital of $14,081,060 as of September 30,
2024 and accumulated deficit of $34,575,128 as of
September 30, 2024.

 
The
 Company’s existence is dependent upon management’s ability to obtain additional funding sources, enter into strategic alliances
 or generate

significant revenues, to cover its ongoing operating expenses, and also to continue to develop and be able to profitably
 market its products. Adequate
additional financing may not be available to the Company on acceptable terms, or at all. If the Company
is unable to raise additional capital and/or enter
into strategic alliances when needed or on attractive terms, it would be forced to
delay or reduce any commercialization efforts. The Company anticipates
incurring additional losses until such time, if ever, that it
can generate significant sales. These circumstances raise substantial doubt about the Company’s
ability to continue as a going
concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are issued. Additional working capital will be required to
continue
operations and scale its products.

 
The
accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. The financial statements
do

not include any adjustments to reflect the possible future effects on the recoverability and classifications of assets or the amounts
and classifications of
liabilities that may result should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern.
 
2. Basis
of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 
Unaudited
Financial Information

 
The
 Company’s unaudited condensed financial statements included herein have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles
 generally

accepted in the United States of America, or U.S. GAAP, and pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission, or SEC. In
the Company’s opinion, the information furnished reflects all adjustments, all of which are
 of a normal and recurring nature, necessary for a fair
presentation of the financial position and results of operations for the reported
interim periods. The Company considers events or transactions that occur
after the balance sheet date but before the financial statements
are issued to provide additional evidence relative to certain estimates or to identify matters
that require additional disclosure. The
results of operations for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for the full year or any
other interim
period.
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The
 unaudited condensed financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements as of and for the year ended

December 31, 2023 and the notes thereto. The balance sheet data as of December 31, 2023 was derived from the audited financial statements
as of that date
but does not include all disclosures required by U.S. GAAP.

 
Use
of Estimates

 
The
 preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the

reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant
estimates and assumptions reflected in
these financial statements include but are not limited to the allowance for expected credit losses,
allowance for sales returns, accrual of operating expenses,
and valuation of equity instruments and beneficial conversion feature.
 
Segment
Information

 
Operating
 segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate discrete information is available for evaluation by the chief

operating decision maker, or decision-making group, in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. The Company manages
 its
operations as a single operating segment for the purposes of assessing performance and making decisions.

 
Cash
and Cash Equivalents

 
Cash
and cash equivalents include cash and certain highly liquid investments with original maturities of 90 days or less from the date of
purchase.

Cash equivalents are primarily recorded at cost, which approximates fair value due to their generally short maturities.
 
Concentration
of Credit Risk
 

Financial
instruments that subject the Company to credit risk primarily consist of cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivables. The Company
maintains its cash and cash equivalent balances with high-quality financial institutions and, consequently, the Company believes that
such funds are subject
to minimal credit risk. As of September 30, 2024, the Company had no cash and cash equivalents in excess of the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
insured limit. The Company provides credit to its customers in the normal course of its operations.
It carries out, on a continuing basis, credit checks on its
customers. 
 
Allowance
for expected credit losses

 
The
Company estimates the balance of its allowance for expected credit losses. In determining the amount of the allowance for expected credit
losses,

the Company considers historical collectability based on past due status and makes judgments about the creditworthiness of customers
and other third-
parties based on ongoing credit evaluations. The Company also considers customer-specific information, current market
conditions, and reasonable and
supportable forecasts of future economic conditions. Account balances
are written off against the allowance when it is determined that the receivable will
not be recovered. The allowance for expected
 credit losses on accounts receivable was $0 each at September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023. The
allowance for expected credit losses
on notes receivable was $475,000 and $310,000 at September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 respectively.
 
Fair
Value of Financial Instruments

 
Fair
value is defined as the price the Company would receive to sell an investment in a timely transaction or pay to transfer a liability
 in a timely

transaction with an independent buyer in the principal market, or in the absence of a principal market, the most advantageous
market for the investment or
liability. A framework is used for measuring fair value utilizing a three-tier hierarchy that prioritizes
the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair
value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in
 active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1) and the lowest
priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3).
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The
three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

 
Level
1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical assets and liabilities
 
Level
2 – Observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets, such as quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active
markets,
quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable
or can be corroborated
by observable market data;
 
Level
3 – Unobservable inputs reflecting management’s assumptions, consistent with reasonably available assumptions made by other
market
participants. These valuations require significant judgment.

 
The
carrying amounts of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents were measured using quoted market prices in active markets and represent
Level 1

investments. The Company’s other financial instruments such as notes receivable, accounts receivables, accounts payable,
 accrued liabilities and
convertible notes, approximate their fair values due to their short maturities.
 
Inventory

 
Inventories
are principally comprised of raw materials and finished goods and are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value with cost being

determined using first-in first-out method. The Company reviews inventories for obsolete items to determine adjustments that it estimates
will be needed to
record inventory at lower of cost or net realizable value. Inventory costs include labor, overhead, manufacturing costs
and inbound freight costs.
 
Revenue
Recognition

 
Verde
 recognizes revenue from product sales in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board’s Accounting Standard Codification

(“ASC”) Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”). This standard applies to all contracts
with customers, except for contracts that
are within the scope of other standards, such as leases, insurance, collaboration arrangements
and financial instruments. Under ASC 606, Verde recognizes
revenue when its customer obtains control of promised goods or services, in
 an amount that reflects the consideration that Verde expects to receive in
exchange for those goods or services. To determine revenue
recognition for arrangements that are determined to be within the scope of ASC 606, Verde
performs the following five steps: (i) identify
the contract(s) with a customer; (ii) identify the performance obligations in the contract; (iii) determine the
transaction price; (iv)
 allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) the entity
satisfies
a performance obligation. Verde only applies the five-step model to contracts when it is probable that Verde will collect the consideration
 it is
entitled to in exchange for the goods it transfers to the customer. At contract inception, once the contract is determined to be
within the scope of ASC 606,
Verde assesses the goods or services promised within each contract and determines those that are performance
 obligations and assesses whether each
promised goods is distinct. Verde then recognizes as revenue the amount of the transaction price
that is allocated to the respective performance obligation
when (or as) the performance obligation is satisfied.

 
Verde
 derives its revenues primarily from product sales of PolyEarthylene. Verde primarily produces and sells formulated resin pellets and
Verde

typically recognizes revenue for these sales upon shipment. Verde sells to distributors who may request a return or credit for
unforeseen reasons or who
may have agreed discounts or allowances to be netted from amounts invoiced. Due to the highly specialized nature
 of Verde’s products, returns and
allowances are projected to be infrequent and immaterial. Verde offers a standard quality assurance
warranty related to the fitness of its finished goods.

 
The
Company records accounts receivables due from distributors and other customers. Payment terms to customers are generally 30-60
days. Accounts

receivable was $16,449, $2,971 and $0 as of September 30, 2024, December 31, 2023 and January 1, 2023, respectively.
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Research
and Development

 
Research
and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development expenses include personnel costs associated with research and

development activities, including third-party contractors to perform research, conduct testing and manufacture new product samples. The
Company accrues
for costs incurred by external service providers based on its estimates of services performed and costs incurred. These
 estimates include the level of
services performed by third parties. Based on the timing of amounts invoiced by service providers, the
Company may also record payments made to those
providers as prepaid expenses that will be recognized as expense in future periods as
the related services are rendered.
 
Selling
Expenses

 
Selling
 expenses consist of salary, marketing, and advertising costs not directly attributable to direct costs of production or associated with
 the

Company’s administration, research and development activities.
 

Net
Loss per Share
 
Basic
loss per share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the year. Diluted loss
per

share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding plus common stock equivalents
(if dilutive) related
to stock options, restricted stock units, and warrants for each year and the conversion feature of convertible
notes.
 
Recent
Accounting Pronouncements
 

The
Company considers the applicability and impact of all Accounting Standards Updates (“ASUs”). ASUs not discussed below were
assessed and
determined to be either not applicable or are expected to have minimal impact on the financial statements.

 
Accounting
Pronouncement Issued but Not Adopted
 
In
 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued ASU 2023-09 – Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures

(“ASU 2023-09”). This update standardizes categories for the effective tax rate reconciliation, requires disaggregation of
 income taxes and additional
income tax-related disclosures. This update is required to be effective for the Company for fiscal periods
 beginning after December 15, 2024. The
Company is evaluating the effect that ASU 2023-09 will have on its financial statements and disclosures.

 
In
2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07 – Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures (“ASU 2023-07”).
This

update requires expanded annual and interim disclosures for the significant segment expenses that are regularly provided to the
chief operating decision
maker and included within each reported measure of segment profit or loss. This update is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2023, and
interim periods in fiscal years after December 15, 2024. ASU 2023-07 is to be applied retrospectively
to all periods presented in the financial statements.
The Company is evaluating the effect that ASU 2023-07 will have on the Company’s
condensed financial statements and disclosures.

 
In
 2024, the  FASB  issued ASU 2024-03 - Income Statement—Reporting Comprehensive Income—Expense Disaggregation Disclosures
 (Subtopic

220-40) (“ASU 2024-03”). This update improves financial reporting by requiring that public business entities disclose
additional information about specific
expense categories in the notes to the financial statements at interim and annual periods. This update is effective
for fiscal years beginning after December
15, 2026, and interim periods in fiscal years after December 15, 2027.
Early adoption is permitted. ASU 2024-03 is to be applied either (1) prospectively to
financial statements issued for reporting periods
after the effective date or (2) retrospectively to any or all periods presented in the financial statements. The
Company is
evaluating the effect that ASU 2024-03 will have on the Company’s condensed financial statements and
disclosures.
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Leases

 
At
 the inception of an arrangement, the Company determines whether the arrangement is or contains a lease based on the unique facts and

circumstances present. Most leases with a term greater than one year are recognized on the balance sheet as right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities. The
Company has elected not to recognize on the balance sheet leases with terms of one year or less. Certain of the Company’s
 lease agreements contain
renewal options; however, the Company does not recognize right-of-use assets or lease liabilities for renewal
 periods unless it is determined that the
Company is reasonably certain of renewing the lease at inception or when a triggering event
occurs.
 

The
Company leases warehouse space and office facilities. Verde’s operating leases with terms longer than 12 months are recorded at
the sum of the
present value of the lease’s fixed minimum payments as operating lease liabilities and right of use assets (“ROU
assets”) in the Company’s balance sheets.
For leases that contain termination options, where the rights to terminate are held
by either Verde, the lessor, or both parties and it is reasonably certain that
Verde or the lessor will exercise that option, Verde factors
these extended or shortened lease terms into the minimum lease payments. The ROU assets also
include any initial direct costs incurred
and lease payments made at or before the commencement date and are reduced by lease incentives.

 
The
Company uses an incremental borrowing rate to determine the present value of the lease payments for leases, as Verde’s leases do
not have readily

determinable implicit interest rates. The Company’s incremental borrowing rates represent the rates incurred to
borrow on a collateralized basis over a
similar term at an amount equal to the lease payments in a similar economic environment.

 
The
depreciable life of ROU assets is limited by the expected lease term unless there is a transfer of title or purchase option reasonably
certain of

exercise. The Company’s lease agreements do not contain any significant residual value guarantees or material restrictive
covenants.
 

Property
and Equipment
 

Property
 and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization. Property and equipment are depreciated using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from three to 10 years. Leasehold improvements are amortized
over the
shorter of useful lives of the asset or maximum related lease term.

 
Convertible
Notes

 
The
convertible notes are considered a hybrid financial instrument consisting of put options, conversion option and various embedded features
 that

required evaluation as potential embedded derivatives under FASB ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging (“ASC 815”). Based
 on the nature of the host
instrument and the embedded features, management concluded that none of the conversion and redemption features
 required bifurcation and separate
accounting from the host instrument. The Company determined that the put options in the event of default
 and change in control was an embedded
derivative. As a result, the put options required bifurcation and separate accounting under ASC
815. The value of such options was immaterial at each
issuance date as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023.

 
When
the Company has determined that the embedded conversion option should not be bifurcated from its host instrument, the Company accounts
for

convertible notes in accordance with ASC 470-20, Debt with Conversion and Other Options. The Company records, when necessary, discounts
 to
convertible notes for the intrinsic value of conversion options embedded in debt instruments based upon the differences between the
 fair value of the
underlying common stock at the commitment date of the transaction and the effective conversion price embedded in the
notes. The Company amortizes any
debt discount over the term of the notes, using the effective interest method.
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Warrants

 
The
 Company accounts for stock warrants as either equity instruments, liabilities or derivative liabilities in accordance with ASC Topic
 480,

Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity  and/or ASC 815, depending on the specific terms of the warrant agreement. Liability-classified
 warrants are
recorded at their estimated fair values at each reporting period until they are exercised, terminated, reclassified or otherwise
 settled. Changes in the
estimated fair value of liability-classified warrants are recorded in the statements of operations. Equity-classified
warrants are recorded within additional
paid-in capital at the time of issuance and not subject to remeasurement.
 

When
 equity-classified warrants are issued in connection with issuance of convertible notes, net proceeds received are allocated to the financial
instruments issued which results in a debt discount that is amortized over the term of the convertible notes, using the effective interest
method.

 
Income
Taxes
 

The
Company provides for income taxes using the asset and liability approach. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded based on the
differences
between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities and the tax rates in effect when these differences
are expected to reverse. Deferred tax
assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is
more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax
assets will not be realized. As of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023,
the Company had a full valuation allowance against deferred tax assets.
  

The
Company is subject to the provisions of ASC 740-10-25, Income Taxes (“ASC 740”). ASC 740 prescribes a more likely-than-not
threshold for the
financial statement recognition of uncertain tax positions. ASC 740 clarifies the accounting for income taxes by prescribing
 a minimum recognition
threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken
or expected to be taken in a tax return.
On a quarterly basis, the Company undergoes a process to evaluate whether income tax accruals
are in accordance with ASC 740 guidance on uncertain tax
positions. The Company has not recorded any liability for uncertain tax positions
as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023.
 
Stock-Based
Compensation

 
The
Company accounts for all stock-based payment awards granted to employees and non-employees, if any, as stock-based compensation expense
at

their grant date fair value. The Company’s stock-based payments include stock options, restricted stock units, and stock appreciation
 rights. The
measurement date for employee awards is the date of grant, and stock-based compensation costs are recognized as expense over
the employees’ requisite
service period, on a straight-line basis. The measurement date for non-employee awards is the date of
grant and stock-based compensation costs for non-
employees are recognized as expense over the vesting period on a straight-line basis.
Forfeitures are accounted for as they occur.
 
Subsequent
Events
 

The
 Company evaluated subsequent events that occurred after the balance sheet date through December 23, 2024, which is the date the financial
statements were available to be issued and no events were noted other than those already disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements.
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3. Property
and Equipment
 

Property
and equipment, net, consists of the following on September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023:
 

   

Estimated
Useful 

Life
(Years)    

September 30,
2024

(unaudited)    
December 31, 

2023  
Leasehold improvements   12     $ 578,666    $ 578,666 
Machinery and equipment   7 – 10       2,525,865      1,945,744 
Office equipment   3 – 5       67,579      65,346 
Furniture and fixtures   3 – 10       35,524      35,277 
Injection molds   3       44,582      44,582 
            3,252,216      2,669,615 

Accumulated depreciation and amortization           (714,557)     (530,005)
Property and equipment, net         $ 2,537,659    $ 2,139,610 

 
Depreciation
expense amounted to $232,742 and $182,727 for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
 

4. Other
Assets
 
Other
 assets are comprised of security deposit and deposits for the purchases of equipment, machinery or raw material which will be used in

manufacturing.
 
The
components of other assets as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 are as follows:

 

   

September 30,
2024

(unaudited)    
December 31, 

2023  
Deposit to vendors   $ 27,371    $ 27,371 
Letter of credit     442,740      442,740 
Total other assets   $ 470,111    $ 470,111 

 
The
Company established an irrevocable standby letter of credit with a bank for $442,740 which expired on March 16, 2024, and is renewed
for a one-

year period from March 16, 2024 to March 16, 2025. The 12-month renewal charge was $9,202 from March 16, 2024 to March 16,
2025, and is recorded as
part of prepaid expenses on the condensed balance sheet. The renewal charge is being amortized to interest expenses
over a 12-month period from March
2024 to February 2025 using straight line method. During the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and
2023, the Company recognized interest expense
of $6,888 and $5,369, respectively, on the condensed statements of operations. The letter
of credit serves as the Company’s security deposit in the amount
of one-year lease on a warehouse leased by the Company (see Note
7) in which the landlord is the beneficiary.
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5. Accrued
Liabilities

 
The
components of accrued liabilities as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 are as follows:
 

   

September 30,
2024

(unaudited)    
December 31, 

2023  
Accrued professional fees   $ 203,579    $ 209,409 
Accrued interest on convertible notes     1,816,602      971,370 
Accrued employees’ wages & benefits     167,285      109,607 
Accrued other     33,699      15,228 
Total accrued liabilities   $ 2,221,165    $ 1,305,614 

 
6. Convertible
Notes
 
2022
Issuances
 

On
February 17, 2023, Verde issued to Acuitas Group Holdings LLC (“Acuitas”) a senior secured convertible promissory note (the
“February 2023
Note”) with an aggregate principal amount of $4,000,000, documenting Acuitas’s prior two equal cash
transfers to Verde, which aggregated to $4,000,000
and which were made on March 31, 2022 and November 2, 2022. The February 2023 Note
accrues interest on (i) $2,000,000 of the principal amount
outstanding commencing on and including March 31, 2022 (the “First Interest
Accrual Date”), and (ii) $2,000,000 of the principal amount outstanding
commencing on and including November 2, 2022, each at an
interest rate of 10% per annum. During the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023,
the Company recognized interest expense of
$299,454 and $299,178, respectively, on the condensed statements of operations.

 
Unless
 earlier converted or repaid, on or after (i) the 12-month anniversary of the First Interest Accrual Date, provided that such date shall
 be

automatically extended by a period of six (6) months if Verde enters into a definitive business combination agreement with TLGY Acquisition
Corporation
(“TLGY”) on or before March 18, 2023 (the “Maturity Date”), or (ii) any time on or after the occurrence
of an event of default (as defined in the February
2023 Note), the entire outstanding principal and accrued interest under the February
2023 Note shall, at the option of Acuitas, be either due and payable or
converted into shares of Verde common stock. The number of shares
of Verde common stock into which the outstanding principal and accrued interest will
convert shall be equal to the quotient of (i) such
outstanding principal amount and accrued interest divided by (ii) $5,000,000 divided by the fully diluted
capitalization of Verde as
of the applicable date of determination (which capitalization shall exclude any equity securities issuable upon conversion of the
February
2023 Note and the February 2023 Warrant (as defined below)) (the “February 2023 Capped Price”), in accordance with the terms
of the February
2023 Note. In the event of a qualified conversion event (as defined in the February 2023 Note), the outstanding principal
amount and accrued interest will
automatically convert into Verde common stock or other equity securities at a price per share equal
 to the February 2023 Capped Price as determined
immediately prior to the consummation of such event. In June 2023, Verde and Acuitas
 entered into an amendment No. 1 to the February 2023 Note,
pursuant to which the Maturity Date was extended from March 31, 2023 to April
19, 2024. The February 2023 Capped Price is $0.0015 as of September
30, 2024.

 
On
 March 12, 2024, Verde served the notice of termination of the Merger Agreement with TLGY. On March 18, 2024, TLGY consented to the

termination
of the Merger Agreement (see Note 15).
 
As
of date these financial statements are available to be issued, the February 2023 Note is due and unpaid and not converted into shares.
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In
addition, in connection with the issuance of the February 2023 Note, Verde issued and sold to Acuitas a warrant (the “February
2023 Warrant”) to

purchase that number of shares of Verde common stock equal to (i) $4,000,000, divided by (ii) $5,000,000 divided
by the fully diluted capitalization of
Verde immediately prior to the exercise of the February 2023 Warrant and the conversion of the
February 2023 Note (which capitalization shall exclude any
equity securities issuable upon conversion of the February 2023 Note and exercise
 of the February 2023 Warrant), as set forth in the February 2023
Warrant, which number of shares is to be determined at the close of
business on the day prior to Verde’s receipt of Acuitas’s notice of exercise of the
February 2023 Warrant, for an aggregate
exercise price of $4,000,000. The exercise price for the February 2023 Warrant will be equal to (i) $4,000,000
divided by (ii) the number
of shares of Verde common stock issuable upon exercise of the February 2023 Warrant, as determined in accordance with the
foregoing sentence.
 In March 2023, Verde and Acuitas amended and restated the February 2023 Warrant to reflect that the February 2023 Warrant is
exercisable
for up to 3,571,130,758 shares of Verde common stock, at an initial purchase price of $0.0011 per share, for an aggregate exercise price
of
$4,000,000. The February 2023 Warrant is exercisable at any time or from time to time on or after the date of issuance and prior to
March 30, 2027.

 
2023
Issuances
 
On
June 15, 2023, Verde issued and sold to Acuitas a senior secured convertible promissory note (the “June 2023 Note”) with
an aggregate principal

amount of $5,500,000, documenting Acuitas’ cash transfer to Verde of $5,500,000 and which was made on April
19, 2023. The June 2023 Note accrues
interest on $5,500,000 of the principal amount outstanding commencing on and including April 19,
2023, at an interest rate of 10% per annum. During the
nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Company recognized interest
expense of $411,749 and $248,630, respectively, on the condensed
statements of operations.

 
Unless
earlier converted or repaid, the entire outstanding principal and accrued interest under the June 2023 Note shall, at the option of Acuitas,
be

either due and payable or converted into shares of Verde common stock, on or after (i) the 12-month anniversary of April 19, 2023
or (ii) any time on or
after the occurrence of an event of default (as defined in the June 2023 Note). The number of shares of Verde
common stock into which the outstanding
principal and accrued interest will convert shall be equal to the quotient of (i) such outstanding
 principal amount and accrued interest divided by (ii)
$5,000,000 divided by the fully diluted capitalization of Verde as of the applicable
date of determination (which capitalization shall exclude any equity
securities issuable upon conversion of the June 2023 Note and the
June 2023 Warrant (as defined below)) (the “June 2023 Capped Price”), in accordance
with the terms of the June 2023 Note.
In the event of a qualified conversion event (as defined in the June 2023 Note), the outstanding principal amount and
accrued interest
will automatically convert into Verde Common Stock or other equity securities at a price per share equal to the June 2023 Capped Price
as
determined immediately prior to the consummation of such event. The June 2023 Capped Price is $0.0005 as of September 30, 2024.

 
In
addition, in connection with the issuance of the June 2023 Note, Verde issued and sold to Acuitas a warrant (the “June 2023 Warrant”)
exercisable

for up to 8,838,548,625 shares of Verde Common Stock, at an initial purchase price of $0.0006 per share, for an aggregate
exercise price of $5,500,000.
The warrant is exercisable at any time or from time to time on or after the date of issuance and prior
to June 15, 2028.

 
On
 June 19, 2023, Acuitas transferred and assigned all of the issued and outstanding shares of Verde common stock and warrants, including
 the

February 2023 Warrant and the June 2023 Warrant, as well as all outstanding secured convertible promissory notes issued by Verde
to Acuitas (including
security agreements relating thereto), including the February 2023 Notes and the June 2023 Note, to Humanitario
Capital LLC.

 
The
provisions in the warrants as disclosed herein require the Company to account for the warrants as equity. The Company recognized a discount
to

debt at issuance of February 2023 Note of $2,863,190 and at issuance of June 2023 Note of $5,129,270 related to the initial fair values
of the February
2023 Warrant and June 2023 Warrant, respectively (see Note 10).

 
2024
Issuances
 
On March 5, 2024, Verde issued
and sold to Humanitario Capital LLC (“Humanitario”) a senior secured convertible promissory note (the “March 2024

Note”)
with an aggregate principal amount of $5,000,000 and received cash transfers of $1,250,000, $500,000, $750,000, $500,000, $500,000, $500,000,
$500,000 and $500,000 on March 6, 2024, April 17, 2024, June 5, 2024, July 26, 2024 August 30, 2024, October 11, 2024, November 13, 2024,
 and
December 19, 2024 respectively, from Humanitario. The March 2024 Note accrues interest on the principal amount outstanding commencing
on March 6,
2024 at a fixed rate equal to 10% per annum, compounded monthly. During the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023,
the Company recognized
interest expense of $134,027 and $0, respectively, on the condensed statements of operations.
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Unless
earlier converted or repaid, on or after (i) September 5, 2025 or (ii) any time on or after the occurrence of an event of default (as
defined in the

March 2024 Note), the entire outstanding principal and accrued interest under the March 2024 Note shall, at the option
of Humanitario, be either due and
payable or converted into shares of Verde common stock, par value $0.00001 per share; provided that,
if there is then-outstanding a class or series of capital
stock that is senior in rights, preferences or privileges to the Common Stock,
then the outstanding amount shall convert into shares of a newly-issued series
of such capital stock having rights, preferences and privileges
 (except with respect to the per share liquidation preference, which shall be equal to the
March 2024 Capped Price (as defined below))
substantially equivalent to such senior class or series of capital stock of the Company. The number of shares
of Common Stock into which
the outstanding amount shall convert shall be equal to the quotient of (i) the Outstanding Amount divided by (ii) the March
2024 Capped
Price (as defined below) as determined as of the time Humanitario exercises its option to convert.

 
The
 “March 2024 Capped Price” shall be equal to $5,000,000 divided by the fully diluted capitalization of the Verde as of the
 applicable date of

determination, which capitalization shall include the unallocated equity incentive pool and any increase to the equity
incentive pool made prior to or at the
time of conversion of the March 2024 Note, and all other rights to acquire capital stock of the
Verde outstanding at the time of the conversion of the March
2024 Note, but shall exclude: the Common Stock issuable upon conversion
 of the March 2024 Note. The March 2024 Capped Price is $0.0002 as of
September 30, 2024.

 
As
a result of the convertible notes having a lower effective conversion price considering the value allocated to the warrants or the fair
value of the

common stock at commitment date, the Company has recognized a beneficial conversion feature of $1,136,810 on February 2023
Note in 2022, $370,730
on June 2023 Note in 2023 and a total of $3,500,000 on March 2024 Note in 2024. The beneficial conversion feature
on the March 2024 Note and the
beneficial conversion features and the fair value of the warrants on the February 2023 Note and June 2023
 Note are collectively considered the debt
discount. The Company recorded a debt discount in the amount of $4,000,000 at issuance of February
2023 Note, $5,500,000 at issuance of June 2023
Note and a total of $3,500,000 at issuance of March 2024 Note which are being amortized
 over the life of the respective convertible notes using the
effective interest method. During the nine months ended September 30, 2024
and 2023, the Company recognized $3,083,247 and $3,299,880, respectively,
of amortization of debt discount recorded as part of interest
 expense on the condensed statements of operations. As of September 30, 2024, the entire
$4,000,000 debt discount on February 2023 Note,
 the entire $5,500,000 debt discount on June 2023 Note and $1,125,319 debt discount on March 2024
Note have been amortized to interest
expense.

 
All
debt issuance costs are accounted for as a deferred asset and will be amortized over the life of the convertible notes. During the nine
months ended

September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Company recognized $75,797 and $31,634 respectively, of amortization of debt issuance costs
 recorded as part of
interest expense on the statements of operations. The Company had incurred approximately $50,000 in debt issuance
costs related to the February 2023
Note and had fully amortized those costs as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023. The Company
had incurred approximately $37,691 in debt
issuance costs related to the June 2023 Note and had fully amortized as of September 30, 2024
and had amortized $24,895 as of December 31, 2023. The
Company had incurred approximately $89,199 in debt issuance costs related to the
March 2024 Note and had amortized $63,000 as of September 30, 2024.

 
7. Operating
Leases

 
On
 October 1, 2020, the Company commenced a 35-month operating lease for approximately 4,405 square foot of office space located in Santa

Monica, California. The monthly base rent is $11,013 per month with no increase each year
thereafter. At the end of August 2023, the Company completed
the operating lease and did not renew it. In June 2021, the Company
commenced a 73-month operating lease for approximately 37,268 square foot of
industrial warehouse space located in Fullerton, California.
The monthly base rent is $36,895 per month for the first 12 months with a 3% increase
each
year thereafter.
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As
of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company’s operating leases have a remaining weighted average lease term of 2.9
years and 3.7

years, respectively, and Verde evaluated the present value of the payments at inception
of the lease using Verde’s estimated incremental borrowing rate of
11.58%. The Company’s operating lease expenses were $352,958
and $436,023 for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

 
The
Company paid cash of $354,266 and $432,398 for operating leases for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
 

Maturities
of operating lease liabilities as of September 30, 2024 were as follows:
 
Year ending   Total  
2024 (three months)   $ 117,653 
2025     470,610 
2026     470,610 
2027     274,523 
Total paid     1,333,396 
Imputed interest     (79,341)
Total   $ 1,254,055 
Less current portion     362,578 
Lease liabilities – noncurrent   $ 891,477 

 
8. Commitments
and Contingencies

 
Royalties

 
During
2020, in connection with issuance of common shares to certain investors, the Company agreed to enter into royalty agreements with these

investors whereby the Company is obligated to make royalty payments, on a quarterly basis at rate of 0.2% or, in some cases, 0.1% of
adjusted gross
revenue received by Verde in the immediately preceding fiscal quarter until such time as the investors receive in aggregate
 $14.2 million in royalties.
Royalties incurred amounted to approximately $1,150 and $2,500 for the nine months ended September 30, 2024
and 2023, respectively. Royalties’ accrual
as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 amounted to approximately $1,150 and
zero, respectively, recorded as part of accrued liabilities on the
condensed balance sheets. Royalties’ payable as of September
30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 amounted to approximately $0 and $2,484, respectively,
recorded as part of accounts payable on the condensed
balance sheets.

 
Litigation
 
The
Company investigates claims as they arise and accrues estimates for resolution of legal and other contingencies when losses are probable
and

estimable. As of September 30, 2024, Verde is not a party to litigation or subject to claims incident to the ordinary course of business,
including intellectual
property claims, putative and certified class actions, commercial and consumer protection claims, labor and employment
claims, breach of contract claims
and other asserted and unasserted claims.

 
9. Stock-Based
Compensation

 
In
2020, the Company adopted the 2020 Incentive Stock Option Plan (the “2020 Plan”), which provides for the award of incentive
stock options to

purchase up to 166,727,405 shares of common stock. Employees, advisors and directors are eligible to be granted awards
under the 2020 Plan.
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The
weighted average assumptions that the Company used in a Black-Scholes pricing model to determine the fair value of stock options granted
to

employees were as follows:
 

   

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,
2024  

Risk-free interest rate     3.80%
Expected term (in years)     5 
Expected volatility     50%
Expected dividend yield     - 
Exercise price   $ 0.0100 
Fair value of common stock   $ 0.0058 
 

No
options were granted during 2023.
 

The
following table summarizes stock option activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2024:
 

   
Number of

Shares    

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price    

Weighted
Average

Contractual
Term (Years)    

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value  
                         
Outstanding as of December 31, 2023     -    $            -    $             -    $            - 
Granted     71,531,089      0.01      3.73      - 
Exercised     -      -      -      - 
Cancelled or forfeited     -      -      -      - 
Outstanding as of September 30, 2024     71,531,089    $ 0.01    $ 3.73      - 

                             
Options vested as of September 30, 2024     68,016,089    $ 0.01               
                             
Options exercisable as of September 30, 2024     -    $ 0.01               
                             
Options unvested as of September 30, 2024     3,515,000    $ 0.01               
 

The
weighted average grant-date fair value per share of stock options granted during the nine months ended September 30, 2024 was $.00058.
 

The
total fair value of options vested during nine months ended September 30, 2024 was $127,926.
 

Stock-Based
Compensation Expense
 

Stock-based
compensation expense recognized by expense type was as follows:
 

   
Nine Months Ended

September 30  
    2024     2023  
Selling expenses   $ 94,786    $       - 
General and administrative     33      - 
Research and development     307      - 
    $ 95,126    $ - 

 
As
of September 30, 2024, the Company had a total of $39,411 of unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to stock options,
which is

expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 8.5 months.
 

F-37



 

 
10. Warrants
 

A
summary of the Company’s warrants outstanding at September 30, 2024 is as follows:
 

Exercise Price   Outstanding   Issuance Date   Expiration Date
0.0043   1,053,864,168   February 8, 2021   February 7, 2025
0.0011   3,571,130,758   March 31, 2022   February 7, 2027
0.0006   8,838,548,625   June 15, 2023   June 15, 2028

 
There
were no changes in warrants to purchase common stock for the period ended September 30, 2024.

 
The
fair value of the warrants on issuance was determined by using option pricing models assuming the following:
 

   
December 31, 

2023  
Risk-free interest rate     3.91%
Expected term (in years)     5 
Expected volatility     50%
Expected dividend yield     — 
Exercise price   $ 0.0006 
Fair value of common stock   $ 0.0091 

 
11. Stockholders’
Deficit

 
The
 Company’s Certificate of Incorporation, originally filed in Delaware on March 4, 2020, was first amended on November 18, 2020 by the

Certificate of Amendment of the Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation. This amendment authorized the issuance of common
stock.
On March 21, 2023, the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation was further amended, as authorized by the Company’s
Board of Directors, to increase the
Company’s authorized common stock to 11,211,920,795 shares. On June 15, 2023, the Company’s
Certificate of Incorporation was further amended, as
authorized by the Company’s Board of Directors, to increase the Company’s
authorized common stock to 33,723,608,890 shares. On September 13, 2024,
the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation was further
 amended, as authorized by the Company’s Board of Directors, to increase the Company’s
authorized common stock to 58,687,483,705
 shares. As of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company’s capital structure consists of
common stock with par value of $0.00001
per share.

 
The
Company has not paid any dividends on common stock to date. It is the Company’s present intention to retain any earnings for use in its
business

operations and, accordingly, the Company does not anticipate that the Board of Directors will declare any dividends in the foreseeable
 future on its
common stock.
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12. Net
Loss per Share

 
For
the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Company recorded a net loss available to common stockholders.
As such, because the

dilution from potential common stock was antidilutive, the Company used basic weighted-average common stock outstanding,
 rather than diluted
weighted-average common stock outstanding when calculating diluted loss per share for the nine months ended September
30, 2024 and 2023.

 

   

Nine Months
ended

September 30,
2024    

Nine Months
ended

September 30,

2023  

             
Numerator:            
Net loss available to common shareholders   $ (8,225,291)   $ (8,513,783)

               
Denominator:              
Weighted-average number of shares used in computing net loss per share, basic and diluted     3,243,321,874      3,243,321,874 

               
Net loss per share - basic and diluted   $ (0.00)   $ (0.00)

 
The
following potential dilutive securities have been excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share as the effect would be
anti-dilutive.

Therefore, the weighted-average number of common stock outstanding used to calculate both basic and diluted net loss per
share attributable to common
stockholders is the same.

 

   

Nine Months
ended

September 30,
2024    

Nine Months
ended

September 30,
2023  

             
Warrants exercisable for common stock     13,463,543,551      13,463,543,551 
Shares issuable upon exercise of stock-options     71,531,089      - 
Share issuable upon conversion of convertible notes     33,819,450,066      15,163,835,616 
      47,354,524,706      28,627,379,167 

 
13. Income
Taxes

 
The
Company provides for income taxes using the asset and liability approach. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded based on the
differences

between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities and the tax rates in effect when these differences
are expected to reverse. Deferred tax
assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is
more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax
assets will not be realized. As of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023,
the Company had a full valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets.
 

For
the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Company recorded zero income tax expense. No tax benefit has been recorded in
relation
to the pre-tax loss for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, due to a full valuation allowance to offset any deferred
tax asset related to net
operating loss carry forwards attributable to the losses.
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14. Distribution
Agreement

 
In
 February 2023, Verde entered into a distribution agreement for initial term of one year with Vinmar International Ltd. (“Vinmar”)
 for the

distribution of its PolyEarthylene resins throughout the United States, Canada and Mexico. The agreementt is automatically renewed
 for consecutive
periods of one year unless terminated by either party. In April 2023, Vinmar started selling PolyEarthylene to its customers.
Sales to Vinmar amounted to
$7,515 and $26,818 for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Outstanding receivables
from Vinmar as of September 30, 2024
and December 31, 2023 amounted to $3,014 and $2,946,
respectively.

 
15. Merger
Agreement with TLGY

 
On
June 21, 2023, Verde entered into a merger agreement with TLGY Acquisition Corporation (“TLGY”) (the “Merger Agreement”).
 
On
 August 14, 2023, TLGY filed a registration statement on Form S-4 with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, which included a

preliminary
proxy statement and prospectus in connection with the proposed business combination with Verde.
 
On
 November 14, 2023, TLGY filed the amendment number 1 to the registration statement on Form S-4 with the U.S. Securities and Exchange

Commission.
 
Pursuant
to the terms of the Merger Agreement, Verde agreed to provide extension loans to be made to TLGY monthly on an interest-free basis, if
any

extension of the deadline by which TLGY must complete its initial business combination is required (“Extension Loans”).
The proceeds of the Company
Extension Loans shall be deposited into TLGY’s trust account and held for the benefit of TLGY and its
public shareholders. Verde has made Company
Extension Loans on each of August 22, 2023, September 22, 2023, November 11, 2023, December
7, 2023, January 12, 2024, February 10, 2024 and
March 8, 2024 in the amount of $100,000, $100,000, $55,000, $55,000, $55,000, $55,000
and $55,000 respectively.

 
The
Company Extension Loans of a total of $475,000 and $310,000 as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively, are recorded
as

Notes receivable on the condensed balance sheets. As a result of the termination of the Merger Agreement (as discussed below), Verde
provided for the full
valuation allowance of $475,000 and $310,000 for these Notes receivable as of September 30, 2024 and December 31,
2023 respectively.

 
On
March 12 2024, Verde terminated the Merger Agreement with TLGY due to TLGY’s willful breach of the Merger Agreement. On March 18,
2024,

TLGY consented to the termination of the Merger Agreement. On May 4, 2024, Verde and TLGY signed a Mutual Release Agreement and
discharged each
other of all liabilities and obligations under the Merger Agreement and other ancillary agreements. In the event of consummation
by TLGY of its initial
business combination, on or within 5 business days after the date of the closing of such business combination,
TLGY shall pay Verde a sum of $83,125. If
TLGY does not consummate its initial business combination and subsequently liquidates, Verde
shall not be entitled to any payment.
 
16. Merger
Agreement with Nxu, Inc.
 

On
October 23, 2024, Verde entered into the Merger Agreement with Nxu, Inc. (Nxu), Merger Sub I and Merger Sub II, pursuant to which, among
other matters, and subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement, Merger Sub I will merge
with and into Verde,
with Verde continuing as a wholly owned subsidiary of Nxu and the surviving corporation of the First Merger, and
promptly following the First Merger,
Verde will merge with and into Merger Sub II, with Merger Sub II continuing as the surviving entity
of the Second Merger. The Merger is anticipated to be
accounted for as a reverse recapitalization. Under this method of accounting, Nxu
will be treated as the acquired company for financial statement reporting
purposes. Each of the board of directors of Verde and Nxu has
unanimously approved the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, including
the Merger. The transaction requires the approval
of the stockholders of Nxu and Verde prior to the closing of the Merger.
 

The
transaction is subject to other customary closing conditions and is expected to close in the first quarter of 2025. Transaction consideration
to Verde
stockholders will consist of newly issued shares of Nxu as Verde stockholders will exchange their interest in Verde for interests
in Nxu. Total non-recurring
transactions are estimated at approximately $5.0 million, of which Verde expects the substantial majority
to be capitalized as an offset to equity.
 

On
 November 8, 2024, Nxu filed a registration statement on Form S-4 with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, which included a
preliminary
proxy statement and prospectus in connection with the proposed business combination with Verde.
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PART II. INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

 
Item 13. Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribution.
 
The following table sets forth costs and expenses
payable by us in connection with the registration of the securities of Nxu being registered hereby. With
the exception of the SEC registration
fee, the amounts set forth below are estimates.
 
SEC registration fee   $ 4,017 
Accounting fees and expenses     25,000 
Legal fees and expenses     100,000 
Printing expenses     10,000 
Transfer agent fees     5,000 
Miscellaneous expenses     15,000 
Total   $ 149,017 

 
Item 14. Indemnification of Directors and
Officers.
 
Section 145 of the DGCL authorizes a corporation
to indemnify its directors and officers against liabilities arising out of actions, suits and proceedings to
which they are made or threatened
 to be made a party by reason of the fact that they have served or are currently serving as a director or officer to a
corporation. The
 indemnity may cover expenses (including attorneys’ fees) judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably
incurred by the director or officer in connection with any such action, suit or proceeding. Section 145 permits corporations to
pay expenses (including
attorneys’ fees) incurred by directors and officers in advance of the final disposition of such action,
suit or proceeding. In addition, Section 145 provides
that a corporation has the power to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf
of its directors and officers against any liability asserted against them and
incurred by them in their capacity as a director or officer,
or arising out of their status as such, whether or not the corporation would have the power to
indemnify the director or officer against
such liability under Section 145.
 
Nxu has adopted provisions in the Certificate
of Incorporation that limit or eliminate the personal liability of Nxu’s directors to the fullest extent permitted
by the DGCL,
 as it now exists or may in the future be amended. Consequently, a director will not be personally liable to Nxu or its stockholders for
monetary damages or breach of fiduciary duty as a director, except for liability for (i) any breach of the director’s duty
of loyalty to Nxu or its stockholders,
(ii)  any act or omission not in good faith or that involves intentional misconduct or a knowing
violation of law, (iii)  any unlawful payments related to
dividends or unlawful stock purchases, redemptions or other distributions,
or (iv) any transaction from which the director derived an improper benefit.
 
These limitations of liability do not alter director
liability under the federal securities laws and do not affect the availability of equitable remedies such as
an injunction or rescission.
 
The Certificate of Incorporation provides that
Nxu may indemnify, and advance expenses to, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any person wo was or is
a part to or is threatened
to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed actin, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or
investigative
by reason of the fact that the person is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of Nxu, or is or was serving at the request of
Nxu as a
director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise.
 
In addition, the Bylaws provide that Nxu shall
indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or
completed action, suit or
proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (other than an action by or in the right of the Company) by
reason
of the fact that such person is or was a director or officer of Nxu, or, while a director or officer of Nxu, is or was serving at the
request of Nxu as a
director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit
plan or other enterprise, against expenses
(including attorneys’ fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually
 and reasonably incurred by such person in connection with such
action, suit or proceeding if such person acted in good faith and in a
manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of
Nxu, and, with respect to any criminal action
or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe such person’s conduct was unlawful.
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The Bylaws further provide that Nxu shall indemnify
any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or
completed action or suit by or in
the right of Nxu to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that such person is or was a director or officer of
Nxu, or,
 while a director or officer of Nxu, is or was serving at the request of Nxu as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation,
partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise against expenses (including attorneys’ fees) actually
and reasonably incurred by
such person in connection with the defense or settlement of such action or suit if such person acted in good
faith and in a manner such person reasonably
believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of Nxu; except that no indemnification
shall be made in respect of any claim, issue or matter as to
which such person shall have been adjudged to be liable to Nxu unless and
only to the extent that the Court of Chancery or the court in which such action
or suit was brought shall determine upon application
that, despite the adjudication of liability but in view of all the circumstances of the case, such person is
fairly and reasonably entitled
to indemnity by Nxu for such expenses which the Court of Chancery or such other court shall deem proper.
 
Any of the foregoing indemnification provisions
 (unless ordered by a court) shall be made by Nxu only as authorized in the specific case upon a
determination that indemnification of
the director or officer is proper in the circumstances because such person has met the applicable standard of conduct
described above,
which determination shall be made, with respect to a person who is a director or officer at the time of such determination, (i) by
a majority
vote of the directors who are not parties to such action, suit or proceeding, even though less than a quorum, or (ii)  by
 a committee of such directors
designated by a majority vote of such directors, even though less than a quorum, or (iii)  if there
are no such directors, or if such directors so direct, by
independent legal counsel in a written opinion or (iv) by the stockholders.
Such determination shall be made, with respect to former directors and officers,
by any person or persons having the authority to act
on the matter on behalf of Nxu. To the extent, however, that a present or former director or officer of
Nxu has been successful on the
merits or otherwise in defense of any action, suit or proceeding or in defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, such
person shall
be indemnified against expenses (including attorneys’ fees) actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection therewith,
without
the necessity of authorization in the specific case.
 
Expenses, including without limitation attorneys’
fees, incurred by a current or former director or officer in defending any civil, criminal, administrative or
investigative action, suit
or proceeding to which such person is a party or is threatened to be made a party or otherwise involved as a witness or otherwise
by
reason of the fact that such person is or was a director or officer of Nxu, or, while a director or officer of Nxu, is or was serving
at the request of Nxu as
a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit
plan or other enterprise, shall be paid by
Nxu in advance of the final disposition of such action, suit or proceeding upon receipt of
an undertaking by or on behalf of such current or former director
or officer to repay such amount if it shall ultimately be determined
that such person is not entitled to be indemnified by Nxu.
 
In addition, Nxu assumed certain customary indemnification
agreements that Nxu’s predecessor, Atlis Motor Vehicles Inc., entered into with each of its
directors and officers. The assumption
of these agreements requires Nxu to indemnify these individuals to the fullest extent permitted under Delaware law
and to advance expenses
incurred as a result of any proceeding against them as to which they could be indemnified.
 
Nxu purchased and maintains directors’
and officers’ liability insurance that insures Nxu’s directors and officers against the cost of defense, settlement or
payment
of a judgement in some circumstances and insures Nxu against its obligations to indemnify the directors and officers.
 
The foregoing is only a general summary of certain
 aspects of Delaware law and the Certificate of Incorporation and the Bylaws dealing with
indemnification of directors and officers and
does not purport to be complete. It is qualified in its entirety by reference to the detailed provisions of those
sections of the DGCL
referenced above and the Certificate of Incorporation and the Bylaws.
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Item 15. Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities.
 
Regulation D Offering
 
During the past three years, the Predecessor
issued an aggregate of 280,195 shares of Class A common stock to various investors at a weighted average
share price of $9.04 per share
for aggregate proceeds of $2,532,761, under the Company’s Regulation D funding campaign.
 
Regulation A Offering
 
During the past three years, the Predecessor
issued an aggregate of 1,665,996 shares of Class A common stock to various investors at a weighted average
share price of $7.63, 871,938
shares of Class A common stock at a weighted average share price of $16.64 and 143,864 bonus shares of Class A common
stock issued at
a weighted average share price of $0, for aggregate gross proceeds of $14,506,595, under the terms of the Regulation A offering which
became qualified on September 23, 2022.
 
Private Placement
 
On November 3, 2022, the Predecessor entered
 into the Securities Purchase Agreement (the “2022 Purchase Agreement”) with certain investors
(collectively, the “Investors”),
pursuant to which it agreed to issue to the Investors, for gross proceeds of up to $27,000,000, Senior Secured Original Issue
10% Discount
Convertible Promissory Notes (the “notes”) in the aggregate principal amount of up to $30,000,000 and warrants to purchase
a number of
shares of the Predecessor’s Class A common stock equal to 30% of the face value of the notes divided by the volume
weighted average price, in three
tranches.
 
Under the first tranche of funding, which closed
upon signing of the 2022 Purchase Agreement, for gross proceeds of $9,000,000, the Predecessor issued
notes to the Investors in the aggregate
principal amount of $10,000,000 (the “First Tranche Notes”) and warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 1,543
shares of
the Predecessor’s Class A common stock (the “First Tranche Warrants”).
 
On January 5, 2023, the Predecessor entered into
 an amendment (the “Amendment”) to the 2022 Purchase Agreement with each Investor, pursuant to
which the Predecessor and each
Investor agreed, among other things, to amend the terms and conditions of the second tranche of funding and terminate the
third tranche
of funding contemplated under the Purchase Agreement.
 
The Amendment provides that, with respect to
 the second tranche of funding, at any time prior to the earlier to occur of (x) April 30, 2024 and (y) the
twentieth (20th) trading day
following the effectiveness of the resale registration statement covering the resale of all of the shares of the Predecessor’s
Class
A common stock issuable under the first tranche of funding, each Investor shall have the right, severally and not jointly, to purchase
a base allocation of
$5.0 million in notes and warrants to purchase a number of shares of the Predecessor’s Class A common stock
equal to 30% of the face value of the notes
divided by the volume weighted average price at one or more closings (with a total base allocation
of $10.0 million, in the aggregate, for all Investors) and,
solely with respect to the initial closing, up to an additional $5.0 million
in additional notes and related warrants pursuant to oversubscription rights, to the
extent then available. In connection with the Amendment,
the Predecessor also issued top-up warrants to the Investors to purchase up to an aggregate of
3,587 shares of the Predecessor’s
Class A common stock (the “Top-Up Warrants”).
 
On January 27, 2023, the Investors elected to
purchase notes and warrants pursuant to the second tranche of funding. Under the second tranche of funding,
which closed on January 31,
2023, for gross proceeds of $9,000,000, we issued notes to the Investors in the aggregate principal amount of $10,000,000 (the
“Second
Tranche Notes”) and warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 6,281 shares of our Class A common stock (the “Second Tranche
Warrants”).
 
A registration statement registering the resale
of the shares of Class A common stock issuable upon the conversion of the First Tranche Notes and exercise
of the First Tranche Warrants
went effective on January 20, 2023. A registration statement registering the resale of the shares of Class A common stock
issuable upon
 the conversion of the Second Tranche Notes and exercise of the Second Tranche Warrants and the Top-Up Warrants went effective on
February
9, 2023.
 
The notes mature 24 months after issuance, do
not initially bear any interest and are convertible into shares of the Predecessor’s Class A common stock at
an initial conversion
price equal to the lesser of $2,250.00 per share of Class A common stock or 92.5% of the average of the three lowest daily volume
weighted
average prices of the Class A common stock during the ten trading days immediately preceding the notice of voluntary conversion of the
notes,
subject to adjustment as further specified in the notes. The notes will be fully repayable in cash upon maturity. In addition,
the Investors have the option of
prepaying up to 20% of the issuance amount of a subsequent financing.
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The warrants are exercisable at an initial exercise
price equal to the lesser of $2,250.00 per share or 92.5% of the average of the three lowest daily volume
weighted average prices of
the Class A common stock during the ten trading days immediately preceding the notice of exercise, subject to adjustment. The
warrants
carry a 5-year term and, if not exercised, will terminate.
 
The securities were issued and sold in reliance
upon the exemption from registration provided by Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
and Rule 506(b) promulgated
 thereunder since, among other things, the issuance was made without any public solicitation to a limited number of
accredited investors
and/or qualified institutional buyers and were acquired for investment purposes only.
 
During the three months ended March 31, 2023,
the Company issued 85,934 shares of Class A common stock to a third-party vendor with a per share price
of $0.84 for a total of $72,185
in exchange for services.
 
Pursuant to the terms of a Share Purchase Agreement,
dated as of June 25, 2021, as amended by a letter agreement, dated as of September 19, 2023, by and
among the Company, GEM Global Yield
 LLC SCS (“GEM Global”) and GEM Yield Bahamas Limited (as amended, the “GEM Share Purchase
Agreement”), the Company
issued 34.0 million shares of Class A common stock to GEM Global on October 2, 2023 in full satisfaction of the Company’s
obligation
 to pay a commitment fee pursuant to the GEM Share Purchase Agreement and fees due under a registration rights agreement. As such, the
Company did not receive any proceeds from the sale of such shares. The shares were issued to GEM Global in a private placement in reliance
 on
exemptions from registration provided by Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act and Rule 506(b) promulgated thereunder.
 
On December 27, 2023,  the
Company entered into a share exchange agreement (the “Share Exchange Agreement”) with Lynks Motor Corporation (d/b/a
Lynx Motor Corporation), a Delaware corporation (“Lynx”), pursuant to which Lynx sold to the Company, and the Company purchased
 from Lynx, a
number of newly issued shares of Lynx representing 15% of the issued and outstanding equity interests in Lynx in exchange
for 1,000 newly issued shares
of series A convertible preferred stock, par value $0.0001 per share, of the Company (the
“Series A Convertible Preferred Stock” or “Series A Convertible
Preferred Shares”). Each Series A Convertible
Preferred Share is convertible into 1,000 shares of Class A common stock for a conversion price of $3.00
per share. The Share Exchange
Agreement contains customary representations and warranties by the Company. As a part of the transaction, the Company
designated one
person to serve on the board of directors of Lynx.
 
On January 29,
2024, the Company registered 1.0 million shares of Class A common stock pursuant to the terms of its Share Exchange Agreement
with
Lynx, under which Nxu sold to Lynx 1,000 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, which are convertible into shares
of Class A common stock.
The Company did not sell any shares of its Class A common stock and received no proceeds from the offering.
On February 8, 2024, Lynx converted all the
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock into 1.0 million shares of Class A common stock.
 
Concurrently with the
 Share Exchange Agreement, Lynx issued a non-interest bearing promissory note (“Lynx Note”) in the principal amount of $0.3
million to Lynx in exchange for $0.3 million in immediately available funds from the Company. The Lynx Note was originally due and payable
by June
2024. Effective June 28, 2024, the Company and Lynx agreed to amend the terms of the Lynx Note, which was extended to be repaid
over nine months at
an annual interest rate of 8% (the “Amended Lynx Note”). Scheduled payments on the Amended Lynx Note
 included an upfront principal payment of
$20,000, which was due and paid upon execution of the amendment, eight payments of $20,000 in
principal and interest from July 2024 to February 2025,
and a lump sum payment of the remaining principal and interest of approximately
$0.08 million due no later than March 27, 2025. Pursuant to the Notice of
Promissory Note Default; Demand dated September 9, 2024, Lynx
is in default on repayment of the Amended Lynx Note. As of the date of this registration
statement, the Company is engaged in further
 discussion with Lynx about the terms of the Amended Lynx Note, which is due immediately. Ongoing
discussions contemplate Lynx’s
offer to make payment on the note in shares of Lynx, rather than in cash funds.
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Item 16. Exhibits and Financial Statement
Schedules.
 
A list of exhibits included as part of this registration
statement is set forth in the Exhibit Index which is hereby incorporated by reference.
 
Item 17. Undertakings
 
The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes:
 
(1) To file, during any period in
which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registration statement:

 
(i) To include any prospectus required
by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended;

 
(ii) To reflect in the prospectus
 any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or the most recent post-effective

amendment thereof)
 which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in the registration
statement. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, any increase or decrease in volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered
would not exceed
 that which was registered) and any deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be
reflected in the
form of prospectus filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the changes in
volume
and price represent no more than 20% change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the “Calculation of Filing Fee
Tables”
table in the effective registration statement; and

 
(iii) To include any material information
with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the registration statement or any material

change to such information
in the registration statement; provided, however, that paragraphs (1)(i), (1)(ii) and (1)(iii) above do not apply if the
information
 required to be included in a post-effective amendment by those paragraphs is contained in reports filed with or furnished to the
Securities
and Exchange Commission by the registrant pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that are
incorporated
by reference in the registration statement.

 
(2) That, for the purpose of determining
any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new

registration statement
relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide
offering thereof.

 
(3) To remove from registration by
means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain unsold at the termination of

the offering.
 
(4) That, for the purpose of determining
liability under the Securities Act of 1933 to any purchaser, each prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) as part

of a registration
statement relating to an offering, other than registration statements relying on Rule 430B or other than prospectuses filed in reliance
on
Rule 430A, shall be deemed to be part of and included in the registration statement as of the date it is first used after effectiveness.
Provided, however,
that no statement made in a registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement or made
in a document incorporated or deemed
incorporated by reference into the registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration
statement will, as to a purchaser with a time of
contract of sale prior to such first use, supersede or modify any statement that was
made in the registration statement or prospectus that was part of the
registration statement or made in any such document immediately
prior to such date of first use.
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(5) That, for the purpose of determining
 liability of the registrant under the Securities Act of 1933 to any purchaser in the initial distribution of the

securities, the undersigned
 registrant undertakes that in a primary offering of securities of the undersigned registrant pursuant to this registration
statement,
regardless of the underwriting method used to sell the securities to the purchaser, if the securities are offered or sold to such purchaser
by
means of any of the following communications, the undersigned registrant will be a seller to the purchaser and will be considered
to offer or sell such
securities to such purchaser:

 
(i) Any preliminary prospectus
or prospectus of the undersigned registrant relating to the offering required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424;

 
(ii) Any free writing prospectus
relating to the offering prepared by or on behalf of the undersigned registrant or used or referred to by the undersigned

registrant;
 

(iii) The portion of any other free
writing prospectus relating to the offering containing material information about the undersigned registrant or its
securities provided
by or on behalf of the undersigned registrant; and

 
(iv) Any other communication that
is an offer in the offering made by the undersigned registrant to the purchaser.

 
(6) Insofar as indemnification for
liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers, and controlling persons of the

registrant
 pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange
Commission, such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act of 1933 and is, therefore, unenforceable.
In the event that
a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred
or paid by a director, officer, or
controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit, or proceeding)
 is asserted by such director, officer, or controlling
person in connection with the securities being registered, the registrant will,
 unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by
controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction
the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed
in the Securities Act of 1933 and will be governed
by the final adjudication of such issue.

 
(7) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes that, for purposes
 of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each filing of the

registrant’s annual report pursuant to Section 13(a)
or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (and, where applicable, each filing of an employee
benefit plan’s annual report pursuant
 to Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) that is incorporated by reference in the registration
statement shall be deemed
to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time
shall
be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

 
Exhibit No.   Description
2.1†   Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of October 23, 2024, among
Nxu, Inc., Nxu Merger Sub, Inc., Nxu Merger Sub, LLC and Verde

Bioresins, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 24,
2024)

3.1   Certificate of Incorporation of Nxu, Inc. (incorporated by reference
 to Exhibit 3.1 of the Company’s Form 10-K filed with the SEC on
April 1, 2024)

3.2   Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation of Nxu,
Inc., dated December 26, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
3.2 of the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on December 27, 2023)

3.3   Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of Nxu, Inc.,
dated August 16, 2024 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of
the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 16,
2024)

3.4   Certificate of Designations of Series A Convertible Preferred
Stock of Nxu, Inc., dated December 22, 2023 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on December 27, 2023)

3.5   Certificate of Designations of Series B Preferred Stock of Nxu,
Inc., dated August 16, 2024 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.5 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form
S-4 filed with the SEC on November 12, 2024)

3.6   Bylaws of Nxu, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 of the
Company’s Form 10-K filed with the SEC on April 1, 2024)
3.7   Amendment No. 1 to the Bylaws of Nxu, Inc. (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 3.1 of the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on

July 24, 2024)
4.1   Form of Senior Secured Original Issue 10% Discount Convertible Promissory
 Note (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the

Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 4,
2022)
4.2   Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed

with the SEC on November 4, 2022)
4.3   Form of Warrant Agency Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
4.3 of the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the

SEC on February 10, 2023)
4.4   Form of Series A and Series B Class A Common Stock Purchase
Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 of the Registration

Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on February 10,
2023)
4.5   Common Stock Purchase Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
4.3 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed

with the SEC on September 20, 2023)
4.6   Form of Pre-Funded Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5
to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the

SEC on October 10, 2023)
4.7   Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.4 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1

filed with the SEC on August 4, 2023)
4.8   Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.4 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1

filed with the SEC on July 10, 2023)
4.9   Form of Pre-Funded Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5
to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the

SEC on July 10, 2023)
4.10   Registration Rights Agreement, by and between the Company and the selling
stockholder (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the

Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 27,
2023)
5.1*   Legal Opinion of Snell & Wilmer L.L.P.
10.1†   Amended Collaboration Agreement, dated July 28, 2022, between
the Company and Australian Manufactured Vehicles (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Registration Statement
on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on January 4, 2023)
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10.2   Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.7 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed

with the SEC on January 4, 2023)
10.3   Form of Securities Purchase Agreement (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed

with the SEC on November 4, 2022)
10.4   Form of Amendment No. 1 to Securities Purchase Agreement (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report

on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 6, 2023)
10.5   Form of Securities Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC

on November 4, 2022)
10.6   Form of Registration Rights Agreement (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed

with the SEC on November 4, 2022)
10.7   Form of Amendment No. 1 to Registration Rights Agreement (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report

on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 6, 2023)
10.8   Form of Securities Purchase Agreement (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.13 of the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with

the SEC on February 10, 2023)
10.9   Share Exchange Agreement, dated as of December 27, 2023, by and
between Nxu, Inc. and Lynks Motor Corporation (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on December 27, 2023)
10.10+   Nxu, Inc. 2023 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-4

filed with the SEC on April 17, 2023)
10.11   Share Purchase Agreement, dated as of June  25, 2021, among the
 Company, GEM Global Yield LLC SCS and GEM Yield Bahamas

Limited (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Company’s
 Registration Statement on Form  S-1 filed with the SEC on
September 20, 2023)

10.12   Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of June 25, 2021, among
the Company, GEM Global Yield LLC SCS and GEM Yield Bahamas
Limited (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Company’s
 Registration Statement on Form  S-1 filed with the SEC on
September 20, 2023)

10.13   Letter Agreement Relating to Share Subscription Facility, dated as
of September 19, 2023, among the Company, GEM Global Yield LLC
SCS and GEM Yield Bahamas Limited (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.16 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
filed with the SEC on September 20, 2023)

10.14+   Board of Directors Agreement, dated May 11, 2023, between the
Company and Britt Ide (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’ Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement
on Form S-1, filed with the SEC on July 10, 2023)

10.15+   Board of Directors Agreement, dated May 11, 2023, between the
Company and Caryn Nightengale (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.2 to the Company’ Amendment No. 1 to the Registration
Statement on Form S-1, filed with the SEC on July 10, 2023)

10.16+   Board of Directors Agreement, dated June 15, 2023, between the
Company and Jessica Billingsley (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.3 to the Company’ Amendment No. 1 to the Registration
Statement on Form S-1, filed with the SEC on July 10, 2023)

10.17+   Employment Agreement, dated as of May 12, 2023, between the Company
and Mark Hanchett (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to
the Company’ Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement
on Form S-1, filed with the SEC on July 10, 2023)

10.18+   Employment Agreement, dated as of May 12, 2023, between the Company
and Annie Pratt (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the
Company’ Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement on
Form S-1, filed with the SEC on July 10, 2023)

10.19+   Employment Agreement, dated as of May 12, 2023, between the Company
and Apoorv Dwivedi (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6
to the Company’ Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement
on Form S-1, filed with the SEC on July 10, 2023)

10.20+   Employment Agreement, dated as of April 28, 2023, between the
Company and Sarah Wyant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 of
the Company’s Form 10-K filed with the SEC on April 1,
2024)

10.21+   Letter Agreement dated April  5, 2024 by and between the Company and Britt Ide (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the
Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 5, 2024)
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10.22+   Letter Agreement dated April 5, 2024 by and between the Company and Caryn Nightengale (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of

the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 5, 2024)
10.23+   Letter Agreement dated April 5, 2024 by and between the Company and Jessica Billingsley (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of

the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 5, 2024)
10.24+   Nxu, Inc. Amended and Restated 2023 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Form 8-K

filed with the SEC on August 16, 2024)
10.25   Form of Nxu Support Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 of the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 24,

2024)
10.26   Form of Verde Support Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
 10.2 of the Company’s Form  8-K filed with the SEC on

October 24, 2024)
10.27   Form of Lock-Up Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3
of the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 24,

2024)
10.28   Voting Agreement and Irrevocable Proxy, dated as of October 23,
2024, by and between Nxu, Inc. and Mark Hanchett (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Company’s Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on October 24, 2024)
10.29+   Form of Amendment to Employment Agreement, by and between Nxu, Inc.
and each of Mark Hanchett and Annie Pratt (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.5 of the Company’s Form 8-K filed with
the SEC on October 24, 2024)
10.30+   Executive Employment Agreement, dated as of October 23, 2024,
by and between Nxu, Inc. and Sarah Wyant (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.6 of the Company’s Form 8-K filed with
the SEC on October 24, 2024)
10.31+   Form of Board of Directors Agreement, by and between Nxu, Inc. and
each of Jessica Billingsley and Britt Ide (incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.7 of the Company’s Form 8-K filed with
the SEC on October 24, 2024)
10.32+   Amendment to Restricted Stock Award Agreement, dated as of October  23,
 2024, by and between Nxu, Inc. and Caryn Nightengale

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of the Company’s Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on October 24, 2024)
10.33+*   Atlis Motor Vehicles, Inc. Employee Stock Option Plan, effective as of April 27, 2022
10.34+*   Atlis Motor Vehicles, Inc. Non-Employee Stock Option Plan, effective as of April 27, 2022
10.35   Form of Pre-Funded Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1
of the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 27,

2024)
10.36   Form of Series A Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2
of the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 27, 2024)
10.37   Form of Series B Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3
of the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 27, 2024)
10.38   Form
 of Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 26, 2024, by and among Nxu, Inc. and the Investors named therein

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 27, 2024)
10.39   Form
 of Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of December 26, 2024, by and among Nxu, Inc. and the Investors named therein

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 27, 2024)
10.40   Form of Lock-Up Agreement (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 27,

2024)
10.41   Form of Voting Agreement (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.4 of the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 27,

2024)
21.1   List of Subsidiaries of Nxu, Inc (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 21.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with

the SEC on January 4, 2023)
23.1*   Consent of Prager Metis CPAs LLC, independent registered public accounting
firm for Nxu, Inc.
23.2*   Consent of EisnerAmper LLP, independent registered public accounting
firm for Verde Bioresins, Inc.
23.3*   Consent of Snell & Wilmer L.L.P. (included in Exhibit 5.1)
24.1*   Power of Attorney (included on the signature page of this Registration Statement)
107*   Filing Fee Table
 
 

* Filed herewith.
+ Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
† The annexes, schedules, and certain exhibits to the Merger Agreement
have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. Nxu, Inc.

hereby agrees to furnish supplementally
a copy of any omitted annex, schedule or exhibit to the SEC on a confidential basis upon request.
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SIGNATURES

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities
Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized, in the City of Mesa, State of Arizona, on December 30, 2024.
 
  NXU, INC.
     
  By: /s/ Mark Hanchett
    Mark Hanchett
    Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
 

POWER OF ATTORNEY
 
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each
person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Mark Hanchett and Annie
Pratt and each of them, his or her true and lawful
attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power of substitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place
and stead, in any and all
capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this registration statement, and to sign any
registration
statement for the same offering covered by the registration statement that is to be effective upon filing pursuant to Rule 462(b) promulgated
under the Securities Act, and all post-effective amendments thereto, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and all documents
 in connection
therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them,
full power and authority to do
and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises,
as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she
might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact
 and agents or any of them, his, hers or their substitute or
substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done or by virtue hereof.
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities
Act of 1933, this Registration Statement has been signed by the following persons in the capacities indicated
on December 30, 2024.
 

Signature   Capacity in Which Signed   Date
         

/s/ Mark Hanchett   Chief Executive Officer and Chair of the Board   December 30, 2024
Mark Hanchett   (Principal Executive Officer)    

         
/s/ Sarah Wyant   Chief Financial Officer   December 30, 2024

Sarah Wyant   (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)    
         

/s/ Annie Pratt   President and Director   December 30, 2024
Annie Pratt        

         
/s/ Britt Ide   Director   December 30, 2024

Britt Ide        
         

/s/ Jessica Billingsley   Director   December 30, 2024
Jessica Billingsley        
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Exhibit 5.1
 

 
 

December 30, 2024
 
Nxu, Inc.
1828 North Higley Road, Suite 116
Mesa, AZ 85205
 

Re: Registration Statement on Form S-1
 
Ladies and Gentlemen:
 

We have acted as counsel to
Nxu, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), in connection with the preparation and filing with the Securities
and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”) of a Registration Statement on Form S-1 on the date hereof (as amended
 from time to time, the
“Registration Statement”) pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities
Act”).

 
The Registration Statement
 relates to the registration under the Securities Act for the proposed resale from time to time by the selling

securityholder named in
the Prospectus (as defined below) of an aggregate of up to 114,503,816 shares of Class A common stock, $0.0001 par value per
share (“Class
A common stock”), of the Company, consisting of (i) 6,800,000 shares of Class A common stock (the “Purchased
 Shares”), (ii) up to
5,200,000 shares of Class A common stock (the “Pre-Funded Warrant Shares”)
 issuable upon exercise of pre-funded warrants to purchase Class A
common stock (the “Pre-Funded Warrants”),
 (iii) up to 57,251,908 shares of Class A common stock (the “Series A Warrant Shares”) issuable upon
exercise
of Series A warrants to purchase Class A common stock (the “Series A Warrants”), and (iv) up to 45,251,908 shares
of Class A common stock
(the “Series B Warrant Shares” and, together with the Pre-Funded Warrant Shares and
Series A Warrant Shares, the “Warrant Shares”) issuable upon
exercise of Series B warrants to purchase Class
A common stock (the “Series B Warrants” and together with the Pre-Funded Warrants and the Series A
Warrants,
the “Warrants”), in each case as issued to the selling stockholders pursuant to that certain Securities Purchase
Agreement, dated as of December
26, 2024 (the “Purchase Agreement”). The Purchased Shares and the Warrant Shares
are referred to herein as the “Registrable Securities.” 

 
This opinion is being furnished
in accordance with the requirements of Item 601(b)(5) of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act in connection

with the filing of the
Registration Statement. All capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the respective meanings given to them
in
the Registration Statement.
 

The Registrable Securities
 are to be sold from time to time pursuant to Rule 415 of the General Rules and Regulations of the Commission
promulgated under the Securities
Act as set forth in the Registration Statement, the prospectus contained therein (the “Prospectus”) and any
supplements to
such prospectus.

 
   
Snell
& Wilmer  |  600 Anton Boulevard  |  Suite 1400  |  Costa Mesa, CA 92626 SWLAW.COM

 

 



 

 

 

Nxu, Inc.
December 30, 2024
Page 2

 
In rendering the opinion stated
 herein, we have examined originals or copies, certified or otherwise identified to our satisfaction, of (i) the

Registration Statement
 and exhibits filed as a part thereof or incorporated therein by reference; (ii) the Prospectus prepared in connection with the
Registration
Statement; (iii) executed copies of the Purchase Agreement and the Registration Rights Agreement, dated 26, by and between the Company
and the Purchasers (the “Registration Rights Agreement”) (together with the Purchase Agreement, the “Agreements”);
 (iv) an executed copy of a
certificate of Mark Hanchett, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, dated as of the date hereof (the “Officer’s
Certificate”); (v) a Certificate of Good
Standing issued by the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware dated as of
a recent date; (vi) the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation, as filed with
the Commission and as certified pursuant to the Officer’s
Certificate; (vii) the Company’s Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation, dated
December 26, 2023, as filed with
the Commission and as certified pursuant to the Officer’s Certificate; (viii) the Company’s Certificate of Amendment of
Certificate
of Incorporation, dated August 16, 2024, as filed with the Commission and as certified pursuant to the Officer’s Certificate; (ix)
the Company’s
Certificate of Designations of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, as filed with the Commission and as certified
pursuant to the Officer’s Certificate; (x)
the Company’s Certificate of Designations of Series B Preferred Stock, as filed
with the Commission and as certified pursuant to the Officer’s Certificate;
(xi) the Company’s Bylaws (the “Bylaws”),
 as filed with the Commission and as certified pursuant to the Officer’s Certificate; (xii) the Company’s
Amendment No. 1 to
the Bylaws, as filed with the Commission and as certified pursuant to the Officer’s Certificate; (xiii) a copy of the resolution
of the
Board of Directors of the Company relating to the adoption, approval, authorization and/or ratification of (A) the Registration
 Statement and the
registration of the Registrable Securities, (B) the issuance and sale of the Registrable Securities and the Warrants
pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, and
(C) other actions with regard thereto, as certified pursuant to the Officer’s Certificate.
For the purpose of rendering the opinion stated herein, we have made
such factual and legal examinations as we deemed necessary under
the circumstances, and in connection therewith we have examined, among other things,
originals or copies, certified or otherwise identified
to our satisfaction, of such documents, corporate records, certificates of public officials, certificates of
officers or other representatives
of the Company, and other instruments and have made such inquiries as we have deemed appropriate for the purpose of
rendering this opinion.
 

In our examination, we have
assumed without independent verification the legal capacity of all natural persons, the genuineness of all signatures,
the authenticity
 of all documents submitted to us as originals, the conformity to original documents of all documents submitted to us as facsimile,
electronic,
 certified, conformed or photostatic copies, and the authenticity of the originals of such copies. In making our examination of executed
documents, including without limitation the Agreements, we have assumed that the parties thereto, other than the Company, had the power,
corporate or
other, to enter into and perform all obligations thereunder and have also assumed the due authorization by all requisite
action, corporate or other, and the
execution and delivery by such parties of such documents and the validity and binding effect thereof
on such parties. In addition, we have assumed that the
Warrants were duly authorized and validly issued. We have also assumed that, upon
the issuance of any Registrable Securities issuable upon exercise of the
Warrants, the total number of shares of Common Stock of the Company
issued and outstanding will not exceed the total number of shares of Common
Stock that the Company is then authorized to issue under its
Certificate of Incorporation, as amended. Our opinions are subject to applicable bankruptcy,
insolvency, fraudulent conveyance, reorganization,
 moratorium and similar laws affecting creditors’ rights and remedies generally, any waiver of stay,
extension or usury laws or of
unknown future rights, rights to indemnification, exculpation and contribution, which may be limited by applicable law or
equitable principles,
any purported fraudulent transfer “savings” clause, and subject, as to enforceability, to general principles of equity, including
without
limitation concepts of materiality, reasonableness, good faith and fair dealing, and the possible unavailability of specific performance
or injunctive relief
and limitation of rights of acceleration, regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding
in equity or at law. As to any facts material
to the opinions expressed herein which were not independently established or verified, we
have relied upon oral or written statements and representations
of officers or other representatives of the Company and others.
 

 



 

 

 

Nxu, Inc.
December 30, 2024
Page 3

 
On the basis of, and in reliance
on, the foregoing examination and subject to the assumptions, exceptions, qualifications and limitations contained

herein, we are of the
opinion that (i) the Registrable Securities have been duly authorized, (ii) the Purchased Shares were validly issued and are fully paid
and non-assessable and, (iii) if and when certificates representing the Warrant Shares are issued, duly executed, countersigned, registered
and delivered
upon exercise of the issued Warrants in accordance with the terms of the Warrants, as described in the Registration Statement,
such Warrant Shares will be
validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable.
 

We render this opinion only
 with respect to applicable statutory provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”) and the
reported judicial decisions interpreting those laws, and federal laws of the United States of America to the extent referred to specifically
herein. We neither
express nor imply any obligation with respect to any other laws or the laws of any other jurisdiction or of the United
States. For purposes of this opinion,
we assume that the Registrable Securities will be issued in compliance with all applicable state
securities or blue sky laws.
 

This opinion letter is given
as of the date hereof, and we express no opinion as to the effect of subsequent events or changes in law occurring or
becoming effective
after the date hereof. We assume no obligation to update or supplement this opinion if any applicable laws change after the date of this
opinion or if we become aware after the date of this opinion of any facts, whether existing before or arising after the date hereof, that
might change the
opinions expressly so stated. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, we neither express nor imply any opinion
 regarding the contents of the
Registration Statement, other than as expressly stated herein with respect to the Registrable Securities.
 

We are opining only as to matters
expressly set forth herein, and no opinion should be inferred as to any other matters. This opinion is rendered as
of the date hereof
and is based upon currently existing statutes, rules, regulations and judicial decisions. We disclaim any obligation to advise you of
any
change in any of these sources of law or subsequent legal or factual developments that affect any matters or opinions set forth herein.
 

We hereby consent to the filing
of this opinion with the Commission as Exhibit 5.1 to the Registration Statement. We also consent to the reference
to our firm under the
heading “Legal Matters” in the Registration Statement. In giving such consent, we do not thereby concede that we are included
in the
category of persons whose consent is required under Section 7 of the Securities Act or the rules and regulations of the Commission
 promulgated
thereunder.
 

Very truly yours,
   
  /s/ Snell & Wilmer L.L.P.
   
  Snell & Wilmer L.L.P.

 

 
 
 

 



Exhibit 10.33
 

EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLAN
Of

ATLIS MOTOR VEHICLES, INC.
Dated and effective as of

April 27, 2022
 
Section
1. PURPOSE

 
1.1 Purpose.
The purpose of the Atlis Motor Vehicles, Inc. Employee Stock Option Plan (the “Plan”) is to enable Atlis Motor Vehicles,

Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), to better attract, retain, and incentivize key employees and/or consultants,
through the potential to acquire
equity ownership in the company on an ongoing basis.

 
Section
2. DEFINITIONS

 
2.1 Definitions.
Whenever the following capitalized words or phrases are used, the following definitions will be applicable throughout

the Plan, unless
specifically modified by any Section:
 
(a) “1934
Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
 
(b) “Affiliate”
 means, with respect to any person, any other person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by, or under

common control with such
other person.
 
(c) “Award”
means, individually or collectively, any Option.
 
(d) “Board”
means the board of directors of the Company.
 
(e) “Change
of Control Value” means the amount determined in accordance with Section 8.4.
 
(f) “Code”
means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Reference in the Plan to any section of the Code will be

deemed to include any amendments
or successor provisions to such section and any regulations under such section.
 
(g) “Committee”
means a committee of the Board that is selected by the Board as provided in Section 4.1.
 
(h) “Common
Stock” means the common stock of the Company or any security into which such common stock may be changed

by reason of any
transaction or event of the type described in Section 8.
 
(i) “Company”
means Atlis Motor Vehicles, Inc., a Delaware corporation.
 
(j) “Consultant”
means any person who is not an Employee and who is providing services to the Company or any Affiliate as an

advisor, consultant, or other
non-common law employee.
 

 



 

 
(k) “Corporate
Change” means either (i) the Company not continuing as the surviving entity in any merger, share exchange, or

consolidation
(or survives only as a subsidiary of an entity), (ii) within a 12 month period, the Company sells, leases, or exchanges, or agrees to
sell, lease,
or exchange, all or substantially all of its assets to any other person or entity, (iii) within a 12 month, period any person
or entity, including a “group” as
contemplated by Section 13(d)(3) of the 1934 Act, acquires or gains ownership or control
(including, without limitation, power to vote) of more than 50%
of the outstanding shares of the Company’s voting stock (based upon
voting power), or (iv) at such time as the Company becomes a reporting company
under the 1934 Act, as a result of or in connection with
a contested election of Directors, the persons who were Directors of the Company before such
election cease to constitute a majority of
 the Board; provided, however, that a Corporate Change will not include (A) any reorganization, merger,
consolidation, sale,
 lease, exchange, or similar transaction, which involves solely the Company and one or more entities wholly-owned, directly or
indirectly,
by the Company immediately prior to such event or (B) the consummation of any transaction or series of integrated transactions immediately
following which the record holders of the voting stock of the Company immediately prior to such transaction or series of transactions
continue to hold 50%
or more of the voting stock (based upon voting power) of (1) any entity that owns, directly or indirectly, the stock
of the Company, (2) any entity with
which the Company has merged, or (3) any entity that owns an entity with which the Company has merged.

 
(l) “Director”
means (i) an individual elected to the Board by the stockholders of the Company or by the Board under applicable

corporate law who either
is serving on the Board on the date the Plan is adopted by the Board or is elected to the Board after such date and (ii) for purposes
of and relating to eligibility for the grant of an Award, an individual elected to the board of directors of any parent or subsidiary
corporation (as defined in
section 424 of the Code) of the Company.

 
(m) “Employee
or Consultant” means any person providing services to the Company as either an employee of or consultant to

the Company
or any subsidiary corporation (as defined in section 424 of the Code).
 
(n) “External
Valuation Event” means a capital raising or other event resulting in an independent valuation of the Company.
 
(o) “External
Valuation Price” means fair market value of a share of Common Stock, as determined in the External Valuation

Event.
 
(p) “Fair
Market Value Price” means, as of any specified date, either the closing price of a share of Common Stock, if it is

traded
on the National Market System of the NASDAQ or a national securities exchange, or the closing crowd-funded price per share of Common Stock.
 
(q) “Notice
of Grant” means a written notification sent to the Optionee for each Award, outlining the main details of the Award.
 
(r) “Option”
means an option to acquire one share of Common Stock, granted under this Plan.
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(s) “Optionee”
means an Employee or Consultant who has been or is eligible to be granted an Award.
 
(t) “Plan”
means the Atlis Motor Vehicles, Inc. Employee Stock Option Plan, as amended from time to time.
 
(u) “Rule
16b-3” means SEC Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the 1934 Act, as such may be amended from time to time, and any

successor
rule, regulation, or statute fulfilling the same or a similar function.
 
(v) “Section
409A” means Section 409A of the Code.
 
(w) “Strike
Price” means the Fair Market Value Price, as determined as of the date of each Award, or as determined pursuant to

an independent
Section 409A valuation, and is the Option exercise price.
 
2.2 Number
and Gender. Wherever appropriate in the Plan, words used in the singular will be considered to include the plural, and

words used
 in the plural will be considered to include the singular. The masculine gender, where appearing in the Plan, will be deemed to include
 the
feminine gender.

 
2.3 Headings.
The headings of Sections and Subsections in the Plan are included solely for convenience, and, if there is any conflict

between such headings
and the text of the Plan, the text will control. All references to Sections and Subsections are to this document unless otherwise
indicated.

 
Section
3. EFFECTIVE DATE AND DURATION OF THE PLAN

 
3.1 Effective
Date. The Plan will become effective on the date above first written, after adoption of a duly authorized and executed

resolution
or consent of the Board of Directors.
 
3.2 Duration
of Plan. The Plan will remain in effect until all Options granted under the Plan have been exercised, forfeited, assumed,

substituted,
satisfied or expired.
 
Section
4. ADMINISTRATION

 
4.1 Composition
of Committee. The Plan will be administered by a committee of, and appointed by, the Board. In the absence of the

Board’s
appointment of such Committee to administer the Plan, the Board will serve as the Committee. Notwithstanding the foregoing, from and after
the
date upon which the Company becomes a “publicly held corporation” (as defined in section 162(m) of the Code and applicable
 interpretive authority
underthe Code), the Plan will be administered by a committee of, and appointed by, the Board that will be comprised
 solely of two or more outside
Directors (within the meaning of the term “outside directors” as used in section 162(m) of the
Code and applicable interpretive authority under the Code
and within the meaning of “Non-Employee Director” as defined in
Rule 16b-3).
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4.2  Powers.
 Subject to the express provisions of the Plan, the Committee will have authority, in its discretion, to determine which

Employees or Consultants
will receive an Award, the time or times when such Award will be made, and the number of shares to be subject to each Option.
In making
such determinations, the Committee will take into account the nature of the services rendered by the respective Employees or Consultants,
their
present and potential contribution to the Company’s success, and such other factors as the Committee in its discretion will
deem relevant.

 
4.3 Additional
Powers. The Committee will have such additional powers as are delegated to it by the other provisions of the Plan.

Subject to
the express provisions of the Plan, this will include the power (1) to construe the Plan and the respective agreements executed under
the Plan, (2)
to prescribe rules and regulations relating to the Plan, (3) to determine the terms, restrictions, and provisions of the
agreement relating to each Award, and
(4) to make all other determinations necessary or advisable for administering the Plan. The Committee
may correct any defect, supply any omission, or
reconcile any inconsistency in the Plan or in any agreement relating to an Award in the
manner and to the extent it will deem expedient to carry it into
effect. The determinations of the Committee on the matters referred to
in this Section will be conclusive and binding on all persons.

 
4.4 Limitation
of Liability. The Committee and each member thereof shall be entitled to, in good faith, rely or act upon any report or

other
information furnished to him or her by any officer or employee of the Company or an Affiliate, the Company’s legal counsel, independent
auditors,
consultants or any other agents assisting in the administration of this Plan. Members of the Committee and any officer or employee
of the Company or an
Affiliate acting at the direction or on behalf of the Committee shall not be personally liable for any action or
determination taken or made in good faith with
respect to this Plan, and shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be indemnified
and held harmless by the Company with respect to any such action or
determination.

 
Section
5. STOCK SUBJECT TO THE PLAN

 
5.1 Stock
Offered. Subject to the limitations set forth in Section 5.2, the stock to be offered pursuant to the grant of an Award may be
(1)

authorized but unissued Common Stock or (2) previously issued and outstanding Common Stock reacquired by the Company. Any of such
 shares that
remain unissued and are not subject to outstanding Awards at the termination of the Plan will cease to be subject to the Plan,
but until termination of the
Plan the Committee will at all times make available a sufficient number of shares to meet the requirements
of the Plan.

 
5.2 Restrictions
on Shares. Optionee hereby agrees that shares of Common Stock purchased upon the exercise of the Option shall be

subject to such
terms and conditions as the Board shall determine in its sole discretion, including, without limitation, restrictions on the transferability
of
shares, and a right of first refusal in favor of the Company with respect to permitted transfers of Shares. Such terms and conditions
may, in the Board’s sole
discretion, be contained in the exercise notice with respect to the Option or in such other agreement as
the Board shall determine and which the Optionee
hereby agrees to enter into at the request of the Company.
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Section
6. GRANT OF AWARDS

 
6.1 Eligibility
for Award. Awards may be granted only to persons who, at the time of grant, are Employees or Consultants.
 
6.2 Grant
of Awards, Quarterly Issuance.

 
(a) The
Committee shall, as of the last day of each calendar quarter, or on the date of any equity event if during a quarter, grant

Awards to
one or more Employees or Consultants whom have been previously determined to be eligible for participation in the Plan in accordance with
the
provisions of Section 6.1.

 
(b) The
number of Options granted pursuant to a quarterly Award to a participating Optionee shall be equal to up to 30% of the

cumulative cash
compensation paid to the Employee or Consultant during the calendar quarter, or up to and including the date of any equity event if during
a quarter, divided by the Fair Market Value Price on the last day of that quarter.

 
(c) If
an Employee or Consultant is no longer employed or otherwise providing services to the Company or an Affiliate as of the

last day of a
subject calendar quarter, no Award shall be made to such Employee or Consultant.
 
(d) Discretionary
or “True Up” Awards: At the sole discretion of the Committee, supplemental Award(s) may be granted to all

Optionees in order
to equalize discrepancies that may periodically arise between crowdfunding prices used to determine the amount of previous Awards
versus
prices determined through External Valuation Events.

 
6.3 Relinquishment
of Prior Equity. All Optionees agree that entry into the plan, and any Award granted pursuant to this Plan, are both

expressly
conditioned upon the relinquishment, forfeiture, and cancellation of any and all right, title, or interest in any equity or common shares
 in the
Company which were or may have been issued to them at any time prior to August 24, 2021, and agree unconditionally to hold the
Company harmless with
respect to the relinquishment, forfeiture, and cancellation of all such shares. At the sole discretion of the Committee,
additional Award(s) may be granted as
of the effective date of the Plan, in recognition of any relinquishment made by an Optionee pursuant
to this Section 6.3.

 
Section
7. STOCK OPTIONS

 
7.1 Option
Period. The term of each Option will be as specified by the Committee at the date of grant.
 
7.2 Vesting.
An Option will vest and/or be exercisable in whole or in part and at such times as determined by the Committee and set forth

in the Notice
of Grant. The Committee in its discretion may provide that an Option will be vested or exercisable upon (1) the attainment of one or more
performance goals or targets established by the Committee, which are based on (i) the price of a share of Common Stock, (ii) the Company’s
earnings per
share, (iii) the Company’s market share, (iv) the market share of a business unit of the Company designated by the
Committee, (v) the Company’s sales,
(vi) the sales of a business unit of the Company designated by the Committee, (vii) the net
income (before or after taxes) of the Company or a business unit
of the Company designated by the Committee, (viii) the cash flow return
on investment of the Company or any business unit of the Company designated by
the Committee, (ix) the earnings before or after interest,
 taxes, depreciation, and/or amortization of the Company or any business unit of the Company
designated by the Committee, (x) the economic
 value added, or (xi) the return on stockholders’ equity achieved by the Company; (2) the Optionee’s
continued employment as
an Employee with the Company or continued service as a Consultant for a specified period of time; (3) the occurrence of any
event or the
satisfaction of any other condition specified by the Committee in its sole discretion; or (4) a combination of any of the foregoing. Each
Option
may, in the discretion of the Committee, have different provisions with respect to vesting and/or exercise of the Option. Each
Option must meet all vesting
requirements before it can be exercised.
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7.3 Notice
of Grant.

 
(a)  Each
 Award to an Optionee will be evidenced by a Notice of Grant in such form and containing such provisions not

inconsistent with the provisions
of the Plan as the Committee from time to time will approve. The terms and conditions of the Options and respective
Notices of Grant need
not be identical. Subject to the consent of the Optionee, the Committee may, in its sole discretion, amend an outstanding Notice of
Grant
from time to time in any manner that is not inconsistent with the provisions of the Plan (including, without limitation, an amendment
that accelerates
the time at which the Option, or a portion of the Option, may be exercisable).

 
(b) The
Notice of Grant will indicate, at a minimum, (1) the effective date of the Award, (2) the Fair Market Value Price, on such

date, of the
Common Stock which would be acquired upon exercise of the Options; (3) the Strike Price (exercise price) of the Options; (4) the vesting
schedule and requirements, if any; and (5) the expiration date, if any.

 
(c) An
Option Agreement may provide for the payment of the Strike Price, in whole or in part, by the delivery of a number of

shares of Common
Stock (plus cash if necessary) having a fair market value equal to such Strike Price. Moreover, an Option Agreement may provide for a
“cashless exercise” of the Option through procedures satisfactory to, and approved by and in the sole discretion of, the Committee.
Generally, and without
limiting the Committee’s absolute discretion, a “cashless exercise” will only be permitted at
 such times in which the shares underlying this Option are
publiclytraded.

 
7.4 Option
Price. The Strike Price at which a share of Common Stock may be purchased upon exercise of an Option shall equal the Fair

Market
 Value Price. The Fair Market Value Price may be calculated by using the current trading price or the price per share as determined by
 an
independent 409(a) valuation.

 
7.5 Exercise
of Option.

 
(a) The
Option shall be exercisable cumulatively according to the vesting schedule, if any, set out in the Notice of Grant. If the

Notice of Grant
indicates that the Option is fully vested upon grant, such Option may be exercised at any time, subject to any other applicable restrictions.
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(b) The
Option may not be exercised unless all vesting requirements as set forth in the Notice of Grant have been met.
 
(c) The
Option may not be exercised for a fraction of a Common Stock.
 
(d)  In
 the event that the Optionee ceases to be an Employee or Consultant, the exercisability of this Option is governed by

Sections 7.8 below,
subject to the limitations contained in this Section 7.5.
 
(e) In
no event may the Option be exercised after the expiration date set forth in the Notice of Grant.
 
(f) The
Option shall be exercisable by written notice to the Company. The Exercise Notice shall state the number of Common

Stock for which the
Option is being exercised, and such other representations and agreements with respect to such shares of Common Stock as may be
required
by the Company pursuant to the provisions of the Plan. The Exercise Notice shall be signed by Optionee and shall be delivered in person
or by
certified mail to the Secretary of the Company or such other authorized representative of the Company. The Exercise Notice shall
 be accompanied by
payment of the Exercise Price, including payment of any applicable withholding tax. No Common Stock shall be issued
pursuant to the exercise of an
Option unless such issuance and such exercise comply with all relevant provisions of law and the requirements
of any stock exchange upon which the
shares may then be listed. Assuming such compliance, for income tax purposes the shares shall be
considered transferred to Optionee on the date on which
the Option is exercised with respect to such shares.

 
(g) The
Option may not be exercised until the Plan has been approved by the Directors and, if required under applicable law and

the Company’s
governing documents, the stockholders of the Company. If the issuance of Common Stock upon such exercise or if the method of payment
for
such Common Stock would constitute a violation of any applicable federal or state securities or other law or regulation, then the Option
may also not be
exercised. The Company may require Optionee to make any representation and warranty to the Company as may be required
by any applicable law or
regulation before allowing the Option to be exercised.

 
(h)  Optionee
 hereby agrees that if so requested by the Company or any representative of the underwriters (the “Managing

Underwriter”) in
 connection with any registration of the offering of any securities of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
“Securities
Act”), Optionee shall not sell or otherwise transfer any Common Stock or other securities of the Company during the 180 day period
(or such
longer period as may be requested in writing by the Managing Underwriter and agreed to in writing by the Company) (the “Market
Standoff Period”)
following the effective date of a registration statement of the Company filed under the Securities Act; provided,
however, that such restriction shall apply
only to the first registration statement of the Company to become effective under the
Securities Act that includes securities to be sold on behalf of the
Company to the public in an underwritten public offering under the
Securities Act. The Company may impose stop transfer instructions with respect to
securities subject to the foregoing restrictions until
the end of such Market Standoff Period and these restrictions shall be binding on any transferee of such
shares. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
 the 180-day period may be extended for up to such number of additional days as is deemed necessary by the
Company or the Managing Underwriter
to continue coverage by research analysts in accordance with NASD Rule 2711 or any successor rule.
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7.6 Method
of Payment. Payment of the Exercise Price shall be by any of the following, or a combination thereof, at the election of the

Optionee:
 
(a) cash;
 
(b) check;
 
(c) with
the consent of the Board, a full recourse promissory note bearing interest (at no less than such rate as is a market rate of

interest
and which then precludes the imputation of interest under the Code), payable upon such terms as may be prescribed by the Board and structured
to
comply with applicable laws;

 
(d) with
the consent of the Board, property of any kind which constitutes good and valuable consideration;
 
(e) following
any Public Offering, with the consent of the Board, delivery of a notice that the Optionee has placed a market sell

order with a broker
with respect to Shares then issuable upon exercise of the Option and that the broker has been directed to pay a sufficient portion of
the
net proceeds of the sale to the Company in satisfaction of the aggregate Exercise Price; provided, that payment of such proceeds is
 then made to the
Company upon settlement of such sale; or

 
(f) with
the consent of the Board, any combination of the foregoing methods of payment.

 
7.7 Stockholder
Rights and Privileges. The Optionee will be entitled to all the privileges and rights of a stockholder only with respect to

such
shares of Common Stock as have been purchased under the Option and for which certificates of stock have been registered in the Optionee’s
name.
 
7.8 Option
Following Cessation of Services

 
(a) If
Optionee ceases to be an Employee or Consultant (other than by reason of Optionee’s death or disability), Optionee may

exercise
the Option until the expiration date set out in the Notice of Grant, to the extent the Option was vested on the date on which Optionee
ceases to be
an Employee or Consultant. To the extent that the Option is not vested on the date on which Optionee ceases to be an Employee
or Consultant, or if
Optionee does not exercise this Option within the time specified herein, the Option shall terminate unless otherwise
agreed by the Committee.

 
(b) If
Optionee ceases to be an Employee or Consultant as a result of his or her death or disability, Optionee may exercise the

Option to the
extent the Option was vested at the date on which Optionee ceases to be an Employee or Consultant, but only within twelve (12) months
from
such date (and in no event later than the expiration date of the term of this Option as set forth in the Notice of Grant). To the
extent that the Option is not
vested at the date on which Optionee ceases to be an Employee or Consultant, or if Optionee does not exercise
 such Option within the time specified
herein, the Option shall terminate.
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Section
8. RECAPITALIZATION OR REORGANIZATION

 
8.1 No
Effect on Board’s or Stockholders’ Power. The existence of the Plan and the Awards granted under the Plan will not
affect in

any way the right or power of the Board or the stockholders of the Company to make or authorize (1) any adjustment, recapitalization,
reorganization, or
other change in the Company’s capital structure or its business, (2) any merger, share exchange, or consolidation
of the Company or any subsidiary, (3) any
issue of debt or equity securities ranking senior to or affecting Common Stock or the rights
of Common Stock, (4) the dissolution or liquidation of the
Company or any subsidiary, (5) any sale, lease, exchange, or other disposition
of all or any part of the Company’s assets or business, or (6) any other
corporate act or proceeding.

 
8.2 Adjustment
 in the Event of Stock Subdivision, Consolidation, or Dividend. The shares with respect to which Options may be

granted are shares
of Common Stock as presently constituted, but if, and whenever, prior to the expiration of an Option theretofore granted, the Company
will effect a subdivision or consolidation of shares of Common Stock or the payment of a stock dividend on Common Stock without receipt
 of
consideration by the Company, the number of shares of Common Stock with respect to which such Option may thereafter be exercised (1)
in the event of
an increase in the number of outstanding shares, will be proportionately increased, and the purchase price per share will
be proportionately reduced, and (2)
in the event of a reduction in the number of outstanding shares, will be proportionately reduced,
and the purchase price per share will be proportionately
increased, without changing the aggregate purchase price or value as to which
 outstanding Awards remain exercisable or subject to restrictions. No
fractional share resulting from such adjustment shall be issued under
the Plan.

 
8.3 Adjustment
in the Event of Recapitalization or Corporate Change.

 
(a) If
the Company recapitalizes, reclassifies its capital stock, or otherwise changes its capital structure (a “recapitalization”),

the number and class of shares of Common Stock covered by an Option theretofore granted will be adjusted so that such Option will thereafter
cover the
number and class of shares of stock and securities to which the Optionee would have been entitled pursuant to the terms of the
 recapitalization if,
immediately prior to the recapitalization, the Optionee had been the holder of record of the number of shares of
Common Stock then covered by such
Option.

 
(b)  If
a Corporate Change occurs, then no later than (1) 10 days after the approval by the stockholders of the Company of a

Corporate Change,
other than a Corporate Change resulting from a person or entity acquiring or gaining ownership or control of more than 50% of the
outstanding
shares of the Company’s voting stock, or (2) 30 days after a Corporate Change resulting from a person or entity acquiring or gaining
ownership
or control of more than 50% of the outstanding shares of the Company’s voting stock, the Committee, acting in its sole
discretion and without the consent
or approval of any Optionee, will effect one or more of the following alternatives, which alternatives
may vary among individual Optionees and which may
vary among Options held by any individual Optionee:
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(i) Accelerate
the vesting of any Options (or any portion of any Option) then outstanding;
 
(ii) Accelerate
the time at which some or all of the Options (or any portion of the Options) then outstanding may be

exercised so that such Options (or
any portion of such Options) may be exercised for a limited period of time on or before a specified date (before or after
such Corporate
Change) fixed by the Committee, after which specified date all unexercised Options and all rights of Optionees under such Options will
terminate;

 
(iii) Require
the mandatory surrender to the Company by selected Optionees of some or all of the outstanding Options

(or any portion of such Options)
 held by such Optionees (irrespective of whether such Options (or any portion of such Options) are then vested or
exercisable under the
provisions of the Plan) as of a date, before or after such CorporateChange, specified by the Committee, in which event the Committee
will
 then cancel such Options (or any portion of such Options) and cause the Company to pay each Optionee an amount of cash per share equal
 to the
excess, if any, of the Change of Control Value of the shares subject to such Option over the exercise price(s) under such Options
for such shares;

 
(iv)  Make
 such adjustments to Options (or any portion of such Options) then outstanding as the Committee deems

appropriate to reflect such Corporate
Change (provided, however, that the Committee may determine in its sole discretion that no adjustment is necessary
to one
or more Options (or any portion of such Options) then outstanding); or

 
(v) Provide
that the number and class of shares of Common Stock covered by an Option (or any portion of such Option)

theretofore granted will be adjustedso
 that such Option will thereafter cover the number and class of shares of stock or other securities or property
(including, without limitation,
cash) to which the Optionee would have been entitled pursuant to the terms of the agreement of merger, consolidation, or
sale of assets
or dissolution if, immediately prior to such merger, consolidation, or sale of assets or dissolution, the Optionee had been the holder
of record
of the number of shares of Common Stock then covered by such Option.

 
8.4  Change
 of Control Value. For purposes of Section 8.3(b)(iii) above, the “Change of Control Value” will equal the amount

determined
in one of the following clauses, whichever is applicable:
 
(a) The
per share price offered to stockholders of the Company in any such merger, consolidation, sale of assets, or dissolution

transaction;
 
(b) The
 price per share offered to stockholders of the Company in any tender offer or exchange offer whereby a Corporate

Change takes place; or
 
(c) If
such Corporate Change occurs other than pursuant to a tender or exchange offer, the fair market value per share of the

shares into which
such Options being surrendered are exercisable, as determined by the Committee as of the date determined by the Committee to be the
date
of cancellation and surrender of such Options.
 
In the event that the consideration offered to
stockholders of the Company in any transaction described in this Section 8.4 or in Section 8.3, above, consists
of anything other than
cash, the Committee will determine in its discretion the fair cash equivalent of the portion of the consideration offered that is other
than cash.
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8.5  Other
 Adjustments. In the event of changes in the outstanding Common Stock by reason of recapitalizations, mergers,

consolidations,
 reorganizations, liquidations, combinations, split-ups, split-offs, spin-offs, exchanges, issuances of rights or warrants, or other relevant
changes in capitalization or distributions to the holders of Common Stock occurring after the date of grant of any Award and not otherwise
provided for by
this Section, (1) such Award and any agreement evidencing such Award will be appropriately adjusted by the Committee as
 to the number and price of
shares of Common Stock or other consideration subject to such Award, without changing the aggregate purchase
price or value as to which outstanding
Awards remain, and (2) the aggregate number of shares available under the Plan and the maximum
number of shares that may be subject to Awards to any
one individual will be appropriately adjusted by the Committee, whose determination
will be conclusive and binding on allparties.

 
8.6  Stockholder
 Action. If any event giving rise to an adjustment provided for in this Section requires stockholder action, such

adjustment will
not be effective until such stockholder action has been taken.
 
8.7 Adjustment
upon Certain External Valuation Events.

 
(a) In
the event that the External Valuation Price is less than the Strike Price of any previous Award, additional Options shall be

granted to
the Optionees in accordance with Section 8.7(b). If the External Valuation Price is greater than the Strike Price, there will be no adjustment.
 
(b) Awards
pursuant to this Section 8.7 shall grant a number of additional Options calculated as follows: the excess of the Strike

Price over the
External Valuation Price, divided by the External Valuation Price.
 
8.8 Section
409A, No non-compliant Awards or Adjustment(s). The Company intends that all Awards will be in strict compliance with

the requirements
 of Section 409A of the Code, meaning that Awards will not give rise to a taxable event as of the date of grant. No adjustments or
supplemental
Awards shall be granted by the Committee that would subject an Award to income taxation pursuant to Section 409A. For the removal of
doubt,
no Options shall be granted that could be construed as being “in the money” as of the date of grant, meaning no economic benefit
would be derived
by an Optionee through the exercise of the options immediately after they are granted.

 
Section
9. AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION OF THE PLAN

 
9.1 Termination
of Plan. The Board in its discretion may terminate the Plan at any time with respect to any shares of Common Stock for

which Awards
have not theretofore been granted.
 
9.2 Amendment
of Plan. The Board will have the right to alter or amend the Plan or any part of the Plan from time to time; provided that

no change in any Award theretofore granted may be made that would impair the rights of the Optionee without the consent of the Optionee;
and provided,
further, that the Board may not, without approval of the stockholders, amend the Plan to (1) increase the
maximum aggregate number of shares that may be
issued under the Plan, (2) change the class of individuals eligible to receive Awards under
the Plan, or (3) otherwise modify the Plan in a manner that would
require shareholder approval under applicable exchange rules and under
the Code.
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Section
10. MISCELLANEOUS

 
10.1 No
Right To An Award. Neither the adoption of the Plan nor any action of the Board or of the Committee will be deemed to give

an
Employee or Consultant any right to be granted an Option, or any other rights under the Plan except as may be evidenced by an Option Agreement
or
Notice of Grant, and then only to the extent and on the terms and conditions expressly set forth in such Agreement.

 
10.2 Unfunded
Plan. The Plan will be unfunded. The Company will not be required to establish any special or separate fund or to make

any other
segregation of funds or assets to insure the payment of any Award.
 
10.3 No
Employment/Consulting/Membership Rights Conferred. Nothing contained in the Plan will (1) confer upon any Employee or

Consultant
any right with respect to continuation of employment or of a consulting, advisory, or other non-common law relationship with the Company
or
any subsidiary or (2) interfere in any way with the right of the Company or any subsidiary to terminate any Employee’s employment
or any Consultant’s
consulting, advisory, or other non-common law relationship at any time.

 
10.4 Compliance
with Other Laws. The Company will not be obligated to issue any Common Stock pursuant to any Award granted

under the Plan at any
time when the shares covered by such Award have not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and such other
state
and federal laws, rules, or regulations as the Company or the Committee deems applicable and, in the opinion of legal counsel to the Company,
there
is no exemption from the registration requirements of such laws, rules, or regulations available for the issuance and sale of such
shares. No fractional shares
of Common Stock will be delivered, nor will any cash in lieu of fractional shares be paid.

 
10.5 Withholding.
The Company will have the right to deduct or cause to be deducted in connection with all Awards any taxes required

by law to be withheld
and to require any payments required to satisfy applicable withholding obligations.
 
10.6 No
Restriction on Corporate Action. Nothing contained in the Plan will be construed to prevent the Company or any subsidiary

from
taking any corporate action that is deemed by the Company or such subsidiary to be appropriate or in its best interest, whether or not
such action
would have an adverse effect on the Plan or any Award made under the Plan. No Employee, Consultant, beneficiary, or other
person will have any claim
against the Company or any subsidiary as a result of any such action.

 
10.7 Restrictions
on Transfer. An Award will not be transferable otherwise than (1) by will or the laws of descent and distribution or (2)

with
the consent of the Committee.
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10.8 Severability.
If one or more provisions of the Plan are held to be unenforceable under applicable laws, then (i) such provision shall

be excluded from
this Plan,the balance of the Plan shall be interpreted as if such provision were so excluded and (iii) the balance of the Plant shall
be
enforceable in accordance with its terms.

 
10.9 Governing
Law. The Plan will be construed in accordance with the laws of the state of Delaware.
 
10.10 Effect
of Implementation. Once effective, this Plan amends, replaces, and supersedes the previous Stock Option Plan dated and

effective
as of January 1, 2021.
 

Acknowledged as of the date first above written:
 
ATLIS MOTOR VEHICLES, INC.   OPTIONEE
     
By:___________________________   By:_____________________________
     
Name:_________________________   Name:___________________________
     
Title:__________________________    
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Exhibit 10.34
 

NON-EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLAN
Of

ATLIS MOTOR VEHICLES, INC.
Dated and effective as of

April 27, 2022
 
Section
1.	PURPOSE

 
1.1 Purpose.
The purpose of the Atlis Motor Vehicles, Inc. Non-Employee Stock Option Plan (the “Non-Employee Plan”) is to enable

Atlis Motor Vehicles, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), to provide non-employee Stakeholders stock options
from time to time.
 
Section
2.	DEFINITIONS

 
2.1 Definitions.
Whenever the following capitalized words or phrases are used, the following definitions will be applicable throughout

the Non-Employee
Plan, unless specifically modified by any Section:
 
(a) “1934
Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
 
(b) “Affiliate”
 means, with respect to any person, any other person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by, or under

common control with such
other person.
 
(c) “Award”
means, individually or collectively, any Option.
 
(d) “Board”
means the board of directors of the Company.
 
(e) “Change
of Control Value” means the amount determined in accordance with Section 8.4.
 
(f) “Code”
means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Reference in the Non-Employee Plan to any section of the

Code will be deemed to include
any amendments or successor provisions to such section and any regulations under such section.
 
(g) “Committee”
means a committee of the Board that is selected by the Board as provided in Section 4.1.
 
(h) “Common
Stock” means the common stock of the Company or any security into which such common stock may be changed

by reason of any
transaction or event of the type described in Section 8.
 
(i) “Company”
means Atlis Motor Vehicles, Inc., a Delaware corporation.
 
(j) “Consultant”
means any person who is not an Employee and who is providing services to the Company or any Affiliate as an

advisor, consultant, or other
non-common law employee.
 

 



 

 
(k) “Corporate
Change” means either (i) the Company not continuing as the surviving entity in any merger, share exchange, or

consolidation
(or survives only as a subsidiary of an entity), (ii) within a 12 month period, the Company sells, leases, or exchanges, or agrees to
sell, lease,
or exchange, all or substantially all of its assets to any other person or entity, (iii) within a 12 month, period any person
or entity, including a “group” as
contemplated by Section 13(d)(3) of the 1934 Act, acquires or gains ownership or control
(including, without limitation, power to vote) of more than 50%
of the outstanding shares of the Company’s voting stock (based upon
voting power), or (iv) at such time as the Company becomes a reporting company
under the 1934 Act, as a result of or in connection with
a contested election of Directors, the persons who were Directors of the Company before such
election cease to constitute a majority of
 the Board; provided, however, that a Corporate Change will not include (A) any reorganization, merger,
consolidation, sale,
 lease, exchange, or similar transaction, which involves solely the Company and one or more entities wholly- owned, directly or
indirectly,
by the Company immediately prior to such event or (B) the consummation of any transaction or series of integrated transactions immediately
following which the record holders of the voting stock of the Company immediately prior to such transaction or series of transactions
continue to hold 50%
or more of the voting stock (based upon voting power) of (1) any entity that owns, directly or indirectly, the stock
of the Company, (2) any entity with
which the Company has merged, or (3) any entity that owns an entity with which the Company has merged.

 
(l) “Director”
means (i) an individual elected to the Board by the stockholders of the Company or by the Board under applicable

corporate law who either
is serving on the Board on the date the Non-Employee Plan is adopted by the Board or is elected to the Board after such date and
(ii)
 for purposes of and relating to eligibility for the grant of an Award, an individual elected to the board of directors of any parent or
 subsidiary
corporation (as defined in section 424 of the Code) of the Company.

 
(m) “Employee
or Consultant” means any person providing services to the Company as either an employee of or consultant to

the Company
or any subsidiary corporation (as defined in section 424 of the Code). This plan is not intended to encompass Employees or Consultants.
There is a separate Employee Stock Option Plan.

 
(n) “External
Valuation Event” means a capital raising or other event resulting in an independent valuation of the Company.
 
(o) “External
Valuation Price” means fair market value of a share of Common Stock, as determined in the External Valuation

Event.
 
(p) “Fair
Market Value Price” means, as of any specified date, either the closing price of a share of Common Stock, if it is

traded
on the National Market System of the NASDAQ or a national securities exchange, or the closing crowd-funded price per share of Common Stock.
 
(q) “Notice
of Grant” means a written notification sent to the Optionee for each Award, outlining the main details of the Award.
 
(r) “Option”
means an option to acquire one share of Common Stock, granted under this Non-Employee Plan.
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(s) “Optionee”
means an Employee or Consultant who has been or is eligible to be granted an Award.
 
(t) “Non-Employee
Plan” means the Atlis Motor Vehicles, Inc. Non-Employee Stock Option Plan, as amended from time to

time.
 
(u) “Rule
16b-3” means SEC Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the 1934 Act, as such may be amended from time to time, and any

successor
rule, regulation, or statute fulfilling the same or a similar function.
 
(v) “Section
409A” means Section 409A of the Code.
 
(w) “Stakeholder”
means a former employee, former consultant, current shareholder, or other individual with an equity interest

in the Company.
 
(x) “Strike
 Price” means the Fair Market Value Price, as determined as of the date of each Award or by a Section 409A

valuation, and
is the Option exercise price.
 
2.2 Number
and Gender. Wherever appropriate in the Non-Employee Plan, words used in the singular will be considered to include the

plural,
and words used in the plural will be considered to include the singular. The masculine gender, where appearing in the Non-Employee Plan,
will be
deemed to include the feminine gender.

 
2.3 Headings.
The headings of Sections and Subsections in the Non- Employee Plan are included solely for convenience, and, if there is

any conflict
between such headings and the text of the Non-Employee Plan, the text will control. All references to Sections and Subsections are to
 this
document unless otherwise indicated.

 
Section
3.	EFFECTIVE DATE AND DURATION OF THE NON-EMPLOYEE PLAN

 
3.1 Effective
Date. The Non-Employee Plan will become effective on the date above first written, after adoption of a duly authorized and

executed
resolution or consent of the Board of Directors.
 
3.2 Duration
of Non-Employee Plan. The Non-Employee Plan will remain in effect until all Options granted under the Non-Employee

Plan have been
exercised, forfeited, assumed, substituted, satisfied or expired.
 
Section
4.	ADMINISTRATION

 
4.1 Composition
of Committee. The Non-Employee Plan will be administered by a committee of, and appointed by, the Board. In the

absence of the
Board’s appointment of such Committee to administer the Non-Employee Plan, the Board will serve as the Committee. Notwithstanding
the
foregoing, from and after the date upon which the Company becomes a “publicly held corporation” (as defined in section
 162(m) of the Code and
applicable interpretive authority underthe Code), the Non-Employee Plan will be administered by a committee of,
and appointed by, the Board that will be
comprised solely of two or more outside Directors (within the meaning of the term “outside
directors” as used in section 162(m) of the Code and applicable
interpretive authority under the Code and within the meaning of
“Non-Employee Director” as defined in Rule 16b- 3).
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4.2 Powers.
 Subject to the express provisions of the Non-Employee Plan, the Committee will have authority, in its discretion, to

determine which Stakeholders
will receive an Award, the time or times when such Award will be made, and the number of shares to be subject to each
Option.

 
4.3 Additional
Powers. The Committee will have such additional powers as are delegated to it by the other provisions of the Non-

Employee Plan.
Subject to the express provisions of the Non-Employee Plan, this will include the power (1) to construe the Non-Employee Plan and the
respective agreements executed thereunder, (2) to prescribe rules and regulations relating to the Non-Employee Plan, (3) to determine
 the terms,
restrictions, and provisions of the agreement relating to each Award, and (4) to make all other determinations necessary or
advisable for administering the
Non-Employee Plan. The Committee may correct any defect, supply any omission, or reconcile any inconsistency
 in the Non-Employee Plan or in any
agreement relating to an Award in the manner and to the extent it will deem expedient to carry it into
effect. The determinations of the Committee on the
matters referred to in this Section will be conclusive and binding on all persons.

 
4.4 Limitation
of Liability. The Committee and each member thereof shall be entitled to, in good faith, rely or act upon any report or

other
information furnished to him or her by any officer or employee of the Company or an Affiliate, the Company’s legal counsel, independent
auditors,
consultants or any other agents assisting in the administration of this Non-Employee Plan. Members of the Committee and any
officer or employee of the
Company or an Affiliate acting at the direction or on behalf of the Committee shall not be personally liable
for any action or determination taken or made
in good faith with respect to this Non-Employee Plan, and shall, to the fullest extent permitted
by law, be indemnified and held harmless by the Company
with respect to any such action or determination.

 
Section
5.	STOCK SUBJECT TO THE NON-EMPLOYEE PLAN

 
5.1 Stock
Offered. Subject to the limitations set forth in Section 5.2, the stock to be offered pursuant to the grant of an Award may be
(1)

authorized but unissued Common Stock or (2) previously issued and outstanding Common Stock reacquired by the Company. Any of such
 shares that
remain unissued and are not subject to outstanding Awards at the termination of the Non-Employee Plan will cease to be subject
to the Non-Employee Plan,
but until termination of the Non-Employee Plan the Committee will at all times make available a sufficient number
of shares to meet the requirements of
the Non-Employee Plan.

 
5.2 Restrictions
on Shares. Optionee hereby agrees that shares of Common Stock purchased upon the exercise of the Option shall be

subject to such
terms and conditions as the Board shall determine in its sole discretion, including, without limitation, restrictions on the transferability
of
shares, and a right of first refusal in favor of the Company with respect to permitted transfers of Shares. Such terms and conditions
may, in the Board’s sole
discretion, be contained in the exercise notice with respect to the Option or in such other agreement as
the Board shall determine and which the Optionee
hereby agrees to enter into at the request of the Company.
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Section
6.	GRANT OF AWARDS

 
6.1 Eligibility
for Award. Awards under the Non-Employee Plan may be granted only to Stakeholders or other non-Employees.
 
6.2 Grant
of Awards, Quarterly Issuance.

 
(a) The
Committee shall, once quarterly,grant Awards to one or more Stakeholders whom have been previously determined to be

eligible for participation
in the Non-Employee Plan in accordance with the provisions of Section 6.1.
 
(b) Discretionary
or “True Up” Awards: At the sole discretion of the Committee, supplemental Award(s) may be granted to all

Optionees in order
to equalize discrepancies that may periodically arise between crowdfunding prices used to determine the amount of previous Awards
versus
prices determined through External Valuation Events.

 
6.3 Relinquishment
of Prior Equity. All Optionees agree that entry into the Non-Employee Plan, and any Award granted pursuant to

this Non-Employee
Plan, are both expressly conditioned upon the relinquishment, forfeiture, and cancellation of any and all right, title, or interest in
any
equity or common shares in the Company which were or may have been issued to them at any time prior to April 26, 2022, and agree unconditionally
to
hold the Company harmless with respect to the relinquishment, forfeiture, and cancellation of all such shares. At the sole discretion
of the Committee,
additional Award(s) may be granted as of the effective date of the Non-Employee Plan, in recognition of any relinquishment
made by an Optionee pursuant
to this Section 6.3.

 
Section
7.	STOCK OPTIONS

 
7.1 Option
Period. The term of each Option will be as specified by the Committee at the date of grant.
 
7.2 Vesting.
An Option will vest and/or be exercisable in whole or in part and at such times as determined by the Committee and set forth

in the Notice
of Grant. The Committee in its discretion may provide that an Option will be vested or exercisable upon (1) the attainment of one or more
performance goals or targets established by the Committee, which are based on (i) the price of a share of Common Stock, (ii) the Company’s
earnings per
share, (iii) the Company’s market share, (iv) the market share of a business unit of the Company designated by the
Committee, (v) the Company’s sales,
(vi) the sales of a business unit of the Company designated by the Committee, (vii) the net
income (before or after taxes) of the Company or a business unit
of the Company designated by the Committee, (viii) the cash flow return
on investment of the Company or any business unit of the Company designated by
the Committee, (ix) the earnings before or after interest,
 taxes, depreciation, and/or amortization of the Company or any business unit of the Company
designated by the Committee, (x) the economic
 value added, or (xi) the return on stockholders’ equity achieved by the Company; (2) the Optionee’s
continued employment as
an Employee with the Company or continued service as a Consultant for a specified period of time; (3) the occurrence of any
event or the
satisfaction of any other condition specified by the Committee in its sole discretion; or (4) a combination of any of the foregoing. Each
Option
may, in the discretion of the Committee, have different provisions with respect to vesting and/or exercise of the Option. Each
Option must meet all vesting
requirements before it can be exercised.

 

Page 5



 

 
7.3 Notice
of Grant.

 
(a) Each
 Award to an Optionee will be evidenced by a Notice of Grant in such form and containing such provisions not

inconsistent with the provisions
of the Non-Employee Plan as the Committee from time to time will approve. The terms and conditions of the Options and
respective Notices
of Grant need not be identical. Subject to the consent of the Optionee, the Committee may, in its sole discretion, amend an outstanding
Notice of Grant from time to time in any manner that is not inconsistent with the provisions of the Non-Employee Plan (including, without
limitation, an
amendment that accelerates the time at which the Option, or a portion of the Option, may be exercisable).

 
(b) The
Notice of Grant will indicate, at a minimum, (1) the effective date of the Award, (2) the Fair Market Value Price, on such

date, of the
Common Stock which would be acquired upon exercise of the Options; (3) the Strike Price (exercise price) of the Options; (4) the vesting
schedule and requirements, if any; and (5) the expiration date, if any.

 
(c) An
Option Agreement may provide for the payment of the Strike Price, in whole or in part, by the delivery of a number of

shares of Common
Stock (plus cash if necessary) having a fair market value equal to such Strike Price. Moreover, an Option Agreement may provide for a
“cashless exercise” of the Option through procedures satisfactory to, and approved by and in the sole discretion of, the Committee.
Generally, and without
limiting the Committee’s absolute discretion, a “cashless exercise” will only be permitted at
 such times in which the shares underlying this Option are
publiclytraded.

 
7.4 Option
Price. The Strike Price at which a share of Common Stock may be purchased upon exercise of an Option shall equal the Fair

Market
 Value Price. The Fair Market Value Price may be calculated by using the current trading price or the price per share as determined by
 an
independent 409(a) valuation.

 
7.5 Exercise
of Option.

 
(a) The
Option shall be exercisable cumulatively according to the vesting schedule, if any, set out in the Notice of Grant. If the

Notice of Grant
indicates that the Option is fully vested upon grant, such Option may be exercised at any time, subject to any other applicable restrictions.
 
(b) The
Option may not be exercised unless all vesting requirements as set forth in the Notice of Grant have been met.
 
(c) The
Option may not be exercised for a fraction of a Common Stock.
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(d) In
 the event that the Optionee ceases to be an Employee or Consultant, the exercisability of this Option is governed by

Sections 7.8 below,
subject to the limitations contained in this Section 7.5.
 
(e) In
no event may the Option be exercised after the expiration date set forth in the Notice of Grant.
 
(f) The
Option shall be exercisable by written notice to the Company. The Exercise Notice shall state the number of Common

Stock for which the
Option is being exercised, and such other representations and agreements with respect to such shares of Common Stock as may be
required
by the Company pursuant to the provisions of the Non-Employee Plan. The Exercise Notice shall be signed by Optionee and shall be delivered
in
person or by certified mail to the Secretary of the Company or such other authorized representative of the Company. The Exercise Notice
 shall be
accompanied by payment of the Exercise Price, including payment of any applicable withholding tax. No Common Stock shall be issued
pursuant to the
exercise of an Option unless such issuance and such exercise comply with all relevant provisions of law and the requirements
of any stock exchange upon
which the shares may then be listed. Assuming such compliance, for income tax purposes the shares shall be
considered transferred to Optionee on the date
on which the Option is exercised with respect to such shares.

 
(g) The
Option may not be exercised until the Non-Employee Plan has been approved by the Directors and, if required under

applicable law and the
Company’s governing documents, the stockholders of the Company. If the issuance of Common Stock upon such exercise or if the
method
of payment for such Common Stock would constitute a violation of any applicable federal or state securities or other law or regulation,
then the
Option may also not be exercised. The Company may require Optionee to make any representation and warranty to the Company as
may be required by
any applicable law or regulation before allowing the Option to be exercised.

 
(h) Optionee
 hereby agrees that if so requested by the Company or any representative of the underwriters (the “Managing

Underwriter”) in
 connection with any registration of the offering of any securities of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
“Securities
Act”), Optionee shall not sell or otherwise transfer any Common Stock or other securities of the Company during the 180 day period
(or such
longer period as may be requested in writing by the Managing Underwriter and agreed to in writing by the Company) (the “Market
Standoff Period”)
following the effective date of a registration statement of the Company filed under the Securities Act; provided,
however, that such restriction shall apply
only to the first registration statement of the Company to become effective under the
Securities Act that includes securities to be sold on behalf of the
Company to the public in an underwritten public offering under the
Securities Act. The Company may impose stop transfer instructions with respect to
securities subject to the foregoing restrictions until
the end of such Market Standoff Period and these restrictions shall be binding on any transferee of such
shares. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
 the 180-day period may be extended for up to such number of additional days as is deemed necessary by the
Company or the Managing Underwriter
to continue coverage by research analysts in accordance with NASD Rule 2711 or any successor rule.
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7.6 Method
of Payment. Payment of the Exercise Price shall be by any of the following, or a combination thereof, at the election of the

Optionee:
 
(a) cash;
 
(b) check;
 
(c) with
the consent of the Board, a full recourse promissory note bearing interest (at no less than such rate as is a market rate of

interest
and which then precludes the imputation of interest under the Code), payable upon such terms as may be prescribed by the Board and structured
to
comply with applicable laws;

 
(d) with
the consent of the Board, property of any kind which constitutes good and valuable consideration;
 
(e) following
any Public Offering, with the consent of the Board, delivery of a notice that the Optionee has placed a market sell

order with a broker
with respect to Shares then issuable upon exercise of the Option and that the broker has been directed to pay a sufficient portion of
the
net proceeds of the sale to the Company in satisfaction of the aggregate Exercise Price; provided, that payment of such proceeds is
 then made to the
Company upon settlement of such sale; or

 
(f) with
the consent of the Board, any combination of the foregoing methods of payment.

 
7.7 Stockholder
Rights and Privileges. The Optionee will be entitled to all the privileges and rights of a stockholder only with respect to

such
shares of Common Stock as have been purchased under the Option and for which certificates of stock have been registered in the Optionee’s
name.
 
Section
8.	RECAPITALIZATION OR REORGANIZATION

 
8.1 No
Effect on Board’s or Stockholders’ Power. The existence of the Non-Employee Plan and the Awards granted under the
Non-

Employee Plan will not affect in any way the right or power of the Board or the stockholders of the Company to make or authorize (1)
any adjustment,
recapitalization, reorganization, or other change in the Company’s capital structure or its business, (2) any merger,
share exchange, or consolidation of the
Company or any subsidiary, (3) any issue of debt or equity securities ranking senior to or affecting
Common Stock or the rights of Common Stock, (4) the
dissolution or liquidation of the Company or any subsidiary, (5) any sale, lease,
exchange, or other disposition of all or any part of the Company’s assets or
business, or (6) any other corporate act or proceeding.

 
8.2 Adjustment
 in the Event of Stock Subdivision, Consolidation, or Dividend. The shares with respect to which Options may be

granted are shares
of Common Stock as presently constituted, but if, and whenever, prior to the expiration of an Option theretofore granted, the Company
will effect a subdivision or consolidation of shares of Common Stock or the payment of a stock dividend on Common Stock without receipt
 of
consideration by the Company, the number of shares of Common Stock with respect to which such Option may thereafter be exercised (1)
in the event of
an increase in the number of outstanding shares, will be proportionately increased, and the purchase price per share will
be proportionately reduced, and (2)
in the event of a reduction in the number of outstanding shares, will be proportionately reduced,
and the purchase price per share will be proportionately
increased, without changing the aggregate purchase price or value as to which
 outstanding Awards remain exercisable or subject to restrictions. No
fractional share resulting from such adjustment shall be issued under
the Non-Employee Plan.
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8.3 Adjustment
in the Event of Recapitalization or Corporate Change.

 
(a) If
the Company recapitalizes, reclassifies its capital stock, or otherwise changes its capital structure (a “recapitalization”),
the

number and class of shares of Common Stock covered by an Option theretofore granted will be adjusted so that such Option will thereafter
 cover the
number and class of shares of stock and securities to which the Optionee would have been entitled pursuant to the terms of the
 recapitalization if,
immediately prior to the recapitalization, the Optionee had been the holder of record of the number of shares of
Common Stock then covered by such
Option.

 
(b) If
a Corporate Change occurs, then no later than (1) 10 days after the approval by the stockholders of the Company of a

Corporate Change,
other than a Corporate Change resulting from a person or entity acquiring or gaining ownership or control of more than 50% of the
outstanding
shares of the Company’s voting stock, or (2) 30 days after a Corporate Change resulting from a person or entity acquiring or gaining
ownership
or control of more than 50% of the outstanding shares of the Company’s voting stock, the Committee, acting in its sole
discretion and without the consent
or approval of any Optionee, will effect one or more of the following alternatives, which alternatives
may vary among individual Optionees and which may
vary among Options held by any individual Optionee:

 
(i) Accelerate
the vesting of any Options (or any portion of any Option) then outstanding;
 
(ii) Accelerate
the time at which some or all of the Options (or any portion of the Options) then outstanding may be

exercised so that such Options (or
any portion of such Options) may be exercised for a limited period of time on or before a specified date (before or after
such Corporate
Change) fixed by the Committee, after which specified date all unexercised Options and all rights of Optionees under such Options will
terminate;

 
(iii) Require
the mandatory surrender to the Company by selected Optionees of some or all of the outstanding Options

(or any portion of such Options)
 held by such Optionees (irrespective of whether such Options (or any portion of such Options) are then vested or
exercisable under the
provisions of the Non-Employee Plan) as of a date, before or after such CorporateChange, specified by the Committee, in which
event the
Committee will then cancel such Options (or any portion of such Options) and cause the Company to pay each Optionee an amount of cash
per
share equal to the excess, if any, of the Change of Control Value of the shares subject to such Option over the exercise price(s)
under such Options for such
shares;

 
(iv) Make
 such adjustments to Options (or any portion of such Options) then outstanding as the Committee deems

appropriate to reflect such Corporate
Change (provided, however, that the Committee may determine in its sole discretion that no adjustment is necessary
to one
or more Options (or any portion of such Options) then outstanding); or
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(v) Provide
that the number and class of shares of Common Stock covered by an Option (or any portion of such Option)

theretofore granted will be adjustedso
 that such Option will thereafter cover the number and class of shares of stock or other securities or property
(including, without limitation,
cash) to which the Optionee would have been entitled pursuant to the terms of the agreement of merger, consolidation, or
sale of assets
or dissolution if, immediately prior to such merger, consolidation, or sale of assets or dissolution, the Optionee had been the holder
of record
of the number of shares of Common Stock then covered by such Option.

 
8.4 Change
 of Control Value. For purposes of Section 8.3(b)(iii) above, the “Change of Control Value” will equal the amount

determined
in one of the following clauses, whichever is applicable:
 
(a) The
per share price offered to stockholders of the Company in any such merger, consolidation, sale of assets, or dissolution

transaction;
 
(b) The
 price per share offered to stockholders of the Company in any tender offer or exchange offer whereby a Corporate

Change takes place; or
 
(c) If
such Corporate Change occurs other than pursuant to a tender or exchange offer, the fair market value per share of the

shares into which
such Options being surrendered are exercisable, as determined by the Committee as of the date determined by theCommittee to be the
date
of cancellation and surrender of such Options.
 
In the event that the consideration offered to
stockholders of the Company in any transaction described in this Section 8.4 or in Section 8.3, above, consists
of anything other than
cash, the Committee will determine in its discretion the fair cash equivalent of the portion of the consideration offered that is other
than cash.

 
8.5 Other
 Adjustments. In the event of changes in the outstanding Common Stock by reason of recapitalizations, mergers,

consolidations,
 reorganizations, liquidations, combinations, split-ups, split-offs, spin-offs, exchanges, issuances of rights or warrants, or other relevant
changes in capitalization or distributions to the holders of Common Stock occurring after the date of grant of any Award and not otherwise
provided for by
this Section, (1) such Award and any agreement evidencing such Award will be appropriately adjusted by the Committee as
 to the number and price of
shares of Common Stock or other consideration subject to such Award, without changing the aggregate purchase
price or value as to which outstanding
Awards remain, and (2) the aggregate number of shares available under the Non-Employee Plan and
the maximum number of shares that may be subject to
Awards to any one individual will be appropriately adjusted by the Committee, whose
determination will be conclusive and binding on allparties.

 
8.6 Stockholder
 Action. If any event giving rise to an adjustment provided for in this Section requires stockholder action, such

adjustment will
not be effective until such stockholder action has been taken.
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8.7 Adjustment
upon Certain External Valuation Events.

 
(a) In
the event that the External Valuation Price is less than the Strike Price of any previous Award, additional Options shall be

granted to
the Optionees in accordance with Section 8.7(b). If the External Valuation Price is greater than the Strike Price, there will be no adjustment.
 
(b) Awards
pursuant to this Section 8.7 shall grant a number of additional Options calculated as follows: the excess of the Strike

Price over the
External Valuation Price, divided by the External Valuation Price.
 
8.8 Section
409A, No non-compliant Awards or Adjustment(s). The Company intends that all Awards will be in strict compliance with

the requirements
 of Section 409A of the Code, meaning that Awards will not give rise to a taxable event as of the date of grant. No adjustments or
supplemental
Awards shall be granted by the Committee that would subject an Award to income taxation pursuant to Section 409A. For the removal of
doubt,
no Options shall be granted that could be construed as being “in the money” as of the date of grant, meaning no economic benefit
would be derived
by an Optionee through the exercise of the options immediately after they are granted.

 
Section
9.	AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION OF THE NON-EMPLOYEE PLAN

 
9.1 Termination
of Non-Employee Plan. The Board in its discretion may terminate the Non-Employee Plan at any time with respect to

any shares of
Common Stock for which Awards have not theretofore been granted.
 
9.2 Amendment
of Non-Employee Plan. The Board will have the right to alter or amend the Non-Employee Plan or any part of the

Non-Employee Plan
 from time to time; provided that no change in any Award theretofore granted may be made that would impair the rights of the
Optionee
 without the consent of the Optionee; and provided, further, that the Board may not, without approval of the stockholders,
 amend the Non-
Employee Plan to (1) increase the maximum aggregate number of shares that may be issued under the Non- Employee Plan, (2)
 change the class of
individuals eligible to receive Awards under the Non- Employee Plan, or (3) otherwise modify the Non-Employee Plan
 in a manner that would require
shareholder approval under applicable exchange rules and under the Code.

 
Section
10.	MISCELLANEOUS

 
10.1 No
Right To An Award. Neither the adoption of the Non-Employee Plan nor any action of the Board or of the Committee will be

deemed
to give Stakeholder any right to be granted an Option, or any other rights under the Non-Employee Plan except as may be evidenced by an
Option
Agreement or Notice of Grant, and then only to the extent and on the terms and conditions expressly set forth in such Agreement.

 
10.2 Compliance
with Other Laws. The Company will not be obligated to issue any Common Stock pursuant to any Award granted

under the Non-Employee
Plan at any time when the shares covered by such Award have not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
and such
other state and federal laws, rules, or regulations as the Company or the Committee deems applicable and, in the opinion of legal counsel
to the
Company, there is no exemption from the registration requirements of such laws, rules, or regulations available for the issuance
and sale of such shares. No
fractional shares of Common Stock will be delivered, nor will any cash in lieu of fractional shares be paid.
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10.3 Withholding.
The Company will have the right to deduct or cause to be deducted in connection with all Awards any taxes required

by law to be withheld
and to require any payments required to satisfy applicable withholding obligations.
 
10.4 No
Restriction on Corporate Action. Nothing contained in the Non- Employee Plan will be construed to prevent the Company or

any subsidiary
from taking any corporate action that is deemed by the Company or such subsidiary to be appropriate or in its best interest, whether or
not
such action would have an adverse effect on the Non-Employee Plan or any Award made under the Non-Employee Plan. No Employee, Consultant,
beneficiary, or other person will have any claim against the Company or any subsidiary as a result of any such action.

 
10.5 Restrictions
on Transfer. An Award will not be transferable otherwise than (1) by will or the laws of descent and distribution or (2)

with
the consent of the Committee.
 
10.6 Severability.
If one or more provisions of the Non-Employee Plan are held to be unenforceable under applicable laws, then (i) such

provision shall be
excluded from this Non-Employee Plan, (ii) the balance of the Non-Employee Plan shall be interpreted as if such provision were so
excluded
and (iii) the balance of the Non-Employee Plant shall be enforceable in accordance with its terms.

 
10.7 Governing
Law. The Non-Employee Plan will be construed in accordance with the laws of the state of Delaware.

 
Acknowledged as of the date first above written:
 
ATLIS MOTOR VEHICLES, INC. OPTIONEE
     
By:               By:               
     
Name:    Name:   
     
Title:      
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Exhibit 23.1
 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING
FIRM
 

We consent to the incorporation by reference in
this Registration Statement on Form S-1 of our report dated March 29, 2024, relating to the consolidated
financial statements of Nxu,
 Inc. (which report expresses an unqualified opinion and includes an explanatory paragraph related to a going concern
uncertainty), appearing
in the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Nxu, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2023. We also consent to the reference to our
Firm under
the heading “Experts” in such Registration Statement.
 
/s/ Prager Metis CPAs, LLC
 
Hackensack NJ
 
December 27, 2024
 



 
Exhibit
23.2

 
CONSENT
OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

 
We consent
to the inclusion in the Registration Statement of Nxu, Inc. on Form S-1 (No. 333-) to be filed on or about December 27, 2024 of our report
dated July 15, 2024, on our audits of the financial statements of Verde Bioresins, Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 31,
2023 and 2022 and for each of
the years then ended. Our report includes an explanatory paragraph about the existence of substantial doubt
concerning the Company's ability to continue as
a going concern. We also consent to the reference to our firm under the caption “Experts”
in this Registration Statement.
 
/s/ EisnerAmper LLP
 
EISNERAMPER LLP
Iselin, New Jersey
December 27, 2024
 
 
 



Exhibit 107
 

Calculation of Filing Fee Tables
 

Form S-1
(Form Type)

 
Nxu, Inc.

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)
 

Table 1: Newly Registered and Carry Forward
Securities
 

   
Security


Type  

Security

Class 
Title  

Fee

Calculation 

or Carry 
Forward 

Rule  
Amount


Registered    

Proposed

Maximum 
Offering 
Price Per 

Unit    

Maximum

Aggregate 
Offering 

Price    
Fee

Rate   

Amount

of 

Registration 
Fee   

Carry

Forward 

Form 
Type   

Carry

Forward 

File 
Number   

Carry

Forward 

Initial 
effective 

date   

Filing
Fee 
Previously 

Paid In 
Connection

with 
Unsold 

Securities 
to be 

Carried 
Forward  

Newly
Registered Securities
Fees
to Be Paid

 

Equity

 

Class
A Common
Stock, par value

$0.0001 per share  

Other(1)

  114,503,816(2)(3)   $0.2292(4) $ 26,238,549(4)  0.00015310  $ 4,017.12                     
Fees
Previously

Paid  
—

 
—

 
—

  
—

     —     —          —                     
Carry
Forward Securities

Carry
Forward
Securities  

—
 

—
 

—
  

—
           —               —    —    —    — 

    Total
Offering Amounts          $ 26,238,549       $ 4,017.12                     
    Total
Fees Previously Paid                       —                     
    Total
Fee Offsets                       —                     
    Net
Fee Due                     $ 4,017.12                     

 
(1) Fee calculated in accordance with Rule 457(c) under the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”).
 
(2) Amount consists of an aggregate of 114,503,816 shares of Class
A common stock of Nxu, Inc. (the “Company”) being registered for resale by certain

selling stockholders named in this
registration statement comprised of (i) 6,800,000 shares of Class A common stock held by the selling stockholders;
(ii) 5,200,000 shares
of Class A common stock issuable upon the exercise of pre-funded warrants; (iii) 57,251,908 shares of Class A common stock
issuable upon the exercise of Series A warrants; and (iv) 45,251,908 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon the exercise of Series
B warrants.

 
(3) Pursuant to Rule 416(a) under the Securities Act, the shares
 of the Company’s Class A common stock being registered hereunder include such

indeterminate number of shares of Class A common
stock as may be issuable as a result of stock splits, stock dividends or similar transactions.
 
(4) Estimated solely for the purpose of calculating the registration
fee in accordance with Rule 457(c) under the Securities Act based on the average of the

high and low prices of a share of the Company’s
Class A common stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market on December 23, 2024, a date within five
business days of the filing date of this registration
statement.

 


